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About the Skyepharma Group

Skyepharma

 
Drug 

Development 
Experts

Long-Term Visibility
from Key Value 

Drivers

Financial
Strength

Building
the

Pipeline

Skyepharma uses its proven expertise and technologies to develop 
innovative oral and inhalation products that address unmet medical 
needs. The products we develop are marketed around the world 
by industry-leading partners, bringing benefits to patients and 
delivering value for our shareholders.

Investment Themes

•	 Scientific	expertise	and	
proprietary	technologies

•	 Track	record	of	complex	inhalation	
and	oral	product	development

•	 76%	of	2015	revenues	generated	
from	products	launched	in	the	last	
4	years	

•	 Long-term	royalty	and	supply	
agreements

•	 Investing	in	near-term	products	
and	technologies	with	significant	
potential

•	 Concept	generation	through	R&D,	
collaborations,	in-licensing,	M&A

•	 16	revenue-generating	products

•	 Strong	cash	generation	from	
royalties	and	product	supply	

Read	more	about		
our business model  
on	page 10

Read	more	about		
our strategy on	page 11

Read	our	Operating	and 
Financial Reviews on		
pages 13 to 21 and 24 to 28

Read	more	about	how 
our pipeline supports our 
strategy on	page	12

Skyepharma PLC
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Financial

2015 £95.9m

2014

2013

£73.8m

£62.6m

£m

2015 £8.5m

2014

2013

£3.8m

£0.5m

£m
Total revenues Net R&D expenditure

2015 25.1p

2014*

2013

(13.7)p

1.8p

£m

2015 £31.5m

2014

2013

£22.7m

£13.6m

£mEarnings per share Pre-exceptional operating profit

2015 £20.8

2014

2013

£27.1

£10.9

£m

2015 £66.1m

2014

2013

£32.4m

£16.5m

Free cash flow Cash and facilities

Operational

•	 Products	 launched	 in	 the	 last	 four	years	 represent	76%	of	 total	
2015	revenues	(2014:	66%)

•	 Continued	 substantial	 growth	 of	 flutiform®	 driving	 royalty	 and	
product	supply	revenues

	—2015	in-market	sales	of	flutiform®	up	100%	to	€144.4	million	
(2014:	€72.2	million)

	—Mundipharma	filed	 the	breath-actuated	version	flutiform®	 for	
review	 in	 Europe,	 and	 completed	 recruitment	 of	 over	 2,600	
patients	across	two	trials	for	COPD

•	 Full	year	sales	by	Pacira	of	EXPAREL®	up	27%	to	U.S.$239.9m	
despite	an	FDA	challenge	over	Pacira’s	sales	practices

•	 Strong	growth	in	royalties	from	the	GSK	Ellipta®	range	of	products	
as	sales	increased	to	£349.7	million	in	2015	compared	with	£83.94	
million	in	2014	with	further	approvals	and	launches

In this year’s report

Total revenues 

2014: £73.8

£95.9m +30%

Free cash flow 

2014: £27.1

£20.8m -23%

Net R&D expenditure 

2014: £3.8

£8.5m +124%

N/A

Earnings per share

2014: (13.7)

25.1p
Pre-exceptional operating profit 

2014: £22.7

£31.5m +39%

Cash and facilities 

2014: £32.4

£66.1m +104%

Highlights

Read	more	online	at:	
www.skyepharma.com

•	 Continued	 substantial	 growth	 of	 flutiform®	 driving	 royalty	
and	product	supply	revenues

•	 EXPAREL®	sales	by	Pacira	up	27%	to	U.S.	$240	million,	FDA	
reaffirmed	and	extended	its	broad	indication	in	December

•	 Strong	 growth	 in	 royalties	 from	 the	 GSK	 Ellipta®	 range	 of	
products

•	 Significant	 progress	 through	 investment	 in	 pipeline	 while	
growing	profitability

*  Certain 2014 figures have been restated for changes to deferred tax. Please see Note 12  
of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

www.skyepharma.com 01
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The Group has a clear strategy 
underpinned by its strong 
financial position and proven 
ability to bring innovative 
products to market.

“ 

”
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholder
Expertise, innovation and growth
Skyepharma	 continues	 to	 achieve	 strong	
growth	 with	 2015	 revenues	 up	 30%	 to	 a	
record	 £95.9	 million.	 With	 more	 than	 half	
of	 our	 portfolio	 of	 16	 marketed	 products	
launched	in	key	markets	in	the	last	four	years,	
there	 is	 a	 clear	 foundation	 for	 sustained	
future	 growth.	 At	 the	 same	 time,	 through	
carefully	 targeted	 investments	 made	 whilst	
still	 expanding	 margins	 and	 earnings,	 our	
pipeline	 of	 inhalation	 and	 oral	 products	 and	
technologies	 broadened	 substantially	 and	 is	
becoming	 a	 clear	 platform	 to	 deliver	 further	
value	for	the	longer	term.	The	Group	is	set	on	
a	 clear	 strategy	 to	 increase	 profitability	 and	
cash	 generation	 which	 provides	 capacity	 to	
apply	our	proven	expertise	and	technologies	
and	deliver	 the	next	wave	of	 innovation	and	
growth.

Expertise
The	growing	success	of	flutiform®	highlights	
Skyepharma’s	expertise	in	the	entire	life	cycle	
of	 complex	 inhalation	 product	 development,	
especially	 formulation	 development,	 clinical	
and	 regulatory	 development	 and	 supply	
chain.	 Total	 in-market	 sales	 in	 2015	 were	
€144.4	million	up	100%	on	the	€72.2	million	
achieved	 in	 2014	 and	 we	 recorded	 our	 first	
€10	million	sales	milestone	from	our	partner,	
Mundipharma.	Now	launched	in	311	countries	
including	 the	 top	 five	 European	 markets	 as	
well	as	Japan.	flutiform®	is	also	approved	in	
a	total	of	38	countries	and	filed	for	approval	in	
a	further	16	markets.	

With	 the	 major	 launches	 in	 Europe	 now	
complete,	 Mundipharma	 continues	 to	 drive	
the	product	into	new	markets	in	Asia	Pacific,	
the	Middle	East	 /	North	Africa	and	now	also	
in	 Latin	 America	 following	 the	 transfer	 from	
Sanofi.	We	continue	to	support	Mundipharma	

with	initiatives	to	drive	further	growth	potential	
for	 flutiform®	 including	 the	 development	 of	
the	new	breath-actuated	flutiform®.

In	Japan,	one	of	the	largest	single	markets	for	
flutiform®,	 our	 partner	 Kyorin	 continues	 to	
increase	sales	and	build	on	the	rapid	growth	
seen	to	date.

Innovation 
Due	 to	 its	 positive	 cash	position,	 the	Group	
is	able	 to	 invest	prudently	 in	 the	next	phase	
of	innovation	and	our	strategy	of	out-licensing	
at	 a	 value-inflection	 point	 with	 the	 partner	
funding	 the	 subsequent	work	 leveraging	our	
investment	further.

In	 SKP-2075	 and	 SKP-2076,	 we	 believe	
we	 have	 the	 opportunity	 to	 keep	 the	Group	
at	 the	 forefront	 of	 the	 global	 COPD	 and	
asthma	market.	SKP-2075	is	a	very	promising	
approach	 using	 known	 chemical	 entities	
and	 is	 being	 initially	 developed	 to	 treat	 a	
recognised	 and	 under-treated	 group	 of	
patients	with	COPD/smoking	asthma.	Clinical	
studies	are	scheduled	 to	begin	during	2016,	
with	 potential	 for	 relatively	 rapid	 clinical	
development	in	Europe	thereafter.	

We	 are	 also	 building	 on	 the	 success	 of	
flutiform®	 with	 the	 development	 of	 SKP-
2076,	 a	 novel	 ICS/LABA/LAMA	 triple-
combination	 treatment	 for	 asthma.	We	were	
delighted	to	further	strengthen	our	partnership	
with	 Mundipharma	 by	 signing	 a	 feasibility	
and	 option	 agreement	 in	 December	 2015	
for	this	development	and	we	look	forward	to	
completion	of	the	initial	feasibility	phase	in	the	
first	half	of	2016.

The	 Group	 has	 a	 proven	 track	 record	 of	
developing	 oral	 drug	 delivery	 technologies	
which	have	generated	significant	benefits	 to	
patients	and	value	to	our	partners	worldwide.	

The	 Group	 has	 announced	 two	 innovative	
technologies	for	gastro	retention,	Soctec™	

and	 Oleotec™,	 intended	 to	 address	 the	
issue	 of	 poor	 absorption	 of	 many	 orally-
administered	 drugs.	 These	 systems	 are	
intended	 to	 hold	 drugs	 in	 the	 upper	 gastro	
intestinal	(“GI”)	tract	for	prolonged	periods	to	
ensure	optimal	delivery.

Growth
In	 2015,	 the	 nine	 products	 launched	 in	 key	
markets	 in	 the	 last	 four	 years	accounted	 for	
over	 three	 quarters	 of	 revenues.	 The	 Board	
believes	 that	 this	 relatively	 young	 portfolio,	
which	 includes	 flutiform®,	 EXPAREL®	 and	
the	GSK	Ellipta®	 products,	 has	 the	potential	
for	many	years	of	future	revenue	growth.	This	
is	 complemented	 by	 the	 further	 potential	
from	 our	 carefully-targeted	 investments	 in	
innovation	 based	 on	 our	 proven	 expertise	
in	 developing	 valuable	 inhalation	 and	 oral	
products	 and	 technologies.	 The	 Group	 has	
once	 again	 made	 excellent	 progress	 in	 the	
year	 and	 I	 would	 like	 to	 thank	 all	 our	 staff	
and	 our	 partners	 for	 their	 hard	 work	 and	
commitment,	 and	 our	 shareholders	 for	 their	
continued	 support.	 The	 Group	 has	 a	 clear	
strategy	 underpinned	 by	 its	 strong	 financial	
position	and	proven	ability	to	bring	innovative	
products	to	market,	and	we	look	to	the	future	
with	confidence.

15	March	2016

Dear Shareholder, Skyepharma continues to 
achieve strong growth with 2015 revenues 
up 30% to a record £95.9 million.

“

Frank Condella	
Non-Executive	Chairman

”

Read	more	about	Performance 
on	pages 13 to	28

Read	more	about	Governance 
on	pages 39 to	71

1 As at 15 March 2016

04 Skyepharma PLC
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At a Glance

our Locations

Corporate Headquarters,  
United Kingdom
Skyepharma’s	 corporate	 headquarters	
in	 London	 has	 15	 staff	 in	 Executive	
Management	and	Group	functions.	

Specialist research and development, 
Switzerland
Skyepharma’s	 research	 and	 development	
teams	 are	 based	 in	Muttenz,	 near	 Basel,	
Switzerland.	 Employing	 approximately	
98	 people,	 including	 many	 highly	 skilled	
scientists	 specialising	 in	 inhalation	 or	
oral	 drug	 development,	 their	 combined	
expertise	 enables	 the	 Group	 to	 develop	
innovative	 and	 complex	 products	 aimed	
at	addressing	the	needs	of	patients	around	
the	world.

Manufacturing in France (currently 
leased to the Aenova Group)
The	 Group’s	 manufacturing	 facility	 and	
operations	 in	 Lyon,	 France,	 is	 currently	
leased	 to	 the	 Aenova	 Group	 (“Aenova”)	
and	 at	 31	 December	 2015	 employed	
90	 staff.	 The	 leasing	 arrangements	 are	
scheduled	 to	 terminate	 on	 30	 June	 2016	
and	 it	 is	 expected	 that	 the	 operation	
will	 transfer	 back	 to	 the	Group	 on	 1	 July		
2016.	The	operation	currently	manufactures	
seven	oral	products	and	offers	a	number	of	
specialised	capabilities.

The	facility	has	current	good	manufacturing	
(“cGMP”)	status,	with	approvals	from	some	
of	 the	world’s	 leading	 regulatory	agencies	
including	the	European	Medicines	Agency,	
the	 U.S.	 Food	 and	 Drug	 Administration,	
Brazil’s	ANVISA	and	South	Korea’s	KFDA.

our Partners our Portfolio

Our Business
Skyepharma	has	a	successful	track	record	as	an	independent	developer	of	complex	pharmaceutical	products	for	global	markets.	The	Group	
combines	 its	proven	 scientific	expertise	 and	validated	proprietary	 technologies	 to	 create	 innovative	 inhalation	and	oral	 therapies.	Products	
developed	by	Skyepharma	are	marketed	by	some	of	the	world’s	most	respected	pharmaceutical	companies.

The	Group	earns	revenues	from	16	approved	inhalation,	oral,	topical	and	injectable	products,	which	generate	milestones,	recurring	royalties,	
and,	in	some	cases,	product	supply	revenues.	The	Group	also	earns	milestones	and	contract	development	revenues	from	its	pipeline	of	new	
product	developments.	

Learn	More	about	our	products	on	
www.skyepharma.com

SHIONOGI & CO., LTD.
Topical

Oral

Other

2015 revenue (£m)

www.skyepharma.com
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Market overview

General overview 
Population	 growth,	 increasing	 longevity	
and	 rising	 wealth,	 particularly	 in	 developing	
economies,	 continue	 to	 expand	 the	 global	
market	for	pharmaceuticals.	In	addition,	there	
are	a	number	of	specific	drivers,	in	particular	
downward	 pressure	 on	 healthcare	 costs,	
regulatory	 challenges,	 legally	 controlled	
pricing,	the	cost	of	developing	and	protecting	
intellectual	 property	 and	 intensifying	
competition	 from	 generic	 products.	 These	
more	 specific	 factors	 have	 varying	 impacts	
on	the	markets	in	which	the	Group	operates.	

For	 example,	 the	 pressure	 from	 generics	 is	
relatively	 lower	 in	 the	 inhalation	market	 than	
in	 the	 oral	market	 due	 to	 the	 higher	 cost	 of	
production	 and	 thus	 lower	 price	 erosion,	
higher	 barriers	 to	 entry	 and	 the	 complexity	
of	 measuring	 therapeutic	 equivalence	 and	
efficacy	of	orally	inhaled	drugs.	

Inhalation market 
The	main	market	 for	 inhaled	 therapies	 is	 to	
treat	 respiratory	diseases,	especially	asthma	
and	 chronic	 obstructive	 pulmonary	 disease	
(“COPD”).	 According	 to	 Datamonitor,	 the	
global	 asthma	 and	 COPD	 market	 is	 worth	
U.S.$29	billion1	per	annum,	and	is	forecasted	
to	 grow	 at	 a	 compound	 annual	 rate	 of	 3.0	
percent	 in	 the	 period	 to	 2022.	According	 to	
IMS	 Health,	 the	 global	 market	 for	 the	 four	
quarters	 which	 ended	 on	 31	 December	
2015	 for	 combination	 Inhaled	Corticosteroid	
(“ICS”)/Long-acting	 Beta	 Agonist	 (“LABA”)	
products	that	are	used	in	asthma	and	COPD	
was	U.S.$15.1	 billion	 and	grew	6.7	 percent.	
(at	 constant	 exchange	 rates)	 compared	
with	 the	 four	 quarters	 which	 ended	 on	 31	
December	 20142.	 The	 respiratory	 market	 is	
dominated	 by	 a	 few	 global	 companies,	 as	
inhalation	 products	 are	 complex	 dosage	
forms	 that	 are	challenging	 to	develop	within	
an	 onerous	 global	 regulatory	 environment.	

Volume	 growth	 is	 expected	 to	 continue	 as	
demand	 in	 the	 developing	 world	 expands.	

The	respiratory	market	is	increasingly	moving	
towards	 fixed-dose	 combinations,	 such	 as	
flutiform®,	with	an	emphasis	on	effective	and	
targeted	therapies.	

The	 impact	 of	 generics	 in	 the	 respiratory	
market	is	difficult	to	predict,	due	to	substantial	
barriers	to	entry	—	patent	protection,	market	
exclusivity	 and	 the	 cost	 and	 complexity	 of	
ensuring	therapeutic	equivalence	by	matching	
device,	 formulation	 and	 performance.	 Even	
when	 approved,	 entry	 of	 a	 generic	 product	
may	not	lead	to	substantial	price	reductions	as	
an	 inhaled	product	may	not	be	substitutable	
at	pharmacy	level	due	to	differences	in	device	
handling,	 and	 the	 cost	 of	 the	 device	 (which	
is	volume-dependent)	constrains	discounting.	

Skyepharma	 is	 one	 of	 only	 a	 few	 fully	
independent	product	development	companies	
able	 to	 meet	 the	 challenges	 of	 this	 market,	
although	 most	 larger	 companies	 which	
market	 inhaled	 products	 have	 substantial	
in-house	 resources.	 The	 Group	 has	 proven	
technologies	and	expertise	which	have	been	
deployed	 in	 both	 dry-powder	 inhalers	 and	
pressurised	 metered-dose	 inhalers,	 which	
have	achieved	approvals	in	over	75	and	over	
60	countries	respectively.	

Oral market 
While	 the	 inhalation	 market	 in	 which	
Skyepharma	operates	is	largely	for	respiratory	
applications,	the	oral	drug	delivery	route	covers	
almost	all	therapeutic	categories.	For	example,	
Skyepharma’s	 oral	 drug	 delivery	 technology	
Geomatrix™	 is	 used	 in	 combination	 with	
active	 ingredients	 in	 cardiovascular,	 urology,	
central	 nervous	 system	 and	 inflammation	
therapies,	including	for	respiratory	diseases.	It	
is,	therefore,	more	meaningful	to	consider	the	
market	by	technology	rather	than	by	therapy.	
General	market	factors	which	affect	this	part	
of	 the	business	 include	generic	competition,	
intellectual	 property	 management	 and	 the	
development	 of	more	 effective	 and	 targeted	
products.	

There	are	significant	differences	regionally	 in	
pricing	of	oral	products.	Europe	is	the	highest	
volume	 market,	 but	 has	 lower	 pricing	 and	
relatively	 low	 volume	growth	 compared	with	
the	 United	 States.	 The	 United	 States	 has	
higher	 pricing	 but	 negative	 volume	 growth,	
and	Asia	has	relatively	high	volumes	and	good	
volume	growth	but	low	relative	pricing.	

Value	of	global	asthma	and		
COPD	market

$29bn1

Read	more	about	our operations 
on	pages 13 to	21

Read	more	about	research and 
development on	pages 17 and	18

1  Company analysis based on: i) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Forecast, Datamonitor, DMKC0047510, 
Publication Date: 03/10/2014 ii) Asthma. Forecast, DMKC0146533, Publication Date: 12/11/2015 iii) Extrapolation of 
main market sales to global sales numbers with a factor of 25 percent.

2 Internal calculations using IMS Health data, Q4 2015.

Launches

Approvals

Filed 
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Launches

Approvals

Filed 

flutiform® flutiform
® 
in-market sales (€m)1
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EU / Rest of the World 
(excl. Americas & Japan)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

flutiform®	 is	 the	 Group’s	 novel	 inhalation	 drug	
for	 asthma,	 which	 was	 developed	 in-house	
using	 Skyepharma’s	 respiratory	 expertise	 and	
technologies.	 Skyepharma	 partnered	 flutiform®	
with	 Mundipharma	 (Europe	 and	 other	 leading	
markets)	and	Kyorin	 (Japan)	 in	recognition	of	 their	
ability	to	commercialise	flutiform®.

€€€

1 Internal calculations based on IMS Health Data Q4 2015

www.skyepharma.com
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Madopar® 
DR®/ 

Prolopa®

An	oral	treatment	for	
Parkinson’s	disease,	
using	Skyepharma’s	
Geomatrix™	technology.	Madopar®	
(levodopa/benserazide)	also	treats	
idiopathic	and	symptomatic	restless	
leg	syndrome.

Paxil CR TM

An	advanced		
formulation	of		
theanti-depressant	
Paxil®	(paroxetine),	using	
Skyepharma’s	Geomatrix™	technology	
to	reduce	gastrointestinal	side	effects.

Anoro® Ellipta®

A	multi-dose	dry	powder	
inhaler	containing	
an	anticholinergic,	
umeclidinium,	and	a	
long-acting	bronchodilator,	vilanterol,	
formulated	by	GSK	using	proprietary	
Skyepharma	technology.

Requip®  

Once-a-day
A	once-daily	formulation	
using	Skyepharma’s	
Geomatrix™	technology	to	provide	a	
smoother	delivery	of	ropinirole	over	24	
hours.

Relvar® Ellipta® /
Breo® Ellipta®

A	multi-dose	dry	powder	
inhaler	containing	a	
steroid,	fluticasone	furoate,	and	a	
long-acting	bronchodilator,	vilanterol,	
formulated	by	GSK	using	proprietary	
Skyepharma	technology.	

Incruse® Ellipta®

A	multi-dose	dry	powder	
inhaler	containing	
the	anticholinergic,	
umeclidinium,	
formulated	by	GSK	using	proprietary	
Skyepharma	technology.

Market overview continued

Sular®

Coruno®

A	lower-dose	formulation	
of	Sular®	(nisoldipine),	a	
calcium	channel	blocker	
antihypertensive	agent,	
utilising	Skyepharma’s	Geomatrix™	
technology.

Once-a-day	
molsidomine	formulation	
indicated	for	the	oral	
treatment	of	chronic	
angina	pectoris.	It	uses	Skyepharma’s	
Geomatrix™	technology.

RAYOS®/
LODOTRA®

A	novel	night-time	
release	formulation	
of	low	dose	prednisone,	utilising	
Skyepharma’s	Geoclock™	technology	
for	the	treatment	of	morning	stiffness	
associated	with	rheumatoid	arthritis.

A	dual	release	diclofenac	
sodium	formulation	
developed	for	the	
treatment	of	pain	and	inflammation	
using	Skyepharma’s	Geomatrix™	
technology.

Diclofenac- 
ratiopharm Uno®

Xatral®/Uroxatral®

A	once-daily	version	
of	Sanofi’s	Xatral®	
(alfuzosin	hydrochloride),	a	selective	
alpha	blocker	utilising	Skyepharma’s	
Geomatrix™	technology.

ZYFLO CR®

An	extended-release	
formulation	of	the	oral	
asthma	drug	zileuton	
using	Skyepharma’s	
Geomatrix™	technology.

Triglide®

An	oral	treatment	
for	elevated	blood	
lipid	disorders	using	
Skyepharma’s	IDD®	
technology	to	aid	absorption.

Inhalation Products

Oral Products

08 Skyepharma PLC
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Solaraze®

A	topical	gel	treatment	
for	actinic	keratosis,	
using	diclofenac	
and	Skyepharma’s	
proprietary	technology	which	is	
designed	to	hold	the	active	ingredient	
in	the	epidermis.

A	long-acting	
bupivacaine	injectable	
product	for	post-surgical	
pain	management	
utilising	Pacira	Pharmaceuticals’	
DepoFoam®	technology.	Following	
the	sale	of	its	Injectable	business	in	
2007	to	Pacira,	Skyepharma	retains	a	
financial	interest	in	EXPAREL

®
.

EXPAREL®
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flutiform® 

(Germany)
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(Italy)
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(30-day, Japan)
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(South Korea)

flutiform® 

(France)flutiform® 

(various markets)

flutiform® 

(Spain)

Requip® 
Once-a-day (Japan)

EXPAREL® 
(US)

PAXIL CR® 
(Japan)

RAYOS® 
(US)

Lodotra® 
(RoW)

Prolopa®

(Brazil)

Breo® Ellipta®

 
Incruse® Ellipta®

(U.S.) 

Incruse® Ellipta®

(UK) 

Anoro® Ellipta®

(Europe - �rst launches) 

Anoro® Ellipta®

(U.S., Japan) 

Relvar® Ellipta®

(UK, Germany) 

Relva® Ellipta®

(Japan) Breo® Ellipta®

(U.S.) COPD

Solaraze®

Solaraze® 
(U.S.)

Paxil CR®

(Ex-Japan)

Requip® Once-a-Day
(Ex-Japan)

Xatral®

Coruno®

(U.S.) Asthma

(Europe)

Sa
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s

Introduction Growth Maturity Decline

Rejuvenated product portfolio
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Our Business Model
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How we generate value
Skyepharma	 has	 a	 successful	 track	 record	
as	 an	 independent	 developer	 of	 complex	
pharmaceutical	products.	The	Group	combines	
proven	 scientific	 expertise	 with	 validated	
proprietary	 drug	 delivery	 technologies	
to	 develop	 innovative	 oral	 and	 inhalation	
therapies.	Products	developed	by	Skyepharma	
are	 marketed	 by	 some	 of	 the	 world’s	 most	
respected	pharmaceutical	companies.

The	Group	earns	 revenues	 from	16	approved	
inhalation,	oral,	topical	and	injectable	products,	
which	generate	milestones,	 recurring	 royalties	
and,	in	some	cases,	product	supply	revenues.	

The	Group	also	earns	milestones	and	contract	
development	revenues	from	its	pipeline	of	new	
product	developments.	

Resources
Development	 of	 successful	 pharmaceutical	
products	 is	 achieved	 by	 our	 highly	 skilled	
scientists	 applying	 specialist	 inhalation	 and	
oral	 expertise	 and	 technologies	 to	 address	
market	 opportunities	 and	 unmet	 medical	
needs.	In	addition,	Skyepharma’s	medical	and	
regulatory	 staff	 have	 extensive	 knowledge	 of	
stringent	 clinical	 development	 and	 regulatory	
requirements	 around	 the	 world	 which	 is	
critical	 to	 ensuring	 product	 developments	
are	 successful.	We	 use	 our	 growing	 financial	
strength	 to	 invest	 in	 innovation,	 research	 and	
development	 and	 share	 risk	 and	 increase	 the	
potential	of	our	products	by	collaborating	with	
some	of	the	world’s	best	known	pharmaceutical	
companies.	

Ideas
We	 operate	 a	 comprehensive	 process	 to	
identify,	screen	and	prioritise	potential	concepts	
for	new	product	and	technology	development.	

This	involves	our	own	scientific	and	commercial	
teams,	 in	 collaboration	 with	 outside	 experts	
and,	 where	 appropriate,	 potential	 partners.	

We	supplement	our	in-house	innovation	where	
appropriate	 by	 in-licensing	 and	 targeted	
acquisitions.

Operations
Skyepharma’s	core	activities	are	the	generation	
and	development	of	product	and	drug	delivery	
technology	concepts,	involving	the	application	
of	our	proven	inhalation	and	oral	technologies	
and	 expertise	 through	 to	 a	 suitable	 value-
inflection	 point	 where	 the	 product	 or	
technology	 is	 licensed	 to	a	partner.	Following	
this,	we	generally	 remain	 involved	 in	 the	 late-
stage	development	of	the	product	and,	in	some	
cases,	in	post-approval	support.	The	Group	is	
also	 involved	 in	 some	 cases	 in	 the	 supply	 of	
the	product	to	our	marketing	partners,	as	is	the	
case	for	flutiform®	and	the	seven	oral	products	
manufactured	in	the	Lyon	Facility.

Output and reinvestment
The	 products	 developed	 by	 Skyepharma	 are	
generally	 based	 on	 innovative	 approaches	
and	technologies	to	deliver	known	drugs	more	
effectively	 and	 provide	 improved	 treatment	
options	 for	 patients	 and	 prescribers.	 In	 this	
way,	 we	 are	 able	 to	 generate	 value	 for	 our	
shareholders	 through	 revenues	 from	 new	
products	and	technologies	giving	the	potential	
for	increased	returns	over	the	longer	term.	We	
aim	 to	 invest	 10	 to	 15	 percent	 of	 revenues	
in	 research	 and	 development,	 but	 leverage	
this	 through	partner-funding	 to	create	a	more	
substantive	pipeline	 than	 if	we	developed	 the	
products	entirely	ourselves.	

10 Skyepharma PLC
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our Strategy
Skyepharma’s	strategy	is	to	meet	the	needs	of	
patients	through	the	application	of	its	scientific	
know-how	and	innovative	inhalation	and	oral	
drug	delivery	technologies.	The	Group	aims	to	
grow	revenues	from	its	extensive	portfolio	of	
approved	products	and	ensure	the	success	of	
its	pipeline	of	product	candidates.	The	Board	
is	 looking	 to	 leverage	 its	growing	underlying	
profitability	 by	 measured	 investment	 in	
developing	 new	 products	 and	 technologies	
through	 a	 mix	 of	 self-funded	 development	
projects,	 collaborations	 with	 partners	 and	
carefully	 targeted	 in-licensing	 transactions	
and	acquisitions.	In	inhalation,	these	could	be	
aimed	at	the	global	market	for	the	treatment	
of	 asthma	 and/or	 COPD	 which	 is	 currently	
worth	U.S.	$29	billion1	per	annum.

Typically,	self-funded	inhalation	projects	such	
as	SKP-2075	would	 cost	 £10	million	 to	 £20	
million	 over	 several	 years	 with	 the	 aim	 of	
making	the	product	suitable	for	out-licensing.	

Such	 developments	 are	 likely	 to	 be	 novel	
products	 from	 early-formulation	 through	
to	 Phase	 II	 proof-of-concept.	 The	 Group’s	
preferred	strategy	 is	 for	early	 involvement	of	
the	eventual	license	partner,	to	mitigate	risk	of	
any	investment	through	to	proof-of-concept.	

Self-funded	 oral	 development	 projects	 are	
mainly	focused	on	developing	novel	oral	drug	
delivery	technologies,	such	as	Soctec™	and	
Oleotec™,	 to	 proof-of-concept	 with	 a	 view	
to	 out-licensing	 the	 technologies	 for	 use	 in	
partner-funded	 developments.	 Such	 oral	
developments	would	typically	cost	£1	million	
to	£2	million	over	several	years	and	additional	
amounts	to	develop	manufacturing	processes	
to	 commercial	 scale.	 The	 Group	 may	 also	
consider	 developing	 oral	 products	 to	 value-
inflection	points,	especially	to	exemplify	new	
technologies,	 at	 a	 cost	 of	 approximately	
£3	 million	 to	 £5	 million	 over	 several	 years.	

Such	 projects	 typically	 involve	 early	
partnering	before	proof-of-concept	to	bring	in	
relevant	therapy	and	late-stage	development	
expertise	 even	 if	 much	 of	 the	 development	
cost	to	that	stage	is	funded	by	Skyepharma.	
Oral	products	represent	nearly	half	by	value2	
of	all	prescriptions.	

The	 Board’s	 strategy	 is	 to	 create	 a	
development	pipeline	with	a	balance	of	self-	
and	partner-funded	work	where	 the	 average	
annual	net	R&D	investment	could	be	up	to	10	
to	15	percent	of	sales.

Whilst	there	is	significant	growth	potential	from	
the	extensive	portfolio	of	approved	products,	
Skyepharma	 also	 aims	 to	 strengthen	 its	
product	 pipeline	 through	 carefully	 targeted	
acquisitions.	 Ideally,	 these	 would	 typically	
be	 near-term	 earnings	 accretive,	 though	
smaller	 acquisitions	 will	 also	 be	 considered	
where	 they	 strengthen	 the	 Group’s	 pipeline,	
technology	 or	 capabilities	 and	 provide	 a	
good	 fit	 with	 the	 existing	 business,	 whilst	
also	 maintaining	 research	 and	 development	
expenditure	within	the	overall	 target	of	10	to	
15	percent	of	sales.

1		Company analysis based on: i) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Forecast, Datamonitor, DMKC0047510, 
Publication Date: 03/10/2014; ii) Asthma. Forecast, DMKC0146533, Publication Date: 12/11/2015; and iii) Extrapolation 
of main market sales to global sales numbers with a factor of 25 percent.

2  Company analysis based on Benchmarking the Pharmaceutical Market by Drug Delivery to 2014: R&D / Drug Delivery, 
Datamonitor, DMKC0062616, Publication Date 18/05/12.

2016 Objectives
The key objectives for 2016 are to:

•	 Grow overall revenue from approved products and pipeline product candidates;

•	 Continue to grow operating profit and generate cash from operations;

•	 Progress and commence the development of additional products and technologies, including seeking new 
opportunities;

•	 Complete current expansion of flutiform® manufacturing capacity and further increase capacity and reduce risks; and

•	 Progress the development of new oral drug delivery technology platforms and seek development and out-licensing 
opportunities.
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Inhalation 
Product Platform

Country Primary Indication Licensee/Partner Feasibility Phase I Phase II Phase III Filed

SKP-2075 Global COPD/Smoking Asthma/(ACOS) Available ● ▲

SKP-2076 Global Asthma Under option to Mundipharma ●

flutiform® Rest of World Asthma Mundipharma* ● ● ● ●

flutiform® Latin America Asthma Mundipharma* ● ● ● ●

flutiform® Europe and China COPD Mundipharma ● ● ● ●

flutiform® U.S. Asthma Available ● ● ● ● ✝

flutiform® Canada Asthma Available ● ● ●

SKP-1052 Worldwide Nocturnal hypoglycaemia Available ● ●

SKP-1056 Worldwide Not disclosed (generic) Hikma ●

Soctec™ Worldwide Gastro-retentive Available ●

oleotec™ Worldwide Gastro-retentive  – high payload Available ●

* Mundipharma has filed marketing authorisation applications in some Rest of World markets
✝ Complete response letter received January 2010 and additional studies are required
 Partial
▲	 Planned 2016/7

Development pipeline - supporting our strategy

Investing for growth
Our	 goal	 is	 to	 create	 a	 balanced	 product	
portfolio	and	development	pipeline	to	generate	
milestones,	 royalties	 and	 supply	 revenues	
while	spreading	risk	through	a	combination	of	
self-funded	and	partner-funded	projects.

Self-funded	inhalation	projects,	such	as	SKP-
2075	 and	SKP-2076,	would	 typically	 require	
an	 investment	 of	 between	 £10	 million	 and	
£20	 million	 over	 several	 years	 to	 generate	
substantive	Phase	II	data	prior	to	out-licensing	
to	a	leading	industry	partner.			

Self-funded	 oral	 development	 projects	 are	
focused	mainly	 on	 the	 development	 of	 new	
oral	 drug	 delivery	 technologies	 such	 as	
Soctec™	 and	 Oleotec™	 which	 would	 then	
be	 out-licensed	 for	 further	 development	 by	
partners	 for	 application	 to	 their	 products.	
Such	 development	 projects	 would	 typically	
cost	 between	£1	million	 and	£3	million	 over	
several	years.

Through	careful	investment	in	our	core	areas	
of	expertise	and	our	well	established	position	
as	a	 trusted	 industry	partner,	we	believe	we	
can	sustain	and	grow	our	 revenues	over	 the	
medium	and	long-term.

Confidence in 
Future Growth

Drug 
Development 

Experts

Long-Term Visibility

Building the
Pipeline

Financial Strength 

our Strategy continued
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operating review

Summary
In	 2015,	 Skyepharma	 delivered	 further	
substantial	 growth	 in	 revenues,	 profitability	
and	cash	generation	whilst	 also	 significantly	
broadening	 its	 promising	 development	
pipeline.	 Key	 operational	 highlights	 for	 the	
year	include:

•	 Robust	 financial	 and	 operating	 cash	
performance	 for	 the	 year	 with	 operating	
profit	of	£31.5	million	and	a	closing	cash	
balance	of	£41.1	million;

•	 Growing	 demand	 for	 flutiform®	 with	
the	 first	 full	 calendar	 year	 of	 sales	 in	 all	
the	 major	 European	 markets	 leading	 to	
recording	 of	 the	 first	 sales	 milestone	 of	
€10.0	million	 (£7.4	million)	 and	with	 both	
56	and	120-puff	treatment	versions	of	the	
product	 in	 Japan.	 With	 higher	 volumes	
there	 was	 increased	 gross	 profit	 from	
the	 supply	 chain	 and	 the	 previously-
announced	capital	investments	to	provide	
a	 step-up	 in	 capacity	 to	 meet	 forecast	
requirements	are	on	track;

•	 Launches	 of	 flutiform®	 in	 Malaysia,	 the	
Philippines,	Kuwait	and	the	UAE,	bringing	
the	 total	 number	 of	 markets	 where	 the	
product	was	available	at	the	end	of	the	year	
to	30.	As	at	31	December	2015,	flutiform®	
had	been	approved	in	a	further	8	countries	
and	was	under	review	in	another	16;

•	 Continued	 progress	 to	 expand	 the	
flutiform®	franchise,	with	the	Mundipharma	
network	 of	 independent	 associated	
companies	 (“Mundipharma”)	 making	
good	 progress	 with	 the	 development	 of	
the	breath-actuated	version	of	flutiform®,	
completing	 recruitment	of	clinical	 trials	 in	
Europe	 and	 Asia	 Pacific	 for	 COPD	 and	
preparing	 for	 a	 clinical	 trial	 in	 China	 for	
asthma	 which	 is	 planned	 to	 start	 once	
approval	 is	 obtained	 from	 the	 Chinese	
Food	and	Drug	Administration	(“CFDA”);

•	 Post	 year-end,	 Mundipharma	 took	 over	
from	 the	 Sanofi	 Group	 (“Sanofi”)	 as	 the	
Group’s	 exclusive	 partner	 for	 flutiform®	
in	 Latin	 America	 which	 will	 bring	
Mundipharma’s	 considerable	 experience	
with	the	product	elsewhere	to	this	region;

•	 Further	 growth	 of	 EXPAREL®	 and	
Pacira	 Pharmaceuticals,	 Inc.	 (“Pacira”)	
announcing	 a	 favourable	 resolution	 with	
the	 FDA	 reaffirming	 EXPAREL®’s	 broad	
indication	 and	 confirming	 additional	
approved	use;

•	 Substantial	 growth	 of	 GSK’s	 Ellipta®	
range	of	inhalation	products	incorporating	
Skyepharma	 technology,	 with	 GSK	
reporting	 total	 sales	 of	 £349.5	 million	
compared	 with	 £83.9	 million	 in	 2014,	
following	 additional	 launches	 in	 Europe,	
Japan	and	the	U.S.;

•	 Increased	contribution	 from	U.S.	 sales	of	
Solaraze®	 and	 its	 authorised	 generic	 due	
to	manufacturing	issues	at	a	competitor;

•	 Significant	progress	with	the	development	
of	 the	 self-funded	 pipeline	 projects	
including:

	— Progress	 with	 the	 development	 of	
SKP-2075	 for	 COPD/smoking	 asthma	
which	 is	 expected	 to	 commence	
clinical	 trials	during	2016.	This	project	
has	 the	 potential	 for	 relatively	 quick	
development	 for	 Europe	 and	 to	 be	
one	 of	 the	 first	 treatments	 for	 this	
substantial	patient	group;	

	— Initial	 development	 of	 SKP-2076,	
the	 novel	 triple	 ICS/LABA/LAMA	
combination	 product	 for	 asthma	
incorporating	 known	 chemical	 entities	
and	 the	 signing	 of	 an	 exclusive	
feasibility	 and	 option	 agreement	 with	
Mundipharma;

In-market	sales	of	flutiform® 
 in	2015

€144.4m

Read	more	about	flutiform® 
on	pages 15 to 16

The	total	number	of	markets	where	
flutiform®	is	available*

31

In 2015, Skyepharma delivered further 
substantial growth in revenues, profitability 
and cash generation whilst also significantly 
broadening its promising development 
pipeline.

“

Peter Grant 	
Chief	Executive	Officer

”

*as at 15 March 2016
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	— Further	 work	 to	 optimise	 the	 new	
gastro-retentive	 oral	 drug	 delivery	
system	 (“GRDDS”)	 Soctec™	 and	
planning	 underway	 for	 its	 potential	
scale-up,	 and	 also	 development	 of	 a	
second	 gastro-retentive	 technology,	
Oleotec™,	 targeting	 higher	 payloads	
due	 to	 commence	 a	 clinical	 proof-of-
concept	study	during	2016;	and

	— Discussions	with	 potential	 partners	 to	
fund	further	development	of	SKP-1052,	
the	 novel	 oral	 product	 aimed	 at	 the	
reduction	of	the	risk	of	severe	nocturnal	
hypoglycaemia	 in	 insulin-dependent	
diabetics.

•	 Substantive	 progress	 with	 development	
of	a	complex	oral	generic	product	under	a	
collaboration	with	Hikma	Pharmaceuticals	
PLC	(“Hikma”);	and

•	 Early	 repayment	 of	 remaining	 expensive	
secured	 debt	 and	 setting	 up	 of	 a	 5-year	
£25	 million	 Revolving	 Credit	 Facility	
(“RCF”),	 further	 improving	 balance	 sheet	
flexibility	and	reducing	finance	costs.

Financial highlights 
The	Group	achieved	revenues	of	£95.9	million	
for	 2015,	 up	 30	 percent	 from	 £73.8	 million	
in	 2014.	 The	 increase	 over	 2014	 is	 due	 to	

strong	growth	in	flutiform®	royalty	and	supply	
revenues,	the	Group’s	share	of	higher	net	sales	
of	 EXPAREL®,	 royalties	 from	 increased	 sales	
of	 the	GSK	Ellipta®	products	and	higher	 than	
expected	royalties	from	Solaraze®	in	the	U.S.	

Throughout	2015,	the	Group	earned	revenues	
from	 16	 approved	 products	 which	 together	
generated	£75.5	million	of	royalty	and	product	
supply	revenues	(2014:	£51.4	million)	of	which	
£60.6	million	(2014:	£36.4	million)	related	to	the	
nine	products	which	have	achieved	key	market	
launches	in	the	last	four	years.	

In	 addition,	 flutiform®	 generated	 milestones	
of	£7.4	million	(2014:	£4.1	million)	and	contract	
development	 revenue	 of	 £3.9	 million	 (2014:	
£3.5	million).	

Revenues	 from	 products	 launched	 in	 key	
markets	in	the	last	four	years	represented	76%	
of	total	revenues	in	2015	(2014:	66%).

Cost	 of	 sales	 increased	 to	 £43.1	 million	
(2014:  £32.9	 million)	 reflecting	 growth	 in	
supplies	of	flutiform®	and	other	products.

Net	 operating	 costs	 excluding	 exceptional	
items	 increased	 to	 £21.3	 million	 in	 2015	
(2014:	 £18.2	 million),	 primarily	 due	 to	 higher	
investment	 in	 research	 and	 development	
projects	 (an	 increase	 of	 £2.8	 million).	 	 Pre-
exceptional	operating	profit	was	up	39	percent	

to	£31.5	million	(2014:	£22.7	million).	Operating	
profit	for	2014	included	an	exceptional	charge	
of	 £1.1	 million	 representing	 the	 Group’s	
agreed	 contribution	 to	 the	 costs	 of	 Aenova’s	
site	 restructuring	 plan	 in	 respect	 of	 the	 Lyon	
Facility.

The	 profit	 after	 tax	 was	 £26.3	 million	 (2014:	
£11.7*	million	 loss).	Basic	earnings	per	share	
were	a	profit	of	25.1	pence	(2014:	13.7*	pence	
loss	per	share).	Pre-exceptional	basic	earnings	
per	share	were	25.1	pence	(2014:	17.5*	pence)	
whilst	 pre-exceptional	 diluted	 earnings	 per	
share	were	24.6	pence	(2014:	17.1*	pence).

Cash	flows	benefited	from	a	total	of	£0.1	million	
of	 milestone	 receipts	 (2014:	 £9.2	 million).	
Pre-exceptional	 EBITDA	 (earnings	 before	
interest,	 tax,	 depreciation	 and	 amortisation)	
totalled	£34.3	million	(2014:	£26.1	million)	and	
represented	36	percent	of	revenues	(2014:	35	
percent).	

As	 at	 31	 December	 2015,	 the	 Group’s	 cash	
was	 £41.1	 million	 (up	 £8.7	 million	 since	 31	
December	 2014).	 Gross	 debt	 amounted	 to	
£6.4	 million	 and	 the	 Group	 had	 net	 cash	 of	
£34.7	 million	 (31	 December	 2014:	 net	 cash	
£15.0	 million).	 Debt	 was	 reduced	 by	 the	
early	 redemption	of	 the	remaining	U.S.	Dollar	
balance	 of	 the	 CRC	 Finance	 facility	 on	 27	
February	2015	at	a	cost	of	£10.5	million,	saving	
£1.0	million	in	future	finance	charges.

operating review continued

Pictured: Inhaler Aerodynamic Particle Size Distribution (APSD) testing using Andersen Cascade Impactor (ACI)

* Certain 2014 figures have been restarted for changes to deferred tax. Please see Note 12 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Operational highlights 
flutiform®

flutiform®,	 the	 fixed-dose	 combination	 of	
fluticasone,	an	inhaled	corticosteroid	(“ICS”),	
and	 formoterol,	 a	 long-acting	 beta	 agonist	
(“LABA”)	 in	 a	 pressurised	 metered-dose	
inhaler,	 continues	 to	 be	 an	 important	 value	
driver	 for	 the	 Group.	 As	 of	 15	March	 2016,	
flutiform®	has	been	approved	in	38	countries	
and	launched	in	31,	including	recent	launches	
in	Portugal,	Malaysia,	the	Philippines,	Kuwait	
and	the	UAE.

In-market	 sales1	 of	 flutiform®	 for	 the	 year	
ended	 31	 December	 2015	 totalled	 €144.4	
million	 (£104.82	 million)	 (2014:	 €72.2	 million	
(£56.53	million))	 up	100	percent.	 In	Q4	2015,	
total	in-market	sales	of	flutiform®	were	€44.2	
million	 (£31.9	 million4),	 up	 26	 percent	 from	
€35.1	million	(£25.2	million5)	in	Q3	2015.

Mundipharma,	the	Group’s	licensee	in	Europe	
and	most	other	territories	outside	Japan	and	
North	 America,	 continued	 to	make	 progress	
with	 flutiform®,	 with	 strong	 growth	 in	 2015	
and	 new	 launches	 in	 Malaysia,	 Philippines,	
UAE,	Kuwait	and,	post	year-end,	in	Portugal.

Mr Antony Mattessich, Managing Director, 
Mundipharma International, said,

“Sales of flutiform have continued to grow 
strongly as the benefits of this unique 
combination in the treatment of asthma 
are appreciated in an increasing number 
of markets around the world. With good 
progress with the development of the breath-
actuated version of flutiform and continuing 
international clinical trials in COPD, we are 
demonstrating our sustained commitment to 
improve outcomes for patients with serious 
respiratory diseases.” 

In	 Japan,	 where	 the	 120-puff	 version	 was	
launched	on	1	December	2014	following	the	
launch	 of	 the	 56-puff	 version	 in	 November	
2013,	 in-market	 sales	 for	 the	 year-ended	31	
December	2015	 (included	 in	 the	above	 total	
sales)	were	€43.3	million	(£31.5	million2)	(2014:	
€15.2	million	(£11.9	million3))	up	185	percent.	
In	Q4	2015,	total	in-market	sales	of	flutiform®	
in	Japan	were	€14.8	million	(£10.7	million4),	up	
42	percent	from	€10.4	million	(£7.5	million5)	in	
Q3	2015.

Minoru Hogawa, President & CEO, Kyorin 
Holdings Inc., commented, 

“2015 has seen the first full-year contribution 
of the 120-puff version of flutiform in the 
Japanese market. Kyorin believes the 
patient-friendly and discreet design of the 
flutiform inhaler, together with the unique 
combination of fluticasone and formoterol, 
will continue to drive flutiform’s success 
in the growing market for ICS/LABA 
combination products in Japan.” 

1  In-market sales are internal calculations using IMS Health data based on sales to pharmacies, excluding certain minor countries not covered by IMS. In-market sales are not the same 
as sales to wholesalers on which royalties are payable to the Group.

2 Using the average exchange rate for 2015.
3 Using the average exchange rate for 2014.
4 Using the average exchange rate for Q4 2015.
5 Using the average exchange rate for Q3 2015.

Case Study
flutiform® international roll out - Japan
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As	one	of	the	world’s	top	3	pharmaceutical	markets,	success	in	Japan	is	an	important	part	of	the	overall	
growth	and	development	of	flutiform®.

Our	partner	in	this	key	market	is	Kyorin.		Founded	in	1923,	Kyorin	is	a	well-respected	and	established	
Japanese	manufacturer	and	distributor	of	branded	pharmaceutical	products,	with	approximately	1800	
employees.	 The	Company	 sells	 the	 leading	oral	 treatment	 for	 asthma	 in	 Japan	and	flutiform®	 is	 an	
excellent	fit	for	its	growing	portfolio	of	products.

flutiform®	was	first	launched	by	Kyorin	in	Japan	in	November	2013	in	a	special	56-puff	(14	day)	version	as	
required	under	Japanese	regulations	for	new	pharmaceutical	products.		This	was	followed	a	year	later	by	
the	full	120-puff	(30	day)	version,	enabling	it	to	compete	fully	in	the	growing	market	for	inhaled	ICS/LABA	
combination	therapies.	These	launches	have	been	a	great	success	and	Kyorin	has	demonstrated	they	are	
a	very	effective	and	valued	partner	for	Skyepharma	and	for	flutiform®.

Kyorin	 believes	 the	 patient-friendly	 and	 discreet	 design	 of	 the	 flutiform®	 inhaler	 together	 with	 the	
unique	combination	of	fluticasone	and	formoterol	will	continue	to	drive	the	growth	and	continued	use	of	
flutiform®	in	the	Japanese	market	for	years	to	come.

Pictured: flutiform® in-market sales (€m)1

www.skyepharma.com

Strateg
ic repo

rt

15

Skyepharma Annual Report 2015 - Front PFP.indd   15 07/04/2016   08:30:58



24466.04 – 31 March 2016 4:39 PM – Proof 10

In-market	sales	trends	for	flutiform®	have	been	as	follows:	

€’m 2012 2013 2014 2015 Q1	’15 Q2	’15 Q3	’15 Q4	’15

E.U./ROW (excluding America and Japan) 0.8 17.9 57.0 101.1 22.5 24.5 24.7 29.4
Japan – 1.5 15.2 43.3 8.1 10.0 10.4 14.8
Total 0.8 19.4 72.2 144.4 30.6 34.5 35.1 44.2
Year-on-year and quarter-on-quarter total growth 272% 100% 18% 13% 2% 26%

Mundipharma	is	seeking	to	extend	the	reach	of	flutiform®	both	geographically	and	through	line	extensions.	As	at	31	December	2015,	applications	
for	marketing	authorisations	were	under	review	in	16	countries	in	the	Middle	East,	Far	East	and	Africa.

In	May,	Mundipharma	completed	 recruitment	of	over	1,700	patients	 for	 its	European	clinical	 study	of	flutiform®	 for	COPD.	This	 study	 is	a	
52-week	multi-centre,	 randomised,	 double-blind,	 active-controlled,	 parallel-group	 study.	 In	Asia-Pacific,	 including	China,	Mundipharma	has	
completed	recruitment	for	a	clinical	trial	of	flutiform®	for	COPD	involving	more	than	900	patients	treated	over	a	26-week	period.	Preparations	
are	also	being	made	for	a	clinical	trial	in	China	for	asthma	which	will	commence	once	the	Chinese	Food	and	Drug	Administration	(“CFDA”)	has	
approved	the	investigational	new	drug	application.	Having	met	with	the	UK	Medicines	and	Healthcare	Products	Regulatory	Agency	(“MHRA”),	
Mundipharma	plans	to	resubmit	its	application	for	a	European	paediatric	indication	of	flutiform®	for	asthma	in	due	course.	

Skyepharma	has	continued	to	support	Mundipharma	in	its	development	of	a	novel	breath-actuated	version	of	flutiform®,	where	the	flutiform®	
pMDI	press-and-breathe	actuator	 is	 replaced	by	Mundipharma’s	breath-actuated	device.	 If	 approved	and	 launched,	Skyepharma	would	be	
eligible	for	revenues	from	royalties,	milestones	and	filled-canister	supply	for	this	product	on	a	similar	basis	to	flutiform®	pMDI.	

In	 January	 2016,	 the	 Group	 entered	 into	 agreements	 with	 Sanofi	 and	Mundipharma	 to	 transfer	 the	 exclusive	 development,	 licensing	 and	
marketing	rights	for	flutiform®	for	Mexico,	Central	and	South	America	(“the	territory”)	to	Mundipharma.	The	transfer	to	Mundipharma	follows	a	
review	by	Sanofi	of	its	strategy	in	the	territory	and	has	been	implemented	by	mutual	agreement.	It	has	been	effected	by	way	of	novation	of	the	
original	development,	licensing	and	marketing	agreement	which	the	Group	agreed	with	Sanofi	in	2011.	Subject	to	minor	adjustments,	the	terms	
of	the	novated	agreement	remain	the	same.	Marketing	approval	for	flutiform®	was	received	by	Sanofi	in	Argentina	in	2014	and	in	Colombia	in	
2015	and	these	will	be	transferred	to	Mundipharma	which	will	prepare	further	filings	in	the	territory.	

Raman Singh, President, Mundipharma Asia-Pacific, Latin America, Middle East and North Africa, said: 

“Asthma has a significant impact on people’s quality of life by affecting the most essential function: the ability to breathe. We at Mundipharma 
have been focused on developing new and innovative asthma treatment options, and this expanded partnership will enable us to leverage 
our growing success with flutiform	in the Latin American region. In the many markets where we have launched flutiform, we have found that 
it offers a valuable treatment option for patients whose asthma symptoms are not adequately controlled and we believe this will also be the 
case in Mexico, Central and South America.”

EXPAREL®

In	February	2016,	Pacira	Pharmaceuticals,	Inc.	(“Pacira”),	reported	2015	net	sales	of	EXPAREL®	(bupivacaine	liposome	injectable	suspension),	
an	injectable	product	for	single-dose	administration	into	the	surgical	site	to	produce	post-surgical	analgesia,	of	U.S.$239.9	million,	an	increase	
of	27	percent	compared	with	U.S.$188.5	million	in	2014.	The	most	recent	reported	sales	are	as	follows:

U.S.	$’m 2013 2014 2015 Q1	’15 Q2	’15 Q3	’15 Q4	’15

EXPAREL® net sales 76.1 188.5 239.9 56.0 56.9 59.7 67.2
Year-on-year and quarter-on-quarter total growth 147% 27% (5)% 2% 5% 13%

The	Group	receives	3	percent	of	net	sales	(on	a	cash	received	basis)	of	EXPAREL®,	and	in	addition,	Skyepharma	is	eligible	to	receive	certain	sales	
milestones.	Based	on	the	latest	net	sales	forecasts	by	analysts	covering	Pacira,	the	Board	continues	to	expect	that	the	next	sales	milestone	of	
U.S.	$8.0	million	(£5.4	million1),	which	is	due	when	annual	net	sales	(on	a	cash	received	basis)	reach	U.S.	$250	million,	will	be	achieved	in	2016.

On	15	December	2015,	Pacira	announced	that	it	had	achieved	an	amicable	resolution	with	the	U.S.	FDA	which	had	resulted	in	the	rescission	of	an	
FDA	Warning	Letter	issued	in	September	2014	which	had	affected	Pacira’s	marketing	of	EXPAREL®.	The	resolution	confirmed	that	EXPAREL®	is,	
and	has	been	since	2011,	broadly	indicated	for	administration	into	the	surgical	site	to	provide	post-surgical	analgesia.	Whilst	Pacira	had	already	
commenced	clinical	studies	for	oral	surgery,	the	FDA	resolution	also	confirmed	EXPAREL®’s	approval	for	post-surgical	analgesia	at	the	site	of	
oral	surgery	procedures	including	tooth	extractions	and	for	infiltration	into	the	transversus	abdominis	plane	(“TAP”),	sometimes	referred	to	as	a	
TAP	block.	Pacira	is	also	developing	EXPAREL®	for	nerve	block	and	chronic	pain	indications.	

Pacira’s	animal	health	partner,	Aratana	Therapeutics,	Inc.,	has	stated	that	it	anticipates	obtaining	approval	for	the	use	of	the	product,	to	be	called,	
Nocita®,	in	surgical	procedures	in	dogs	in	late	2016.	

Pacira	may	seek	potential	partners	for	marketing	and/or	distribution	of	EXPAREL®	outside	the	U.S..	Skyepharma	is	eligible	for	a	U.S.	$4	million	
milestone	upon	first	commercial	sale	in	a	major	European	country.

1 Using exchange rate at 31 December 2015
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GSK Ellipta® products 
Certain	of	Skyepharma’s	dry-powder	 formulation	 technology	 is	used	 in	GSK’s	once-a-day	 treatments	 for	asthma	and	COPD:	Relvar®/Breo®	
Ellipta®	(ICS/LABA),	Anoro®	Ellipta®	(LABA/LAMA1)	and	Incruse®	Ellipta®	(LAMA).	The	Group	has	the	potential	for	royalty	income	of	up	to	£9.0	
million	per	annum	from	this	licence.

On	 30	April	 2015,	GSK	announced	 that	 the	U.S.	 FDA	had	 approved	Breo®	 Ellipta®	 (fluticasone	 furoate/vilanterol	 [FF/VI])	 for	 the	 once-daily	
treatment	of	asthma	 (but	not	 for	 the	 relief	of	acute	bronchospasm)	 in	patients	aged	18	years	and	older.	 	Breo®	Ellipta®	had	previously	been	
approved	and	launched	by	GSK	in	the	U.S.	for	COPD.	On	3	February	2016,	GSK	reported	total	2015	sales	of	Relvar®/Breo®	Ellipta®,	Anoro®	
Ellipta®	and	Incruse®	Ellipta®	of	£349.5	million,	up	from	£83.9	million	in	2014.	The	most	recent	reported	sales	of	these	products	are	as	follows:

£’m 2013 2014 2015 Q1	’15 Q2	’15 Q3	’15 Q4	’15

Relvar® /Breo® Ellipta® 8.3 67.2 257.7 39.4 53.3 63.9 101.1
Anoro® Ellipta® – 16.6 77.4 11.6 15.4 20.7 29.7
Incruse® Ellipta® – 0.1 14.4 1.0 2.0 2.8 8.6
Total 8.3 83.9 349.5 52.0 70.7 87.4 139.4
Year-on-year and quarter-on-quarter total growth 317% 7% 36% 24% 59%

As	of	31	December	2015,	Relvar®/Breo®	Ellipta®	had	been	approved	for	marketing	in	over	75	countries,	and	launched	in	over	45	countries,	Anoro®	
Ellipta®	had	been	approved	for	marketing	in	70	countries	and	had	been	launched	in	over	35	countries,	and	Incruse®	Ellipta®	had	been	approved	
for	marketing	in	over	15	countries.	

Research and development 
Skyepharma	continues	to	seek	to	strengthen	the	product	pipeline	through	a	mix	of	self-funded	feasibility	and	technology	development	projects	
through	 to	 key	 inflection	 points	 before	 being	 out-licensed	 and	 further	 collaborations	where	 partners	 fund	 the	 development	 on	 a	 time	 and	
materials	basis.	Subject	to	suitable	opportunities,	the	Board	has	determined	a	target	range	for	self-funded	development	expenditure	in	any	one	
year	of	10	to	15	percent	of	revenues,	which	the	Board	believes	will	enable	the	Group	to	develop	a	valuable	future	additional	revenue-generating	
portfolio	whilst	enabling	the	Group	to	benefit	from	growing	profitability	and	cash	generation.	Currently,	self-funded	development	projects	include	
SKP-2075,	SKP-2076,	SKP-1052	and	work	on	oral	drug	delivery	technologies,	as	outlined	below:	

SKP-2075	is	being	developed	to	provide	a	new	treatment	for	patients	with	features	of	both	COPD	and	smoking	asthma,	a	specific	phenotype	
with	a	high	unmet	medical	need.	The	Board	believes	that	SKP-2075	has	the	potential	to	be	one	of	the	first	products	developed	for	this	phenotype.	

SKP-2075	is	part	of	a	novel	inhaled	therapy	platform	acquired	from	Pulmagen	in	2014,	based	on	the	concept	that	the	use	of	low-dose	inhaled	
theophylline	to	increase	sensitivity	to	ICS	could	have	applications	in	a	range	of	COPD	products,	including	combinations	which	include	an	ICS,	
especially	 for	 patients	whose	condition	 is	 inadequately	 controlled	by	 available	 therapies.	The	 approach	may	also	have	potential	 for	 certain	
patients	with	bronchial	asthma.

SKP-2075	is	being	developed	as	a	single-capsule	dry-powder	inhaler,	comprising	fluticasone	propionate	and	a	low-dose	of	theophylline.	Good	
progress	has	been	made	in	formulating	the	product	and	with	pre-clinical	work.	Clinical	plans	comprise	a	Phase	I	tolerability	and	safety	study	
followed	by	commencement	of	a	Phase	 II	dose-ranging,	efficacy	and	safety	clinical	 trial	with	over	500	patients.	This	clinical	programme	will	
commence	in	2016	and	is	expected	to	be	concluded	by	the	end	of	2017.	It	is	being	designed	to	produce	statistically	significant	results	with	a	view	
to	partnering	SKP-2075	for	further	development	and	commercialisation	and	is	designed	to	provide	the	opportunity	to	a	partner	for	a	relatively	
quick	development	path	for	Europe.	As	at	31	December	2015,	the	remaining	cost	of	the	planned	work	was	estimated	to	be	£14.0	million.		This	
is	subject	to	fluctuations	in	exchange	rates	and	changes	in	project	requirements.

SKP-2076	 is	a	triple	ICS/LABA/LAMA	combination	product	 in	a	metered-dose	inhaler	 incorporating	known	chemical	entities.	Good	progress	
has	been	made	with	the	 initial	 formulation	for	SKP-2076,	which	 is	expected	to	move	 into	GMP	pilot	scale	manufacturing	 in	2016.	In	 light	of	
the	positive	experience	with	flutiform®,	the	Board	believes	that	SKP-2076	could	add	significant	value	to	the	Group’s	respiratory	franchise.	In	
December,	 the	Group	announced	that	 it	had	entered	 into	a	 feasibility	and	option	agreement	with	Mundipharma	Laboratories	GmbH	(part	of	
Mundipharma),	which	is	expected	to	lead	to	Mundipharma	being	the	global	development	and	commercialisation	partner	for	SKP-2076.	A	non-
refundable	option	fee	of	several	hundred	thousand	Euros	was	received	in	early	2016	following	signing.

Under	the	agreement,	Skyepharma	is	responsible	for	certain	feasibility	work	which	is	planned	to	be	completed	in	Q2	2016. 	Mundipharma	has	
the	option,	exercisable	until	shortly	after	completion	of	the	feasibility	work,	to	complete	the	development	of,	and	commercialise,	SKP-2076	under	
exclusive	global	development	and	licence	agreements	which	the	parties	have	agreed	to	use	good	faith	and	reasonable	efforts	to	negotiate	based	
on	heads	of	terms	already	established.	 Skyepharma	would	provide	chemistry,	manufacturing	and	control	(“CMC”)	services	to	Mundipharma	to	
support	this	development,	which	would	be	funded	by	Mundipharma.

SKP-1052	 is	a	concept	developed	 in-house	which	uses	 the	Group’s	proprietary	Geoclock™	chronotechnology	 to	 reduce	 the	 risk	of	severe	
nocturnal	hypoglycaemia	in	insulin-treated	patients	with	type	1	and	2	diabetes	mellitus.	There	is	currently	no	recognised	medication	to	reduce	
the	risk	of	this	side-effect	of	insulin	treatment.	Following	the	generation	of	supportive	data	in	a	proof-of-concept	study,	the	Group	has	received	
encouraging	advice	from	the	FDA	on	the	development	plan	and	regulatory	pathway	in	the	U.S.	and	research	undertaken	for	the	Group	indicates	
a	potential	opportunity	to	treat	over	1.2	million	adult	patients	in	the	U.S.	with	peak	sales	potential	in	that	market	of	U.S.	$300	million	to	U.S.	$500	
million	per	annum.

The	Board’s	preferred	strategy	is	to	partner	this	project	for	further	development,	either	with	a	speciality	pharmaceutical	company	with	existing	
capabilities	or	in	a	special	purpose	company	set	up	to	recruit	appropriate	expertise	in	treating	complications	of	diabetes.	The	Group	continues	to	

1 LAMA = long acting antimuscarinic agent
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explore	the	potential	for	either	option	and,	in	
the	meantime,	has	continued	with	preparation	
for	 scale-up	 and	 the	manufacture	 of	 clinical	
trial	 supplies	 and	 the	 planning	 of	 the	 next	
clinical	trial.

Oral drug delivery technologies	 –	 work	
is	 continuing	 on	 a	 number	 of	 internally-
developed	 concepts	 for	 novel	 oral	 drug	
delivery	platform	technologies.	These	include	
Soctec™,	a	novel,	proprietary	gastro-retentive	
drug	delivery	platform	technology	comprising	
a	buoyant	self-orienting	capsule,	for	which	a	
notice	 of	 allowance	 for	 a	 patent	 application	
has	been	 issued	 in	 the	U.S..	It	 is	 targeted	at	
gastro-retention	 and	 aims	 to	 retain	 the	 drug	
delivery	 dosage	 form	 in	 the	 upper	 gastro-
intestinal	 (“GI”)	 tract	 for	 as	 long	 as	possible	
with	 the	 active	 ingredient	 being	 released	
for	 delivery	 for	 local	 action	 or	 absorption	 in	
the	 stomach	 or	 the	 upper	 GI	 tract.	After	 an	
encouraging	proof-of-concept	study,	progress	
is	 being	 made	 with	 further	 development	 to	
optimise	 the	 Soctec™	 technology	 and	 plan	
for	 potential	 scale-up.	 This	 technology	 is	
being	marketed	to	potential	partners.

A	hydrophobic	raft	technology,	Oleotec	™,	is	
also	under	development	for	gastro-retention,	
aimed	 at	 higher	 payload	 requirements,	 and	
for	 which	 a	 clinical	 proof-of-concept	 trial	 is	
planned	for	2016.

Collaborative development work
Hikma	 and	 Skyepharma	 have	 established	 a	
collaboration	to	develop	complex	oral	generic	
products	 and	 a	 first	 development	 project	 is	
already	 underway.	 Skyepharma	 is	 having	
clinical	trial	supplies	manufactured	in	its	Lyon	
facility	in	H1,	2016.

Activity	 continued	 during	 the	 year	 on	
development	 projects	 largely	 funded	 by	
partners,	 including	 the	 development	 for	
Mundipharma	of	the	breath-actuated	version	
of	flutiform®	described	above.	During	2015,	
work	 on	 the	 development	 of	 new	 inhaled	
therapies	 for	 COPD	 and	 severe	 asthma	 for	
RespiVert	 Ltd	 (“RespiVert”),	 a	 subsidiary	 of	
Janssen	 Biotech,	 Inc.,	 was	 phased	 out,	 as	
expected,	 as	 the	 projects	 completed	 their	
feasibility	stages.

Manufacturing and supply 

flutiform® supply chain
Under	the	agreements	with	Mundipharma	and	
Kyorin,	the	Group	is	responsible	for	arranging	
the	manufacture	and	supply	of	flutiform®,	and	
has	 contracted	 with	 Sanofi	 to	 manufacture	
and	 assemble	 the	 product	 at	 its	 factory	 in	
Holmes	Chapel,	UK.	The	Group	has	 entered	
into	 agreements	with	 a	 number	 of	 suppliers	
in	 order	 to	 obtain	 materials	 required	 and	
have	them	supplied	to	Sanofi	to	manufacture	
flutiform®.	 For	 Latin	 America,	 transitional	
arrangements	 are	 in	 place	 allowing	 the	
continued	supply	of	flutiform®	by	Sanofi	until	
direct	 supply	 arrangements	 are	 put	 in	 place	
between	Skyepharma	and	Mundipharma.

Case Study
Inhalation Development

Skyepharma	has	a	strong	track	record	of	developing	inhalation	products	and	technologies,	making	us	an	ideal	partner	for	many	leading	pharmaceutical	companies	
around	the	world.	

Our	technologies,	coupled	with	development,	regulatory	and	supply	chain	expertise,	have	been	critical	factors	in	the	growing	success	of	flutiform®	and	our	
development	pipeline	ensures	further	potential	in	the	global	asthma	and	COPD	market.

Our	ability	to	work	with	both	pMDI	and	DPI	platforms	provides	us	and	our	partners	with	a	wider	range	of	potential	product	and	dosing	options,	while	our	skills	in	
process	engineering	are	a	key	advantage	in	finding	solutions	to	formulating	complex	inhaled	drugs.

flutiform®	demonstrated	our	capabilities	through	the	full	development	cycle,	from	early	stage	formulation	and	the	strict	regulatory	requirements	that	govern	each	
step	through	filing	and	approval	and	on	to	product	supply,	across	many	countries	around	the	world.	

Products	involving	Skyepharma’s	inhalation	technologies	and	expertise	have	now	been	approved	in	more	than	75	countries,	including	in	the	U.S.,	Europe	and	
Japan.	As	well	as	supporting	Mundipharma	 in	the	development	of	a	breath-actuated	version	of	flutiform®,	we	also	now	have	the	opportunity	 to	bring	our	
strengths	to	bear	on	the	development	of	SKP-2075	to	address	unmet	needs	of	patients	with	COPD/smoking	asthma	and	with	our	unique	triple	combination	pMDI	
therapy	SKP-2076.

operating review continued
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The	 Group	 has	 committed	 to	 substantial	
capital	 expenditure	 to	 scale-up	 flutiform®	
production	 capacity.	 At	 31	 December	 2015,	
cumulative	 capital	 expenditure	 was	 £21.8	
million,	 of	 which	 £4.9	 million	 was	 incurred	
in	2015	 (2014:	£2.5	million)	with	£3.6	million	
cash	outflow	(2014:	£2.0	million	cash	outflow).	
In	addition,	the	Group	incurred	£1.7	million	of	
product	maintenance	costs	in	the	year	(2014:	
£2.8	 million),	 which	 are	 included	 as	 part	 of	
cost	 of	 sales.	 The	 Group	 will	 continue	 to	
invest	in:	

•	 working	 capital	 to	 support	 growth	 in	
supply	volumes	of	flutiform®.	The	impact	
of	 moving	 to	 more	 normal	 supplier	
payment	 terms	 in	 2016	 is	 expected	 to	
increase	working	capital	by	approximately	
£4.0	million;

•	 expenditure	 to	 maintain	 product	 supply	
(included	 in	 cost	 of	 sales)	 forecast	 to	 be	
approximately	£1.0	million	 to	£3.0	million	
per	annum	for	2016	and	2017;	and

•	 capital	expenditure	to	increase	production	
capacity	 to	 meet	 anticipated	 growth	 in	
demand.

In	 view	 of	 recent	 increases	 in	 medium-
term	 demand	 forecasts	 from	 customers,	 as	
announced	in	March	2015,	capital	investment	
to	 increase	 capacity	 was	 accelerated	 in	
comparison	 with	 previous	 plans.	 Total	
capital	 expenditure	 on	 flutiform®	 supply	 is	
anticipated	 to	 be	 approximately	 £5.0	million	
to	£7.0	million	for	2016.	

Lyon Facility
In	 2011,	 Aenova	 leased	 the	 Group’s	
manufacturing	business	and	premises	in	Lyon	
(together	“the	Facility”)	and	is	currently	paying	
a	 rental	 of	 €2.0	 million	 (£1.5	 million1)	 per	
annum	until	the	lease	arrangements	expire	on	
30	June	2016.	Aenova	continues	 to	manage	
and	 be	 responsible	 for	 the	 operational	 and	
financial	 performance	 of	 the	 Facility	 on	 a	
day-to-day	basis.	A	site	restructuring	plan	to	
which	the	Group	contributed	was	announced	
in	 2014	 and	 implementation	was	 completed	
during	 2015	 with	 savings	 being	 shared	
between	the	Group	and	Aenova.	The	Group	

is	 reviewing	 options	 to	 add	 additional	 work	
into	 the	 Facility	 ahead	 of	 the	manufacturing	
business	 reverting	 to	 Skyepharma	 when	
the	 lease	 terminates	 and	 is	 planning	 some	
capital	 investments	 with	 a	 view	 to	 further	
improvements	 in	 operating	 efficiency	 and	
capabilities.	

The	 Facility	 currently	 manufactures	 seven	
Skyepharma	 products.	 Five	 of	 these	 use	
the	 Geomatrix™	 family	 of	 technologies:	
Diclofenac-ratiopharm®-uno,	 Coruno®,	
ZYFLO	 CR®,	 Madopar	 DR®	 and	 lower-
dose	 formulations	 of	 Sular®.	 LODOTRA®/
RAYOS®	 uses	 the	 Group’s	 Geoclock™	
chronotechnology	 and	 the	 other	 oral	
product,	Triglide®,	uses	some	of	the	Group’s	
solubilisation	 technology.	 The	 Facility	
has	 current	 good	 manufacturing	 practice	
(“cGMP”)	 status,	 with	 approvals,	 amongst	
others,	from	the	European	Medicines	Agency,	
U.S.	FDA,	ANVISA	 (Brazil)	 and	KFDA	 (South	
Korea).	In	June	2015,	a	routine	FDA	inspection	
of	 the	 Facility	 was	 successfully	 concluded	
without	 any	 Form	483	 notices	 (observations	
requiring	corrective	actions)	being	issued.

Case Study
flutiform® supply chain

The	success	of	a	complex	inhalation	product	like	flutiform®	depends	on	an	effective	and	efficient	supply	
chain	able	to	meet	demand	for	the	product	on	time	and	in	full	whilst	also	ensuring	full	compliance	with	
regulatory	requirements	for	an	inhaled	pharmaceutical	product	in	all	the	countries	where	the	product	is	
approved.	Under	its	agreements	with	Mundipharma	and	Kyorin,	Skyepharma	is	responsible	for	supplying	
flutiform®.

The	Group	has	built	a	proven	capability	to	manage	this	complex	process	and	has	established	a	successful	
arrangement	with	 Sanofi	 to	 undertake	 the	 physical	manufacture	 and	 assembly	 of	flutiform®	 on	 the	
Group’s	behalf	at	its	factory	in	Holmes	Chapel,	Cheshire,	UK.

In	 response	 to	 the	 sustained	 growth	 of	 flutiform®	 and	 increasing	 sales	 forecasts	 by	 its	 partners,	
Skyepharma	has	committed	capital	investment	of	£4	million	to	£6	million	over	2015	and	2016	to	accelerate	
the	expansion	of	manufacturing	capacity	for	flutiform®	at	Holmes	Chapel.

As	part	of	overseeing	the	manufacture	and	supply	of	flutiform®,	Skyepharma	maintains	the	manufacturing	
and	quality	processes,	sources	the	active	ingredients,	key	components	and	certain	packaging	materials,	
monitors	results	of	quality	testing	and	schedules	production	with	Sanofi	against	customer	forecasts	of	
demand	to	more	than	30	countries	around	the	world.

The	Group	is	also	supporting	Mundipharma	in	the	development	of	a	breath-actuated	version	of	flutiform®.	
If	approved	and	launched,	Skyepharma	will	also	manage	the	supply	chain	for	the	semi-finished	product	
which	is	used	in	the	breath-actuated	version.

1 Using the average exchange rate for 2015.

Pictured: Pressurized Metered Dose 
Inhaler (pMDI) shot weight testing
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Other approved products
Solaraze®	–	combined	U.S.	sales	of	Solaraze®	
and	its	authorised	generic	in	2015	as	reported	
by	 the	Group’s	U.S.	 license	partner	Fougera	
Pharmaceuticals	 Inc.,	 (part	of	Sandoz),	were	
significantly	 ahead	 of	 expectations	 due	
to	 manufacturing	 issues	 at	 a	 competitor.	

Combined	net	sales	of	Solaraze®	in	the	U.S.	in	
2015	were	U.S.	$37.1	million	(£24.2	million1),	
up	 28.4	 percent	 compared	 with	 2014.	 Net	
invoiced	sales	in	2015	by	Almirall,	the	Group’s	
partner	in	Europe	and	certain	other	territories,	
increased	 by	 6.0	 percent	 to	 €41.5	 million	
(£30.1	million1).	

Requip®	Once-a-day	–	net	sales	of	Requip®	
in	 2015	 as	 reported	 by	 GSK	 totalled	 £93.0	
million,	a	decrease	of	14.7	percent	from	2014	
(£109.0	million).	This	 includes	 sales	 of	 other	
formulations	of	Requip®	on	which	the	Group	
does	not	receive	royalties.	Of	 the	total	sales,	
£29.0	 million	 were	 generated	 in	 Europe,	 a	
decrease	 of	 25.6	 percent,	 and	 £64.0	million	
arose	 in	 the	rest	of	 the	world,	a	decrease	of	
9.1	percent.

Xatral® OD (Uroxatral®	in	the	U.S.)	–	net	sales	
of	Xatral®	OD	and	Uroxatral	in	2015,	were	€79.5	
million	 (£57.7	million1),	 compared	with	€80.7	
million	(£65.1	million)	in	2014.	In	the	U.S.,	net	
sales	of	Uroxatral®	for	2015	were	€5.0	million	
(£3.6	million1).	In	2014,	sales	were	€8.0	million	
(£6.4	million).	

Paxil CR™	 –	 in	 2015,	 net	 sales	 outside	 the	
U.S.	were	£60.4	million,	compared	with	£64.8	
million	in	2014.	

LODOTRA®	 (RAYOS®	 in	 the	U.S.)	 –	 Horizon	
reported	 combined	 net	 sales	 of	 LODOTRA®	
and	 RAYOS®	 of	 U.S.	 $45.2	 million	 (£29.6	
million1)	 in	 2015	 compared	 with	 net	 sales	
of	 U.S.	 $25.5	 million	 (£15.5	 million1)	 a	 year	
earlier.	 Horizon	 recognises	 a	 significant	
portion	of	 LODOTRA®	 and	RAYOS®	 sales	 at	
the	time	of	delivery	to	its	distribution	partner,	
Mundipharma,	 and	 those	 deliveries	 are	 not	
linear	or	related	to	end-market	sales	in	terms	
of	 timing	 and,	 therefore,	 can	 fluctuate	 year-
on-year.	The	figures	 reported	by	Horizon	are	
not	 the	 same	 as	 the	 net	 sales	 used	 in	 the	
calculation	of	the	royalties	paid	to	the	Group.	

On	 15	 July	 2013,	 the	 Group	 and	 Horizon	
received	 a	 Paragraph	 IV	 Patent	Certification	
from	 Watson	 Laboratories,	 Inc.	 –	 Florida	
(“WLF”),	 advising	 that	 WLF	 had	 filed	 an	
Abbreviated	New	Drug	Application	 (“ANDA”)	
with	 the	 FDA	 for	 a	 generic	 version	 of	
RAYOS®,	containing	up	to	5	mg	of	prednisone.	

The	 related	 case	was	 dismissed	 in	 the	U.S.	
court	in	December	2015.

Triglide®	 –	 all	 marketing	 and	 other	 rights	 to	
Triglide®	 in	 the	 U.S.	 were	 transferred	 from	
Shionogi	 &	Co.,	 Ltd	 to	Casper	 Pharma	 LLC	
(an	 affiliate	 of	 Citron	 Pharma	 LLC)	 during	
2015.	 A	 consent	 fee	 was	 received	 by	 the	
Group	for	the	transfer.

Madopar DR®	 (under	 the	 local	 brand	 name	
Prolopa	 DR®)	 was	 launched	 in	 Brazil	 by	
Roche	 in	 August	 2015	 for	 the	 treatment	 of	
Parkinson’s	disease.

operating review continued

1 Using the average exchange rate for 2015.

Pictured:  Visual inspection of Container Closure System (CCS) by binocular microscope
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Outlook 
With	 established	 momentum	 of	 the	 new	
products	launched	in	key	markets	in	the	last	
four	 years,	 the	Board	expects	 further	 strong	
growth	 in	 revenues	 in	 2016	 compared	 with	
2015.	The	key	drivers	of	this	include:

•	 Higher	 flutiform®	 royalties	 and	 product	
supply	 revenues	 due	 to	 increased	
customer	demand	supported	by	additional	
capacity	 scheduled	 to	 become	 available	
during	the	year

•	 Increased	 revenues	 from	 the	 Group’s	 3	
percent	 share	 of	 net	 sales	 of	 EXPAREL®	
(on	a	cash	received	basis),	which	analysts	
who	 follow	 Pacira,	 forecast	 will	 continue	
to	grow	to	a	level	which	would	trigger	the	
next	 sales	milestone	 of	 U.S.	 $8.0	million	
(£5.4	 million1)	 which	 is	 due	 when	 annual	
net	sales	(on	a	cash	received	basis)	reach	
U.S.	$250	million

•	 Further	anticipated	growth	in	royalties	from	
higher	sales	of	 the	GSK	Ellipta®	products	
incorporating	the	Group’s	technology

•	 The	Group	will	only	 receive	a	half	year	of	
rental	income	(€1.0	million,	or	£0.7	million1)	
in	respect	of	the	Lyon	Facility	as	the	leasing	
arrangements	terminate	on	30	June	2016.

The	 Board	 is	 confident	 that	 the	 Group	 has	
good	 prospects	 for	 revenue	 growth	 from	 the	
portfolio	of	16	approved	products	already	being	
marketed	 and	 is	 looking	 forward	 to	 adding	
further	 growth	 potential	 from	 Skyepharma’s	
proven	 inhalation	 and	 oral	 drug	 development	
capabilities.

15	March	2016	

Case Study
Building the pipeline through innovation and business development

Skyepharma	has	established	a	comprehensive	process	to	generate	innovative	
new	 inhalation	and	oral	products	and	 technologies	 to	drive	growth	on	 top	
of	our	existing	relatively	young	portfolio	for	the	longer-term.	Two	dedicated	
cross-functional	 teams	 are	 leading	 our	 quest	 for	 innovation	 -	 SPRINT,	
which	looks	at	inhalation	opportunities,	and	BOLT,	which	looks	at	oral	drug	
delivery	and	product	opportunities.	 In	the	last	two	years	these	teams	have	
examined	more	than	500	external	and	internal	concepts,	a	number	of	which	
have	progressed	into	development.	In	inhalation	this	includes	SKP-2075	for	
COPD/smoking	 asthma,	 based	 on	 the	 platform	 acquired	 from	 Pulmagen,	
and	 SKP-2076,	 the	 novel	 triple	 combination	 for	 asthma,	 which	 builds	 on	
the	 success	 of	flutiform®.	 Our	 scientists	 are	 also	 continuing	 our	 heritage	
of	 innovation	 in	oral	drug	delivery.	Two	new	approaches	 to	 retain	drugs	 in	
the	upper	GI	tract	are	under	development	to	improve	absorption	compared	
with	 traditional	 systems:	 Soctec™,	 a	 buoyant	 self-orienting	 capsule,	 and	
Oleotec™,	a	new	hydrophobic	raft	technology.	Both	are	examples	of	novel	
approaches	to	make	drugs	work	better	for	patients.

1 Using the average exchange rate for 2015.

Pictured:   Patient-oriented medicine development
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Key Performance Indicators

2015 £88.1m

2014 £64.7m

2013 £56.9m

£0.1m2015

£9.2m2014

£5.5m2013

£14.9m2015

£12.1m2014

£10.8m2013

Revenue (excluding milestones)

Signing and milestone payments received

Total investment in research and development

Revenue	excluding	the	effect	of	signing	
and	milestone	payments	which,	by	their	
nature,	 tend	 to	 be	 irregular	 and	 vary	
from	one	year	to	the	next.	

This	 shows	 amounts	 of	 cash	 received	
for	 milestones	 in	 respect	 of	 products	
and	pipeline	product	candidates.	

Total	 investment	 in	 research	 and	
development	 measures	 the	 costs,	
including	direct	and	indirect	overheads,	
of	 all	 research	 and	 development	
activities.	

Revenue	 (excluding	 milestones)	 is	
a	 key	 measure	 of	 the	 growth	 of	 the	
Group’s	business	and	the	Group	seeks	
to	 optimise	 revenue	 from	 approved	
products,	 pipeline	 product	 candidates	
(including	 contract	 research	 and	
development	 projects)	 and	 supply	
activities.	

Comment
Revenue (excluding milestones) grew 
substantially in 2015 compared with 2014 
due to increases in flutiform® royalty and 
supply revenues, royalties from the GSK 
Ellipta® products, Lodotra®/RAYOS® and 
Solaraze® in the U.S., as well as higher 
revenue from the Group’s share of growing 
EXPAREL® net sales.

Comment
Cash milestones received in 2015 totalled 
£0.1 million.	The £7.8 million recorded in 
the Group’s income statement is largely 
due to the first flutiform® sales milestone 
of €10 million which was recorded through 
a release of	deferred income.

Comment
As anticipated, investment in research 
and development expenditure was higher 
in 2015 than in 2014, due to an increase 
in self-funded projects within overall limits 
set by the Board.

Milestones	 are	 typically	 received	
upon	 signing	 of	 an	 agreement	 and	
then	 at	 specific	 stages	 in	 a	 product’s	
development,	 such	 as	 regulatory	
approval,	 initial	 launch	 and	 achieving	
predetermined	sales	targets.

Signing	 and	 milestone	 payments	
received	 form	 an	 integral	 part	 of	
a	 licensing	 model	 and	 represent	
important	additional	earnings.

The	 successful	 development	 of	
complex	products	and	development	of	
novel	drug	delivery	technologies	is	the	
Group’s	core	skill	and	 is	at	 the	 root	of	
the	Group’s	competitive	advantage.

Measurement

Measurement

Measurement

Why

Why

Why

The	Board	considers	the	following	Key	Performance	Indicators	(“KPIs”)	to	be	the	most	relevant	to	the	Group’s	operations:	
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2015 £8.5m

2014 £3.8m

£0.5m2013

2015 £66.1m

2014 £32.4m

2013 £16.5m

2015 16

2014 16

2013 15

Net investment in research and development 

Liquidity

Approved and marketable products

This	shows	the	Group’s	total	investment	
in	 research	 and	 development,	 net	 of	
costs	 reimbursed	 by	 development	
partners.	

This	 measures	 the	 availability	 of	 cash	
resources	for	corporate	purposes.	

This	represents	the	number	of	products	
on	which	 the	Group	 earns	 or	 expects	
to	 earn	 revenues	 and	 which	 were	
approved	for	marketing	 in	at	 least	one	
country	at	the	end	of	the	period.	

Comment
The net investment was higher in 2015 
compared with 2014, reflecting the start 
of the Group’s investment in SKP-2076 
and the ongoing development of both 
SKP-2075 and new oral drug delivery 
technologies.

Comment
Liquidity at 31 December 2015 consisted 
of cash and cash equivalents of £41.1 
million, as per the balance sheet, as well 
as the unutilised RCF in place of £25.0 
million. The increase in cash compared 
with 2014 is due to the growth of the 
flutiform® supply chain and royalty 
receipts, partly offset by the early 
settlement of the remaining U.S. Dollar 
element of the CRC Finance facility and 
capital expenditure to expand flutiform® 
manufacturing capacity.

Comment
There have been no new products 
approved during 2015, although a 
number of product launches have taken 
place for products previously launched in 
other countries.

The	Group’s	investment	in	research	and	
development	shows	the	amounts	being	
invested	for	the	longer-term.

Availability	 of	 sufficient	 liquidity	
is	 important,	 especially	 where	
commitments	 are	 made	 to	 carry	 out	
self-funded	research	and	development	
activities.

The	 number	 of	 approved	 and	
marketable	 products	 reflects	 the	
success	 of	 the	 Group	 in	 all	 aspects	
of	 drug	 development,	 licensing	 and	
partnering.	

Measurement

Measurement

Measurement

Why

Why

Why
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Financial review

The	results	 for	the	year	ended	31	December	
2015	 reflect	 strong	 growth	 in	 revenues,	
primarily	from	flutiform®	royalties	and	product	
supply,	share	of	net	sales	of	EXPAREL®	 and	
royalties	from	the	GSK	Ellipta®	products	and	
Solaraze®	in	the	U.S..	Earnings	also	benefited	
from	 further	 expansion	 of	 the	 flutiform®	
supply	 chain	 margin	 and	 lower	 financing	
charges	 following	 debt	 repayments,	 which	
more	 than	 offset	 planned	 increases	 in	 net	
R&D	investment	and	a	higher	tax	charge	with	
increased	profitability.

Revenues
Revenues	 for	 the	 year-ended	 31	 December	
2015	were	£95.9	million	(2014:	£73.8	million)	
comprising	 signing	 and	 milestone	 receipts,	
contract	research	and	development,	royalties,	
product	supply,	 share	of	 sales	of	EXPAREL®	
and	 rental	 income	 from	 the	 Lyon	 Facility.	

The	30	percent	increase	from	2014	is	due	to	
strong	growth	in	flutiform®	royalty	and	supply	
revenues,	 the	 Group’s	 share	 of	 higher	 net	
sales	of	EXPAREL®,	 royalties	 from	 increased	
sales	of	the	GSK	Ellipta®	products	and	higher	
than	expected	royalties	from	Solaraze®	in	the	
U.S..	Underlying	 recurring	 revenue	excluding	
milestones	 was	 £88.1	 million,	 36	 percent	
higher	than	2014.

Revenue	 recognised	 from	 signing	 and	
milestone	 payments	 was	 £7.8	 million	 in	
2015,	which	was	down	from	the	£9.1	million	
reported	 for	 2014.	The	 first	 flutiform®	 sales	
milestone	 of	 €10.0	million	 (£7.4	million)	was	
recorded	 in	 2015	 through	 the	 release	 of	
deferred	 income	 and	 no	 cash	 was	 received	
as	 it	was	 used	 to	 satisfy	 a	 large	part	 of	 the	
balance	 of	 Mundipharma’s	 right	 to	 recover	
up	to	€25.0	million	(£17.6	million)	of	previous	
development	 costs,	 as	previously	 disclosed.	

The	prior	year	included	the	first	sales-related	
milestone	 of	 U.S.$8.0	 million	 (£4.7	 million)	
in	 respect	of	EXPAREL®,	a	€2.0	million	 (£1.7	
million)	milestone	 in	respect	of	 the	 launch	of	
flutiform®	 in	 Spain	 and	 a	 €3.0	million	 (£2.5	
million)	 milestone	 following	 the	 launch	 of	
flutiform®	in	France.	

Contract	 research	and	development	 revenue	
decreased	 by	 23	 percent	 to	 £6.4	 million	
in	 2015	 (2014:	 £8.3	 million)	 reflecting	 an	
expected	 reduction	 in	 work	 for	 RespiVert,	
though	 this	was	partly	offset	by	an	 increase	
from	the	work	for	Mundipharma	on	the	breath-
actuated	version	of	flutiform®.

Royalty	 income	 was	 £22.5	 million	 in	 2015,	
£5.3	million	higher	than	in	2014,	representing	
an	increase	at	constant	exchange	rates	of	32	
percent.	Royalties	 from	 flutiform®	 benefited	
from	a	first	 full	year	of	sales	 in	Japan	of	 the	
120-puff	 version	 of	 the	 product	 following	
the	 December	 2014	 launch.	There	 was	 also	
strong	 in-market	 sales	 growth	 across	 the	
other	 countries,	 boosted	 by	 the	 launch	 in	
Spain	 in	December	 2014.	The	Mundipharma	
royalty	 rate	 was	 slightly	 lower	 in	 2015,	 at	
around	a	mid-single	digit	percentage	due	 to	
the	effect	of	a	cap	in	total	royalty	and	product	
supply	 revenues	 in	 the	 agreements	 with	
Mundipharma.	This	has,	however,	been	more	
than	offset	by	an	increased	margin	on	product	
supply.	 Royalty	 receipts	 were	 higher	 from	
the	Ellipta®	range	of	products	for	which	GSK	
have	 reported	 growing	 sales,	 and	 also	 from	
Solaraze®	 in	 the	 U.S.	 which	 benefited	 from	
manufacturing	issues	at	a	competitor.	

Product	supply	revenue	totalled	£53.0	million	
in	2015	(2014:	£34.2	million),	representing	an	
increase	of	71	percent	at	constant	exchange	
rates,	 with	 substantial	 growth	 in	 sales	 of	
flutiform®	 in	 its	first	 full	year	of	supply	to	all	
the	 major	 European	 markets	 and	 Japan	 in	
both	56-puff	and	120-puff	versions.	

Other	 revenue	of	£6.2	million	 in	2015	 (2014:	
£5.0	million)	comprises	the	Group’s	3	percent	
share	 of	 Pacira’s	 cash	 receipts	 from	 net	
sales	 of	 EXPAREL®	 in	 the	 U.S.	 and	 rental	
income	from	the	Lyon	Facility.	Growth	of	other	
revenue	over	the	prior	year	is	due	to	the	share	
of	increased	net	sales	of	EXPAREL®.	

The results for the year ended 31 December 
2015 reflect strong growth in revenues, 
primarily from flutiform® royalties and product 
supply, share of net sales of EXPAREL® and 
royalties from the GSK Ellipta® products and 
Solaraze® in the U.S.

“

Andrew Derodra	
Chief	Financial	Officer

”

Revenue	from	milestones,	
contract	R&D,	product	supply	

and	other	revenue

Milestones	earned	in	2015

£95.9m

£7.8m
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Cost of sales 
Cost	of	sales	increased	to	£43.1	million	(2014:	
£32.9	 million)	 due	 to	 increased	 supplies	 of	
flutiform®	and	other	products.	Gross	margin	
from	 flutiform®	 product	 supply	 was	 24	
percent	 (2014:	 10	 percent),	 benefiting	 from	
improved	 mix,	 a	 value-related	 price	 break	
with	Sanofi	and	 lower	depreciation	 following	
a	 review	 of	 asset	 lives,	 partly	 offset	 by	 the	
effect	of	the	weaker	Euro	against	the	Pounds	
Sterling	 reporting	 currency.	 Notwithstanding	
higher	 orders	 for	 flutiform®,	 initiatives	
to	 improve	 working	 capital	 management	
including	 faster	 manufacturing	 cycle	 time,	
year-end	 inventories	 decreased	 to	 £9.3	
million	 (2014:	£10.4	million).	During	2015	 the	
flutiform®	 supply	 chain	 recorded	 a	 gross	
profit	of	£11.5	million	(2014:	£3.0	million).

Research and development 
Gross	 investment	 in	 research	 and	
development	 in	 2015	 increased	 to	
£14.9 million	 from	£12.1	million	 in	2014	with	
lower	 contract	 development	 revenues	 of	
£6.4	 million	 compared	 with	 £8.3	 million	 in	
2014.	As	a	result,	net	 investment	 in	research	
and	development	 (expenses,	net	of	contract	
development	 revenues)	 was	 £8.5	 million	 (9	
percent	 of	 revenues	 for	 the	 year),	 up	 from	
£3.8	million	in	2014.	This	is	due	to	the	planned	
increase	in	self-funded	projects.	

Finance costs 
Interest	costs	totalled	£1.3	million	(2014:	£7.0	
million)	 and	 consisted	 of	 £0.7	million	 (2014:	
£2.8	million)	 in	 respect	 of	 the	 CRC	 Finance	
facility	 (including	 a	 make-whole	 charge	 of	
£0.4	million	on	early	repayment),	£0.3	million	
costs	in	respect	of	establishing	the	RCF	and	
facility	 fees	 (2014:	 £0.1	million),	 £0.3	million	

(2014:	£0.4	million)	on	other	bank	borrowings	
and	£nil	(2014:	£3.7	million)	in	respect	of	the	
Bonds	which	were	repaid	in	2014.	

Foreign exchange 
Foreign	 exchange	 recognised	 in	 other	
comprehensive	 income	 in	 2015	 was	 £nil	
with	 net	 losses	 from	 translation	 of	 foreign	
subsidiaries	 into	 the	 Group’s	 presentational	
currency	 offset	 by	 gains	 on	 permanent	
funding	 provided	 to	 overseas	 subsidiaries	
(2014:	£0.5	million	net	loss).

Operating profit  
and profit before tax
Pre-exceptional	 operating	 profit	 in	 2015	
was	 £31.5	 million	 (2014:	 £22.7	 million).	 An	
exceptional	 operating	 cost	 of	 £1.1	 million	
was	 recognised	 in	 2014	 in	 relation	 to	 the	
restructuring	of	the	Lyon	Facility.

Profit	 before	 tax	 for	 2015	was	 £30.5	million	
(2014:	 £9.9	 million	 loss).	 In	 addition	 to	 the	
exceptional	 operating	 cost	 in	 respect	 of	 the	
Lyon	 Facility,	 the	 prior	 year	 loss	 included	
exceptional	 financing	 costs	 of	 £25.5	 million	
related	 to	 the	 2024	 Bond	 Repayment	 and	
Capital	Raise.	

There	were	no	exceptional	items	in	2015.

Taxation 
Total	income	tax	expense	in	the	year	was	£4.2	
million	 (2014:	 £1.8*	 million).	 This	 comprised	
a	 current	 income	 tax	 charge	 of	 £4.1	 million	
(2014:	£0.6	million)	and	a	deferred	tax	charge	
of	 £0.1	million	 (2014:	 £1.2*	million)	 resulting	
in	 an	 effective	 taxation	 rate	 for	 the	 Group	
of	 13.8	 percent	 (2014:	 10.8*	 percent	 before	
exceptional	items).

The	 increase	 in	 current	 income	 tax	 reflects	
higher	pre-tax	profits	including	the	€10	million	
(£7.4	 million)	 flutiform®	 sales	 milestone	
and	 the	 release	 of	 remaining	 Swiss	 foreign	
exchange	reserves	into	the	local	Swiss	GAAP	
income	 statement	 and	utilising	 final	 expiring	
tax	 losses	 that	 were	 previously	 available	 to	
offset	trading	profits.	The	deferred	tax	charge	
for	2015	was	due	to	the	utilisation	of	overseas	
tax	 losses	 amd	 deferred	 tax	 movements	
explained	 in	 Note	 12	 to	 the	 Consolidated	
Financial	Statements.

Following	the	expiry	of	the	remaining	relevant	
Swiss	tax	losses	(that	were	available	to	offset	
taxable	profits)	from	1	January	2016	onwards,	
the	 rate	 of	 tax	 on	 Swiss	 profits	 is	 expected	
to	be	a	 low	 teens	percentage	depending	on	
the	 mix	 of	 revenue	 streams.	 Income	 in	 the	
U.S.	(principally	in	relation	to	EXPAREL®)	was	
largely	offset	by	tax	losses	and	intercompany	
interest	in	2015	and	is	expected	to	be	taxed	at	
a	circa	30	percent	effective	rate	in	2016,	rising	
to	 a	 circa	 35	 percent	 effective	 rate	 through,	
2017	 as	 the	 interest	 deduction	 reduces.	

These	rates	are	subject	to	any	changes	in	tax	
legislation	in	the	relevant	jurisdictions.	

Net result
Profit	 for	 2015	 after	 exceptional	 items	 and	
taxation	 was	 £26.3	 million	 (2014:	 £11.7*	
million	loss).

Pictured: Using Next Generation Impactor (NGI) to accelerate inhaled drug development

* Certain 2014 figures have been restated for changes 
to deferred tax. Please see Note 12 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.
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Financial review continued

Earnings per share
For	2015,	basic	earnings	per	share	were	25.1	pence	per	share	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	were	24.6	pence	per	share	(2014:	13.7*	pence	loss	
per	share	for	basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share).

For	the	year-ended	31	December	2015,	the	difference	between	the	basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	is	due	to	the	dilutive	 impact	of	the	
employee	share	awards	on	an	IAS	33:	Earnings	Per	Share	basis	as	at	31	December	2015.

For	 the	year	ended	31	December	2014,	 there	were	no	differences	between	 the	basic	and	diluted	 loss	per	 share	amounts,	 since	 the	 result	
was	a	loss	and	all	additional	shares	would	have	been	anti-dilutive.	

As	at	31	December	2015	there	were	104,812,259	Ordinary	Shares	in	issue	(31	December	2014:	104,812,259).	

In	addition,	as	at	31	December	2015,	there	were	the	following	potential	obligations	to	issue	Ordinary	Shares:

Description
Maximum	number	of	

Ordinary	Shares
Exercise	price	(per	

share) Expiry

Employee share matching scheme 25,623 Nil Up to three years
Employee Long-Term Incentive Plan share awards  2,940,822 Nil Up to three years

Deferred Consideration (Krypton) 375,000 
£54.01 increasing at 

10% per annum No expiry
Total at 31 December 2015 3,341,445
Total at 31 December 2014 2,654,281

The	Directors	believe	that	the	options	in	respect	of	the	deferred	consideration	relating	to	the	acquisition	of	Krypton	in	1996	are	unlikely	to	be	
exercised.	This	 is	because	 the	exercise	price	 is	very	substantially	above	 the	prevailing	market	price	of	shares	 in	Skyepharma	PLC	and	 the	
exercise	price	increases	by	10	percent	per	annum.	

There	 are	 currently	 2,940,822	 nil	 cost	 option	 share	 awards	 that	 have	 been	 granted	 as	 share	 awards	 under	 the	 2012	 Long-Term	 Incentive	
Plan.	 The	dilutive	impact	of	potential	employee	share	awards	is	calculated,	in	accordance	with	IAS	33:	Earnings	Per	Share,	as	the	number	of	
ordinary	shares	that	would	theoretically	vest	 if	all	performance	periods	ended	on	31	December	2015.	On	that	basis	2,174,562	shares	would	
potentially	vest	and	this	would	cause	a	dilution	to	basic	earnings	per	share	of	0.5	pence	per	share.

Cash position and liquidity
As	at	31	December	2015	the	Group	had	cash	and	cash	equivalents	of	£41.1	million	(31	December	2014:	£32.4	million).	During	2015,	the	Group	
generated	a	cash	inflow	from	operations	of	£25.9	million	compared	with	an	inflow	of	£30.2	million	in	2014.	Prior	year	cash	inflow	from	operations	
included	£9.2	million	of	milestone	receipts	(2015:	£0.1	million).

In	2015,	the	Group’s	total	cash	outflow	in	respect	of	capital	expenditure	was	£4.5	million	(2014:	£2.9	million)	mainly	comprising	the	ongoing	
investment	 in	 the	 step-up	of	flutiform®	manufacturing	capacity	 announced	 in	March	2015,	 support	 for	R&D	activities	 and	 IT	 improvement	
projects.

In	2015,	the	Group	met	scheduled	financing	commitments	comprising	£1.0	million	of	interest	paid	(2014:	£3.2	million)	primarily	relating	to	the	
CRC	Finance	facility	and	the	property	mortgages.	During	the	year,	the	Group	also	redeemed	and	terminated	early	the	remaining	CRC	Finance	
facility	and	the	secured	amortising	Swiss	bank	loan	at	a	total	cost	of	£11.3	million	including	an	early	settlement	amount	of	£0.4	million,	saving	
£1.0	million	in	future	finance	costs.

At	31	December	2015,	the	Group	had	liquidity	of	£66.1	million	(31	December	2014:	£32.4	million)	consisting	of	cash	of	£41.1	million	and	undrawn	
committed	facilities	of	£25.0	million.

Net cash
The	Group’s	total	net	cash,	measured	in	accordance	with	IFRS,	comprises:

31 
December 

2015 
£m

31	
December	

2014	
£m

CRC Finance Facility – (9.7)
Property mortgages (6.4) (6.6)
Bank borrowings – (1.1)
Total debt (6.4) (17.4)
Less cash and cash equivalents 41.1 32.4
Net cash position 34.7 15.0

Non-current	borrowings	amounted	to	£4.8	million	at	31	December	2015	(2014:	£11.8	million),	consisting	of	a	property	mortgage	secured	on	the	
land	and	buildings	of	Skyepharma	AG.

Further	details	on	the	refinancing,	interest	rates	and	other	key	terms	of	the	agreements	can	be	found	in	Note	22:	Borrowings	of	the	Consolidated	
Financial	Statements.

* Certain 2014 figures have been restated for changes to deferred tax. Please see Note 12 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Balance sheet
At	 31	 December	 2015,	 the	 consolidated	
statement	 of	 financial	 position	 shows	 total	
shareholders’	 equity	 of	 £49.9	 million	 (2014:	
£23.6*	million).	

Deferred income
Part	 of	 an	 initial	 upfront	 milestone	 of	 €15.0	
million	 (£10.1	 million	 at	 the	 time)	 and	
additional	funding	by	Mundipharma	in	respect	
of	the	development	of	a	high	strength	version	
of	flutiform®	 has	 been	 recorded	 in	 deferred	
income	 in	 the	 Group’s	 balance	 sheet	 and	
is	 being	 recognised	 in	 the	 Group’s	 income	
statement	 as	 the	 recoverable	 costs	 are	
recovered	by	Mundipharma	through	reduction	
of	 royalties	and	sales-related	milestones.	As	
at	31	December	2015,	the	balance	of	deferred	
income	amounted	to	£0.9	million	(2014:	£9.9	
million).	

Non-current assets 
marketed for sale
One	 of	 the	 sites	 in	 Switzerland	 has	 been	
marketed	 for	sale	since	January	2011.	As	at	
31	December	2015,	the	net	book	value	of	the	
site	was	£4.1	million	and	was	recorded	in	the	
Group’s	balance	sheet	under	assets	held	for	
sale.		On	11	March	2016,	an	agreement	was	
signed	to	sell	the	site	for	CHF	9.8	million	(£6.9	
million),	resulting	in	a	profit-on-sale	of	CHF	1.3	
million	(£0.9	million1).	Further	detail	is	provided	
in	 Note	 34:	 Post	 balance	 sheet	 events	 of	
the	 Consolidated	 Financial	 Statements.	 In	
accordance	 with	 IFRS	 5:	 Assets	 Held	 for	
Sale,	no	depreciation	or	impairment	has	been	
recorded	during	the	year	on	this	site.

1 Using exchange rate as at 11 March, 2016. 

Commitments
The	 Group’s	 contractual	 minimum	
commitments	to	its	manufacturing	partner	for	
flutiform®	expired	at	the	end	of	2015.

Pictured: Testing equipment for measuring water content
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Financial review continued

Foreign exchange risks
The	 Group	 is	 subject	 to	 exposure	 on	 the	
translation	of	the	net	assets	of	foreign	currency	
subsidiaries	 into	 its	 reporting	 currency.	 The	
Group’s	 primary	 balance	 sheet	 translation	
exposures	are	 to	 the	Swiss	Franc,	Euro	and	
U.S.	 Dollar.	 The	 Group	 aims	 to	 minimise	
balance	sheet	translation	exposures,	where	it	
is	practical	to	do	so,	by	funding	subsidiaries	
with	 long-term	 loans	whereby	 the	 exchange	
differences	are	taken	to	reserves.	

The	Group	 faces	currency	exposures	arising	
from	the	translation	of	profits	earned	in	foreign	
currency.	These	exposures	are	not	hedged.	

Exposures	 also	 arise	 from	 foreign	 currency	
denominated	trading	transactions	undertaken	
by	 subsidiaries.	 The	 Group’s	 policy	 is	 to	
manage	this	exposure	through	natural	hedges	
in	the	form	of	offsetting	inflows	and	outflows	
in	the	same	foreign	currency	and	maintaining	
borrowings	and	cash	balances	in	the	currency	
of	forecast	cash	inflows	and	outflows.	Where	
it	has	not	been	possible	to	use	natural	hedges,	
currency	 options	 and	 forward	 currency	
contracts	may	be	used.	No	options	or	forward	
contracts	have	been	entered	into	in	2015	and	
2014.

Exchange	 translation	 gains	 and	 losses	
relating	 to	 funding	 (cash	 and	 debt)	 are	
included	 in	 foreign	 exchange	 gain	 or	 loss	
on	 net	 debt,	 other	 realised	 exchange	 gains	
and	 losses	 and	 exchange	 translation	 gains	
and	 losses	 are	 included	 within	 the	 revenue	
or	 expense	 line	 to	 which	 they	 most	 closely	
relate.	 Where	 subsidiaries	 are	 funded	
centrally,	this	is	achieved	by	the	use	of	long-
term	intercompany	loans.	Where	settlement	of	
such	intra-group	loans	is	neither	planned	nor	
likely	to	occur	in	the	foreseeable	future,	they	
are	treated	as	part	of	the	net	investment	and	
exchange	differences	are	taken	to	reserves.	

Forward-looking statements
The	 foregoing	 disclosures	 contain	 certain	
forward-looking	 statements.	 Although	 the	
Board	believes	that	the	expectations	reflected	
in	 these	 forward-looking	 statements	 are	
reasonable,	 it	 can	 give	 no	 assurance	 that	
these	 expectations	will	materialise.	 Because	
the	 expectations	 are	 subject	 to	 risks	 and	
uncertainties,	 actual	 results	 may	 vary	
significantly	from	those	expressed	or	implied	
by	 the	 forward-looking	 statements	 based	
upon	 a	 number	 of	 factors.	 Such	 forward-
looking	 statements	 include	 the	 statements	
under	“Outlook”,	prospects	and	the	continued	
commercial	 success	of	flutiform®	 and	other	
existing	 revenue-generating	 products,	 the	
development	 of	 new	 products,	 risks	 related	
to	 obtaining	 and/or	 maintaining	 regulatory	
approval	 for	 existing,	 new	 or	 expanded	
indications	 of	 existing	 and	 new	 products,	
risks	related	to	the	Group’s	ability	or	that	of	its	
sub-contractors	and	partners	to	manufacture	
products	on	a	large	scale	or	at	all,	risks	related	
to	 the	 Group’s	 and	 its	 marketing	 partners’	
ability	 to	 market	 products	 on	 a	 large	 scale	
to	 maintain	 or	 expand	 market	 share	 in	 the	
face	 of	 changes	 in	 customer	 requirements,	
competition	and	regulatory	and	technological	
change,	 risks	 related	 to	 the	 ownership	 and	
use	 of	 intellectual	 property,	 risks	 related	 to	
the	Group’s	ability	to	manage	growth,	and	the	
risk	of	costs	associated	with	 the	 termination	
of	 the	 lease	 of	 the	 Lyon	 Facility	 in	 June	
2016.	Skyepharma	undertakes	 no	 obligation	
to	 revise	 or	 update	 any	 forward-looking	
statement	to	reflect	events	or	circumstances	
after	the	date	of	this	Annual	Report.
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Corporate Social responsibility report
While	its	prime	responsibility	under	UK	corporate	law	is	to	its	shareholders,	the	Board	recognises	that	the	Group	has	important	responsibilities	
towards	its	employees,	partners,	debt	holders,	suppliers	and	ultimately	to	those	patients	who	benefit	from	its	products.

Each	stakeholder	has	different	interests,	some	of	which	are	listed	below:

Responsibility to patients
Promoting access
The	Group	 does	 not	market	 pharmaceutical	
products	 directly	 to	 patients,	 but	 provides	
its	products,	 technologies	and	know-how	 to	
partner	companies.	The	Group	believes	it	can	
play	 an	 important	 role	 in	 improving	 access	
to	 healthcare	 through	 the	 development	 of	
innovative	 technologies	 and	 solutions	 that	
meet	 major	 areas	 of	 unmet	 medical	 need,	
improve	 patient	 compliance	 and	 outcomes	
and	 reduce	 overall	 costs	 of	 healthcare.	 The	
Group	utilises	its	development	and	regulatory	
expertise	to	support	its	partners	in	bringing	the	
benefits	of	its	products	to	as	many	markets	as	
possible,	including	developing	economies.

Patient safety
Although	our	business	does	not	include	direct	
marketing	and	sales	to	patients,	patient	safety	
is	our	number	one	priority	in	the	development,	
testing,	manufacturing	and	ultimate	use	of	our	
products.	 All	 medicines	 have	 potential	 risks	
as	well	 as	 benefits.	Our	 robust	 policies	 and	
governance	 framework	are	designed	 to	help	

us	 and	 our	 partners	 detect	 and	 act	 on	 any	
side	effects	that	may	be	associated	with	our	
medicines.	We	always	put	patient	safety	first	
in	the	design	and	conduct	of	our	clinical	trials.

Responsibility to employees
Ethics
A	Code	of	Conduct,	which	 includes	a	Code	
of	 Business	 Conduct	 and	 Ethics,	 has	 been	
established	 setting	 out	 the	 Group’s	 core	
values	 for	 treating	 employees,	 commercial	
partners,	authorities	and	the	public	equitably.	
All	 employees	 are	 expected	 to	 act	 with	
integrity	 at	 all	 times.	 The	 Code	 of	 Conduct	
seeks	 to	 ensure	 everyone	 within	 the	 Group	
understands	 how	 to	 put	 our	 values	 into	
practice	 on	 a	 daily	 basis	 and	 provides	 a	
clear	 framework	 for	 making	 decisions	 and	
interacting	 with	 colleagues	 and	 all	 other	
stakeholders.	 Our	 Code	 of	 Conduct	 and	
other	policies	are	reviewed	and	updated	on	a	
regular	basis	to	reinforce	the	importance	our	
values	 play	 in	 protecting	 our	 reputation	 and	
commercial	success.	

Formal	policies	and	procedures	are	reviewed	
regularly	 and	 the	 policies	 listed	 below	
are	 available	 on	 the	 Group’s	 website	 at	
www.skyepharma.com	or	upon	request	 from	
the	Company	Secretary.

All	Group	 employees	 are	 required	 to	 adhere	
to	 specified	 codes	 of	 conduct,	 policies	 and	
procedures,	including,	but	not	limited	to:

•	 Code	of	Business	Conduct	and	Ethics;

•	 Code	of	Ethics	for	Senior	Officers;

•	 Bribery	Policy	and	Anti-Bribery	Procedure;

•	 Complaints	and	Whistleblowing	
Procedure;

•	 Equal	Opportunities	Policy;	and

•	 Environmental	Policy.

Skyepharma

Employees
The Group works to meet its 

responsibilities for the health, safety 
and well-being of its employees, 

and to provide appropriate 
communications and training. 
Further information about its 

employment policies is 
outlined below

Partners
The Group is responsible for the

quality of its research and development 
and products, and for timely and 

collaborative communications 
with its partners

Shareholders
Skyepharma seeks to increase 

shareholder value over the long-term

www.skyepharma.com
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M 54% 46%F

M 100%

M 63% 37%F

Diversity 
Gender diversity
The	 Group	 recognises	 the	 importance	 of	
gender	diversity	and	the	positive	contribution	
of	 diversity	 towards	 its	 overall	 success.	

Although	 there	 were	 no	 female	 members	
on	 the	Board	as	at	31	December	2015,	3	of	
the	 8	members	 of	 the	 key	 Group	 Executive	
Committee	were	 female.	Women	constituted	
46	percent	(2014:	52	percent)	of	the	Group’s	
employees	as	a	whole	at	that	date	including	43	
percent	(2014:	43	percent)	of	the	management	
who	 report	 to	 the	 Chief	 Executive	 Officer.	
The	Group	is	committed	to	providing	flexible	
working	arrangements	 for	employees	and	 to	
providing	 equal	 access	 to	 opportunities	 for	
employees,	regardless	of	gender.	

Racial and geographical diversity
The	 Group	 aims	 to	 foster	 diversity	 through	
developing	 policies	 and	 actions	 which	
support	 the	Board’s	 aims.	 The	Group	 seeks	
individuals	 with	 experience	 in	 the	 business	
and	geographic	markets	 in	which	 the	Group	
operates	 in	 order	 to	 support	 its	 strategic	
objectives.

The	 Group’s	 employees	 are	 from	 many	
different	 backgrounds	 and	 nationalities	
including	 British,	 French,	 German,	 and	
Swiss.	 In	 total,	 the	 Group	 employs	 over	
25	 nationalities.	 The	 Board	 itself	 currently	
includes	 three	 different	 nationalities,	 being	
British,	American	and	German.

Experience diversity
In	 addition,	 our	 employees	 come	 from	 a	
range	 of	 business	 backgrounds,	 not	 purely	
pharmaceutical.	 Indeed,	 of	 the	 Board	
members,	previous	 roles	and	 responsibilities	
include	 those	 in	 the	 supply	 of	 utilities,	
manufacturing,	fast	moving	consumer	goods,	
airline,	publishing	and	financial	services.	

Local employment
The	Group	is	committed	to	local	employment	
with	 sourcing	 mainly	 occurring	 within	
the	 single-market	 European	 Union	 and	
Switzerland	 before	 extending	 the	 search	
beyond	these	borders.

Equal opportunities
Skyepharma	is	committed	to	a	policy	of	equal	
opportunities	 in	 its	 employment	 practices.	
The	 Board	 believes	 that	 the	 contribution	 an	
employee	 can	make	 should	 not	 be	 affected	
by	factors	such	as	gender,	age,	marital	status,	
disability,	 sexual	 orientation,	 race,	 colour,	
religion,	ethnic	or	national	origin	or	any	other	
conditions	not	relevant	to	the	performance	of	
the	job.	The	formal	Equal	Opportunities	Policy	
is	 reviewed	 annually	 and	 is	 available	 on	 the	
Group	 website	 at	 www.skyepharma.com	 or	
upon	request	from	the	Company	Secretary.

Health and safety
The	Board	 recognises	 that	 a	 safe,	 secure	 and	
healthy	 working	 environment	 contributes	 to	
productivity	 and	 improved	 performance	 and	
protects	 the	 well-being	 of	 employees	 and	 the	
public	 at	 large.	The	 health	 and	 safety	 of	 all	 of	
our	employees,	contractors	and	visitors	is	taken	
seriously	 and	 is	 ultimately	 the	 responsibility	 of	
the	Board.	Health	and	Safety	is	a	standing	item	
on	each	Board	and	Management	Team	agenda.

Safety	 and	 environmental	 reports	 on	 research	
and	 development	 activities	 in	 Switzerland	 are	
reviewed	monthly	and	there	is	a	continuous	effort	
to	find	ways	to	improve	working	conditions	and	
safety	at	work.	Independent	safety	audits	of	the	
Muttenz	research	and	development	laboratories	
are	carried	out	every	six	months	and	 resulting	
recommendations	are	carried	out	to	ensure	full	
compliance	with	all	building	and	environmental	
regulations.	

During	 the	 year,	 a	 defibrillator	was	 installed	 at	
our	Muttenz	site	and	employees	were	provided	
with	training	on	how	to	use	it	in	an	emergency.	
Modules	on	defibrillator	training	and	on	general	
site	safety	have	been	added	 to	 the	new	 joiner	
programme	 to	 ensure	 the	 safety	 of	 all	 new	
employees.	 Firefighting	 training	 was	 also	
provided	at	the	Muttenz	site	during	the	year.	A	
health	and	safety	consultant	has	been	engaged	
since	May	2015	to	be	on	site	regularly	throughout	
the	year	 to	answer	any	questions	and	provide	
updates	 on	 health	 and	 safety	 regulations	 and	
ensure	the	Group	complies.

During	 2015,	 crane	 and	 loading	 equipment	
was	 installed	 in	 Muttenz	 to	 aid	 logistical	 and	
site	 management	 requirements.	 Training	
was	 provided	 for	 this	 machinery	 to	 relevant	
employees,	 as	 well	 as	 for	 the	 handling	 of	 fire	
extinguishers	 and	 hazardous	 chemicals	 for	 all	
our	Switzerland-based	employees.	We	actively	
maintain	 a	 log	 of	 incidents	 that	 occur	 in	 our	
facilities	to	enable	the	Group	to	better	address	
safety	concerns.	With	this	information,	the	Group	
installed	new	flooring	that	would	reduce	slips	or	
falls	 and	 also	 placed	 more	 prevalent	 signage	
pointing	out	the	potential	slippery	nature	of	the	
facility.	We	believe	that	this	has	further	increased	
the	 safety	 of	 our	 main	 facility	 in	 Switzerland.	
In	 addition	 to	 the	 above,	 an	 “occupational	
risk	 assessment	 at	 the	 workplace”	 as	 well	 as	
chemical	 risk	 assessments	 were	 performed	
to	 further	 ensure	 the	 health	 and	 safety	 of	 all	
employees.

The	 Group	 has	 an	 excellent	 safety	 record	
and	 there	 have	 been	 no	 incidents	 to	 report	
to	 the	 Health	 and	 Safety	 Executive	 in	 the	
United	Kingdom	or	 to	 the	equivalent	bodies	 in	
Switzerland.

Overall gender breakdown

Board breakdown

Group Executive  
Committee breakdown

Corporate Social responsibility report continued
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Disabled employees
It	 is	 Group	 policy	 to	 offer	 the	 same	
opportunities	 to	 disabled	 people	 as	 to	 all	
others	 in	 matters	 of	 recruitment	 and	 career	
advancement,	provided	 they	have	 the	ability	
to	 perform	 the	 tasks	 required.	 Training	 is	
considered	where	appropriate,	and	retraining	
and	other	support	is	provided,	where	practical,	
in	cases	where	disability	has	occurred	during	
employment	with	the	Group.

Employee communication  
and involvement
The	Group	is	committed	to	a	policy	of	promoting	
employees’	 awareness	 and	 understanding	
of	 its	 business	 strategy	 and	 activities,	
encouraging	participation	in	the	growth	of	the	
Group	and	welcoming	 feedback	and	 input	at	
all	 levels.	 Information	 about	 financial	 results,	
strategic	 developments	 and	 other	 important	
news	flow	is	communicated	in	a	timely	manner,	
using	the	Group	 intranet,	email	and	town	hall	
or	 departmental	meetings.	Meetings	 between	
senior	management	 and	 employees	 are	 held	
regularly.	 Given	 the	 small	 size	 of	 the	 Group,	
it	 is	 recognised	 that	 the	most	 important	 form	
of	communication	between	management	and	
employees	 takes	 place	 during	 informal	 daily	
discussions.

Consultations	 are	 organised	 to	 enable	 the	
opinions	 and	 views	 of	 employees	 to	 be	
reflected	 in	 decisions	 affecting	 their	 direct	
interests.	 In	 Switzerland,	 employees	 can	
discuss	 any	 business	 or	 personal	 concerns	
with	the	Human	Resources	Manager.

Group	policies,	revisions	to	policies	and	other	
items	 of	 interest	 are	 communicated	 through	
the	 Group	 intranet,	 with	 policies	 provided	 in	
English	 and	 German,	 reflecting	 the	 principal	
languages	 spoken	 by	 employees	 of	 the	
Group.	 Management	 continues	 to	 review	
employee	communication	channels	to	identify	
opportunities	for	further	improvement.

The	 Group	 is	 committed	 to	 helping	 its	
employees	 achieve	 a	 good	work-life	 balance	
and	 to	 pursuing	 personnel	 policies	 and	
practices	 which	 support	 employees	 facing	
family	 or	 personal	 difficulties.	 The	 Group	 is	
flexible	 in	 negotiating	working	 time	 as	 far	 as	
practicable	within	the	needs	of	the	business.

Remuneration	 is	 determined	 on	 an	 annual	
basis	 by	 the	 Remuneration	 Committee	 and	
Executive	Directors	as	appropriate.	The	Group	
attracts	and	retains	employees	of	a	high	calibre	
by	 offering	 remuneration	 that	 is	 in	 line	 with	
that	offered	by	industry	competitors	and	local	
practice	 in	the	countries	 in	which	 it	operates.	
The	Group	provides	 training	 to	employees	 to	
facilitate	their	further	career	development	and	
encourages	 staff	 to	 extend	 their	 skills	 and	
their	knowledge	of	 the	pharmaceutical	sector	
where	 appropriate,	 for	 example	 by	 attending	
external	courses	and	workshops.	In	2015,	the	
Group	provided	833	hours	of	 training	 in	 total	
to	 employees,	 constituting	 an	 average	of	 8.5	
hours	per	employee.

All	 employees	 are	 eligible	 to	 participate	 in	
the	 Group’s	 share	 purchase	 scheme,	 which	
was	 relaunched	 during	 the	 prior	 year.	 This	
has	 resulted	 in	 a	 significant	 increase	 in	 the	
number	 of	 Group	 employees	 participating	
and	purchasing	shares	through	monthly	salary	
contributions	 which	 are	 then	 matched	 with	
free	 shares	 by	 the	 Company,	 provided	 the	
participants	remain	employed	at	the	end	of	the	
three	year	vesting	period.	

The	Group	strives	to	put	in	place	and	implement	
policies	and	practices	designed	to	attract	and	
retain	 staff	 and	 minimise	 employee	 turnover.	
Staff	 turnover	 in	2015	was	13.9	percent,	with	
3.0	 percent	 of	 the	workforce	 employed	 on	 a	
temporary	basis.

The	Group	also	supports	the	right	to	freedom	
of	 association	 of	 its	 employees.	 Although	
no	 formal	 policy	 for	 this	 exists,	 we	 believe	
it	 a	 fundamental	 right	of	 all	 employees	 to	be	
able	 to	 freely	 associate	 themselves	 with	 any	
associations	 or	 organisations	 they	 wish	 to,	
provided	it	does	not	result	in	direct	competition	
to	 or	 bring	 the	 Group	 into	 disrepute,	 aid	
terrorism	 or	 involve	 any	 illegal	 activities.	 A	
statement	 to	 this	 effect	 is	 included	 in	 every	
employment	contract.

Industry and community relations
The	 Group	 is	 a	 member	 of	 the	 BioIndustry	
Association	(“BIA”),	the	UK-based	trade	body	
for	the	biotechnology	sector.	The	Company’s	
General	 Counsel	 and	 Company	 Secretary	
is	 Chairman	 of	 the	 BIA	 Intellectual	 Property	
Advisory	Committee.

Non-compliance
During	 the	 year,	 there	 were	 no	 instances	
of	 non-compliance	 of	 labour	 issues	 by	 the	
Company	or	any	employees	within	the	Group.

The Group recognises the importance of gender diversity

www.skyepharma.com
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Responsibility towards the environment
Environment
The	Group	is	committed	to	protecting	the	environment	in	all	areas	of	its	operations.	The	Group’s	Environmental	Policy	aims	to	foster	a	positive	
attitude	towards	the	environment	among	employees	and	to	raise	employee	awareness	of	responsible	environmental	practices	at	all	sites	operated	
by	the	Group.	The	Group	endeavours	to	ensure	compliance	with	all	relevant	legislation	and	regulatory	requirements	and,	where	practical	and	
economically	viable,	to	exceed	such	requirements.	The	General	Counsel	and	Company	Secretary	has	responsibility	for	reporting	on	relevant	
environmental	matters	to	the	Board.	There	have	been	no	reportable	incidents	in	2015	at	any	of	the	Group’s	operations.

The	Group’s	Environmental	Policy,	which	is	reviewed	annually,	is	available	on	the	Group	website	at	www.skyepharma.com	or	upon	request	from	
the	Company	Secretary.	

Our carbon footprint
The	Group’s	annual	greenhouse	gas	(“GHG”)	emissions	profile	for	2015	compared	with	the	2014	baseline	is	shown	below.	In	addition,	the	intensity	
ratio	is	appropriate	for	our	business	aligning	with	the	requirements	of	the	Companies	Act	2006	(Strategic	and	Directors’	Report)	Regulations	2013.

GHG emissions

 -

 100

 200

 300

 400
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 600

Oil Waste management Electricity use

Energy-useEnergy-use
Scope 1

Energy-use
Scope 1 Scope 2

2014 tCO2e 530 26 236
2015 tCO2e 350 27 178

Corporate Social responsibility continued
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Control
The	 ‘control’	 approach	 to	 GHG	 emissions	
reporting	 varies	 from	 the	 preparation	 of	
the	 financial	 statements,	 which	 have	 been	
prepared	under	 the	equity	method.	The	data	
reported	 exclude	 the	 Lyon	 Facility,	 owned	
by	 Skyepharma	 Production	 SAS	 as	 well	 as	
an	 additional	 building	 located	 in	 Muttenz,	
Switzerland,	both	of	which	have	been	leased	
to	 Aenova.	 Aenova	 controls	 production	 at	
the	 Lyon	 Facility	 and,	 therefore,	 have	 been	
deemed	 to	 be	 responsible	 for	 all	 emissions	
arising.	 Emissions	 data	 for	 the	 additional	
building	 were	 included	 in	 2014	 for	 the	 ten	
months	 up	 to	October	 2014,	 at	which	 point	
the	building	was	leased	to	Aenova,	who	then	
became	responsible	 for	 running	costs	of	 the	
building.	Emissions	data	 for	 the	Head	Office	
in	 London	 is	 considered	 to	 be	 negligible	 for	
these	purposes.

Carbon
We	 have	 seen	 reductions	 in	 our	 overall	
tCO2e	/	£m	intensity	of	46%.

Water
A	 further	 investment	 in	 Muttenz	 was	 made	
to	reduce	the	volume	of	water	consumed	by	
pharmaceutical	activities.	

In	 2015,	 our	 water	 usage	 was	 reduced	 by	
27%	mainly	 due	 to	 the	 non-inclusion	 of	 the	
building	 leased	 to	 Aenova	 in	 Swtizerland.		
This	 respresents	 a	 reduction	 from	 the	 2014	
baseline.	We	used	4,716	m3	of	water	during	
the	year	in	our	operations	and	strive	to	identify	
opportunities	 to	 cut	 usage.	 Measuring	 and	
reducing	 our	 wider	 water	 usage	 across	 the	
business	–	not	just	the	amount	we	use	in	our	
Switzerland	manufacturing	 facility	 –	 is	 more	
challenging	but	we	continue	 to	manage	and	
monitor	our	water	use	effectively.

Waste
During	2015,	the	Group	generated	27	tonnes	
of	waste	 (2014:	 26	 tonnes)	 and	 recycled	 14	
tonnes	of	this	(2014:	7.2	tonnes).	The	increase	
in	 waste	 was	 a	 result	 of	 both	 the	 Group’s	
growth	 in	 activities	 and	 the	 specialised	
destruction	in	the	year	of	batches	of	chemicals	
and	other	materials	no	longer	required.	

The	Group	also	invested	in	improved	security	
measures	 to	 ensure	 finished	 products	 that	
do	not	meet	quality	standards	are	destroyed	
appropriately	 as	 well	 as	 to	 prevent	 theft	 of	
these	 sub-par	 finished	 products.	 This	 also	
includes	the	handling	of	chemical	wastes	and	
their	transport	to	the	destruction	containers.

Other environmental matters
The	Environmental	Performance	Index	(“EPI”)	
is	 a	 method	 of	 quantifying	 and	 numerically	
marking	 the	environmental	performance	of	a	
country’s	policies.	This	index	was	developed	
from	 the	 Pilot	 Environmental	 Performance	
Index,	 first	published	 in	2002,	and	designed	
to	 supplement	 the	 environmental	 targets	
set	 forth	 in	 the	 United	 Nations	 Millennium	
Development	 Goals.	 The	 EPI	 is	 constructed	
through	 the	 calculation	 and	 aggregation	
of	 20	 indicators	 reflecting	 national-level	
environmental	 data.	 These	 indicators	 are	
combined	 into	 nine	 issue	 categories,	 each	
of	 which	 fit	 under	 one	 of	 two	 overarching	
objectives,	 being	 environmental	 health	 and	
ecosystem	vitality.	Switzerland	 is	 ranked	 the	
sixteenth	 cleanest	 country	 in	 the	world	with	
an	 EPI	 score1	 of	 86.93.	 The	 Group’s	 main	
operating	entity	is	situated	in	Switzerland	and	
by	 operating	 within	 Switzerland,	 the	 Group	
has	to	comply	with	strict	local	laws	and	

regulations,	 reinforcing	 the	 Group’s	 overall	
commitment	 to	 lowering	 carbon	 emissions	
and	contributing	to	a	cleaner	environment.

The	 Group’s	 oral	 technologies	 also	 enable	
customer	 companies	 to	 reduce	 their	
environmental	impact	by	reducing	the	number	
of	tablets	to	be	taken	per	day.	This	lowers	the	
number	of	tablets	that	need	to	be	produced,	
bottled	or	packed	and	transported,	 reducing	
the	 environmental	 impact	 of	 the	 tablets	
themselves	as	well	as	cardboard,	plastic	and/
or	glass	packaging	needs	and	transportation	
requirements	over	the	longer	term.

On	behalf	of	the	Board

Peter Grant 	
Chief	Executive	Officer	
15	March	2016

1	2016 ranking as per http://epi.yale.edu/country-rankings

Whole portfolio carbon generation
2015 tCO2e 2014	tCO2e %	change

Scope 1 Energy-use Oil 350 530 (34)

Waste management 27 26 4 

Scope 2 Energy-use Electricity use 178 236 (25)

Total 555 792 (30)

Intensity

tCO2e	/	£m	turnover 5.8 10.7 (46)

Data notes
Reporting period 1	January	2015	to	31	December	2015

Baseline year 2014	(restated)

Boundary Operational	control

Reporting method The	Greenhouse	Gas	(GHG)	Protocol	Corporate	Accounting	and	Reporting	Standard

Emissions factor source Defra,	May	2015	–	www.ukconversionfactorscarbonsmart.co.uk

Data changes and restatements We	have	restated	our	2014	baseline	emissions	figures	in	response	to	changes	made	by	Defra	to	the	suite	of	UK	conversion	factors

www.skyepharma.com
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Risk Management and Internal Control

Internal accountability
The	 Board	 has	 overall	 responsibility	 for	 the	
Group’s	 system	 of	 risk	 management	 and	
internal	control.	The	Audit	Committee	reviews	
the	 effectiveness	 of	 the	 system	 at	 least	
annually	on	behalf	of	the	Board,	and	with	this	
review	having	been	carried	out	and	reported	
to	the	Board,	the	Board	continues	to	believe	
that	 the	 system	 is	 effective	 in	 safeguarding	
shareholders’	 interests	 and	 the	 Group’s	
assets.	Executive	management	is	responsible	
for	 the	 day-to-day	 management	 of	 risk	
including	 the	 design	 and	 implementation	 of	
the	necessary	systems	of	internal	control.

Such	 a	 system	can	only	 provide	 reasonable	
and	not	absolute	assurance	against	material	
misstatement	or	loss,	nor	can	it	eliminate	the	
risk	of	failure.	In	accordance	with	the	Internal	
Control	 Guidance	 for	 Directors	 issued	 by	
the	 Financial	 Reporting	 Council,	 there	 is	 an	
ongoing	 process	 for	 identifying,	 evaluating	
and	managing	 the	 significant	 risks	 faced	 by	
the	Group.	This	process	has	been	in	place	for	
the	year	under	 review	and	up	 to	 the	date	of	
the	 Annual	 Report.	 No	 significant	 failings	 or	
weaknesses	were	identified	in	the	most	recent	
review	by	the	Audit	Committee.

The	Board	operates,	and	attaches	importance	
to,	clear	principles	and	procedures	designed	
to	 achieve	 the	 accountability	 and	 controls	
appropriate	 to	 a	 science-based	 business	
operating	internationally	in	a	highly	regulated	
business	 sector.	 The	 Board	 has	 established	
an	organisational	structure	with	clearly-drawn	
lines	 of	 accountability	 and	 delegation	 of	
authority.

Financial	 results	 and	 key	 operational	 and	
financial	performance	indicators	are	reported	
regularly	 throughout	 the	 year	 and	 variances	
from	 plans	 and	 budgets	 are	 investigated	
and	 reported.	 The	 Group	 has	 a	 system	 of	
high	 level	financial	control	procedures	which	
are	 supplemented	 by	 detailed	 procedures	
at	 each	 operating	 entity.	 Compliance	 with	
these	 procedures	 is	monitored	 by	 the	 Audit	
Committee	through	its	reviews	of	internal	and	
external	audit	findings,	together	with	reviews	
of	 exceptions	 and	 regular	management	 and	
financial	reporting.

Since	2006,	internal	audit	reviews	have	been	
carried	out	by	a	qualified	member	of	the	Head	
Office	 team,	 in	 a	 similar	way	 to	many	 other	
businesses	 of	 the	 Group’s	 size.	 Appropriate	
assistance	with	 internal	audit	 is	obtained	on	
a	 consultancy	 basis	 as	 required.	 The	 Audit	
Committee	reviews	this	policy	each	year	and	
it	has	concluded	that	this	approach	remained	
appropriate	for	2015.

Principal risks  
and uncertainties
Pharmaceutical	 development	 is	 inherently	
expensive	 and	 risky	 as	 the	 development	
cycle	for	new	products	is	long	and	uncertain	
and	 the	 regulatory	 environment	 is	 complex	
and	 subject	 to	 change.	 In	 common	 with	
all	 businesses	 in	 the	 sector,	 the	 Group	 is	
exposed	 to	a	 range	of	 risks,	 some	of	which	
are	 not	 wholly	 within	 its	 control	 or	 capable	
of	complete	mitigation	or	protection	 through	
insurance.	 Accordingly,	 stakeholders	 and	
prospective	 stakeholders	 should	 be	 aware	
that	 investment	 in	 Skyepharma	 involves	 a	
high	degree	of	risk.

The	 Group	 has	 identified,	 actively	 monitors	
and	is	taking	action	to	mitigate	many	different	
risks.	This	section	does	not	include	them	all,	
but	focuses	on	those	risks	that	the	Directors	
believe	 to	 be	 the	 most	 important	 that	 are	
currently	 faced	by	 the	business.	Some	 risks	
may	be	unknown	at	present.	Others,	currently	
regarded	as	not	key,	could	become	material	
risks	in	the	future.

The	Board	has	established	a	routine	process	
for	 identifying,	 evaluating	 and	managing	 the	
principal	risks	faced	by	the	Group.	The	Board	
regularly	 reviews	 the	process	and	a	detailed	
review	of	 risks	was	undertaken	by	 the	Audit	
Committee	during	2015.	
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Audit
Committee

Executive
Management

Board The Board reviews the Group's system of 
risk management and internal control. 

The Audit Committee reviews the 
effectiveness of internal control on behalf 
of the Board, providing assurance to 
the Board.

Executive Management across the Group 
maintain a register to monitor and track the 
key risks of functional areas and develop 
mitigating actions.
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The	assessment	of	the	principal	risks	and	uncertainties	facing	the	Group	has	remained	broadly	unchanged	over	the	past	year.	Details	of	each	of	
these	risks	are	set	out	below:	

Risk Summary Strategic Impact Description and Potential Impact Examples of Mitigation

Risks	that	
operations	may	
be	disrupted	or	
unable	to	cope	
with	demand

Growth  
(revenue	impact)	

The	Group’s	business	is	complex	and	
is	dependent	on	it	and	its	suppliers	and	
partners	maintaining	and	developing	the	
appropriate	capabilities	to	meet	contractual	
and	regulatory	requirements	and	exploit	
business	opportunities.

The	manufacture	of	flutiform®	is	
performed	by	Sanofi	under	an	agreement	
which	continues	until	at	least	2020.	It	is	
automatically	renewed	bi-annually	unless	
terminated	by	either	party	with	24	months’	
notice.		

Any	significant	disruption	to,	or	inability	to	
meet	demand	in,	the	Group’s	research	and	
development	and	supply	operations,	or	those	
of	key	third	party	suppliers	and	partners,	
could	result	in	lost	revenues	and	business	
opportunities,	stock	shortages,	liabilities	
and	significant	damage	to	profitability	and	
prospects	of	the	Group.

The	Group	maintains	a	system	of	quality	
assurance.	

Where	possible,	alternative	sources	of	supply	
are	sought	and	contracts	are	negotiated	
to	include	appropriate	provisions	for	
replacement	of	defective	goods.	

The	Group	has	appropriate	insurance,	but	it	is	
not	possible	to	insure	against	all	risks	and	not	
all	insurable	risks	can	be	fully	insured	on	an	
economically	feasible	basis.

The	Group	has	committed	to	significant	
investment	in	increasing	the	capacity	for	
production	of	flutiform®.	

Risks	that	
competition,	
technological	
change	or	lack	
of	innovation	
may	damage	
prospects	for	the	
business

Growth 
(profitability)

The	Group	has	a	number	of	pipeline	
developments	and	revenue-generating	
products	which	are	at	various	stages	of	their	
developmental	and	commercial	lives.	The	
successful	development,	commercial	success	
and	life	of	regulated	pharmaceutical	products	
depends	upon	a	range	of	factors	such	as	
having	adequate	product	innovation	and	
development	strategies,	how	successfully	
products	are	marketed,	the	overall	
competitive	environment	including	generics,	
the	effectiveness	of	patent	protection,	
continued	innovation,	technological	progress	
and	constraints	on	healthcare	spending.	

This	can	lead	to	lower	income	streams	from	
the	Group’s	pipeline	developments	and	
existing	products.	

The	Group	files	for	and	prosecutes	patents	
and	other	forms	of	intellectual	property	and,	
in	conjunction	with	its	partners,	takes	steps	
to	enforce	these	rights.	Third	party	rights	that	
may	be	of	interest	to	and/or	have	adverse	
effects	on	the	Group’s	activities	are	also	
monitored	so	that	action	can	be	initiated	
where	appropriate.	

The	Group	is	developing	a	number	of	
products	and	technologies	which	are	aimed	
at	spreading	the	dependency	on	current	
approved	products	and	providing	new	
revenue	streams.

Risk	that	
pharmaceutical	
and	technology	
development	will	
fail	or	there	are	
issues	with	safety	
or	efficacy

Growth 
(profitability)

Pharmaceutical	and	technology	development	
is	inherently	risky	and	there	can	be	no	
certainty	of	achieving	a	positive	outcome	or	
return	from	developments.	The	development	
cycle	for	new	products	is	long	and	uncertain	
and	the	regulatory	environment	is	complex	
and	subject	to	change.	Clinical	testing	may	
not	accurately	predict	safety	or	effectiveness	
in	broader	human	use.	For	a	new	potential	
product	or	technology,	it	can	be	difficult	to	
establish	from	available	data	a	meaningful	
and	reliable	assessment	of	its	eventual	
efficacy	and/or	safety	in	the	market.	

If	developments	fail,	or	products	or	
technologies	are	withdrawn,	or	there	are	
issues	with	safety	or	efficacy,	this	can	have	
a	significant	impact	on	profitability	and	
prospects	of	the	Group.

The	Group	seeks	a	mix	of	development	work	
to	balance	higher	risk	development	projects	
against	lower	risk,	but	potentially	less	
remunerative,	opportunities.

The	Group	seeks	to	follow	the	guidelines	of	
the	relevant	regulatory	bodies	and	conducts	
trials	in	accordance	with	prevailing	practice	
and	statutory/regulatory	requirements.

www.skyepharma.com
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Risk Management and Internal Control continued

Risk Summary Strategic Impact Description and Potential Impact Examples of Mitigation

Risks	arising	from	
inability	to	control	
or	influence	
commercialisation	
of	products	
and	the	income	
streams	related	to	
them

Growth 
(profitability)

The	Group	is	dependent	on	partners	for	
obtaining	regulatory	approval	and	marketing	
of	products.	Once	partners	have	obtained	
approval	and	launched	the	products,	the	
Group	may	be	entitled	to	revenue	based	on	
a	proportion	of	net	sales	or	share	of	revenue	
of	these	products.	In	many	cases,	the	Group	
has	limited	or	no	influence	over	the	approval	
process,	manufacture	and	marketing	of	the	
product	from	which	it	receives	revenue.	

This	can	lead	to	the	unpredictable	cessation	
of	part	of	the	Group’s	income	streams.

The	Group	mitigates	this	risk	by	maintaining	
regular	dialogue	with	partners	and	monitoring	
compliance	with	contractual	obligations.

Risk	that	the	
Group	fails	
to	retain	key	
personnel	or	
attract	new	
personnel

Growth  
(profitability)

The	Group	relies	upon	a	number	of	key	
qualified	management,	scientific,	technical,	
marketing	and	support	personnel.	
Competition	for	such	personnel	is	intense,	
and	there	can	be	no	assurance	that	the	Group	
will	be	able	to	continue	to	attract	and	retain	
such	personnel.	

The	loss	of	key	executives	or	employees	
could	adversely	affect	the	Group’s	business.	

The	Group	has	identified	deputies	for	most	
key	roles	within	the	business	as	well	as	having	
plans	for	cover	if	key	people	are	absent.

The	Remuneration	Committee	reviews	
annually	the	remuneration	packages	of	key	
personnel	to	ensure	they	remain	appropriately	
competitive.	A	range	of	benefits,	including	
long-term	incentive	plans,	are	utilised	to	
encourage	retention	of	key	personnel.

Risk	of	
dependency	on	
key	customers	or	
products

Growth  
(profitability)

The	Group	currently	generates	a	significant	
proportion	of	its	revenue	from	flutiform®	and	
a	limited	number	of	other	products.	

Development	cycles	cover	many	years,	and	
it	is	likely	to	take	time	for	such	dependencies	
to	be	significantly	reduced.	Should	revenues	
from	a	key	product	cease	or	substantially	
reduce,	this	could	have	a	material	adverse	
effect	on	the	Group’s	profitability	and	
prospects.

The	Board	regularly	reviews	its	strategic	
plan	which	includes	assessing	the	risk	of	
dependency	on	any	one	partner	or	product	
and	setting	targets	to	develop	new	business	
to	broaden	the	Group’s	product	and/or	partner	
portfolio.

Risk	that	there	
is	disruption	or	
unexpected	losses	
from	the	Lyon	
Facility	when	the	
lease	terminates

Growth  
(profitability)

The	lease	to	Aenova	of	the	Lyon	Facility	
and	related	business	expires	at	the	end	of	
June	2016	and	the	transfer	of	control	back	
to	Skyepharma	will	involve	operational,	
regulatory	and	financial	risk.	The	Facility	is	
dependent	on	relatively	few	products	and	is	
currently	loss	making.	

There	can	be	no	assurance	that	losses	will	
not	be	higher	than	anticipated	and	this	could	
affect	the	performance	of	the	Group	as	a	
whole.

A	reintegration	team	has	been	established	
to	co-ordinate	a	smooth	transition	of	the	
Lyon	Facility	back	to	Skyepharma’s	control.	
In	2015,	the	team	has	performed	a	review	of	
Aenova’s	performance	under	its	obligations	
to	maintain	the	facility	in	preparation	for	the	
lease	termination.	

The	Group	is	also	looking	into	ways	to	
increase	both	third	party	and	internal	Group	
activity	that	could	be	undertaken	at	the	
Facility	to	increase	utilisation	and	prospects	
of	viability.	An	experienced	new	General	
Manager	has	been	appointed	to	lead	the	
Facility	following	the	transfer	of	control	back	
to	Skyepharma.

Risk	that	
flutiform®	may	
not	achieve	
continued	
commercial	
success

Growth  
(revenue)

There	can	be	no	assurance	that	flutiform®	
will	continue	to	be	commercially	successful	as	
this	depends	on	a	range	of	factors.	The	risks	
relating	to	the	product	are	detailed	above	but	
since	the	success	of	flutiform®	is	critical	to	
the	Group,	the	specific	overall	risk	relating	
to	flutiform®	is	detailed	in	addition	to	the	
individual	risks	above.

Regular	meetings	are	held	with	all	parties	
involved	in	the	flutiform®	supply	chain	to	
maintain	and	increase	the	continuing	supply	
of	the	product.	The	Group’s	regulatory	
and	technical	experts	are	closely	involved	
in	monitoring	product	performance	and	
maintaining	compliance	to	cope	with	the	
needs	of	licensees,	regulators	and	markets.
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Viability statement
In	accordance	with	the	new	provisions	in	the	
UK	Corporate	Governance	Code	(C2.2	of	the	
2014	 revision),	 the	 Directors	 have	 assessed	
the	 viability	 of	 the	 Group	 over	 a	 three-year	
period.	The	Directors’	 assessment	has	been	
made	 with	 reference	 to	 the	 Group’s	 current	
strategy,	 strong	 balance	 sheet	 including	
availability	of	 the	£25	million	 revolving	credit	
facility	 and	 the	 Group’s	 principal	 risks	 as	
described	in	this	Strategic	Report.	

Whilst	the	Directors	have	no	reason	to	believe	
the	 Group	 will	 not	 be	 viable	 over	 a	 longer	
period,	 a	 three-year	 period	 is	 considered	
appropriate	given	the	nature	of	forecasting	in	
the	 pharmaceutical	 market	 and	 the	 Group’s	
principal	risks	and	uncertainties.	This	period	is	
more	than	double	the	outlook	period	used	for	
the	going	concern	assessment	and	 is	within	
the	term	of	the	Group’s	revolving	credit	facility.	
This	period	therefore	provides	the	Board	with	
a	reasonable	degree	of	confidence	while	still	
providing	an	appropriate	longer-term	outlook.

In	 making	 their	 assessment,	 the	 Directors	
have	 undertaken	 a	 sensitivity	 analysis	 of	 its	
forecast	 cash	 flows	 and	 liquidity.	 The	 key	
assumptions	 underpinning	 the	 assessment	
during	the	period	cover	the	following	areas:	

•	 flutiform®	product	supply	capacity	and	
output	to	enable	the	Group	to	meet	
partner	demand	and	implementation	of	
investments	to	expand	manufacturing	
capacity;

•	 Growth	rates	for	supply	volume	of	
flutiform®	and	operating	margin	earned	
on	product	supply	revenue;

•	 Manufacturing	and	assembly	of	
flutiform®	by	Sanofi	continues	in	line	with	
contractual	obligations;

•	 flutiform®	net	in-market	sales	prices	
based	on	the	Group’s	expectations	of	
product	supply	volumes;

•	 The	growth	rate	for	the	GSK	Ellipta®	
products	based	on	forecasts	by	analysts	
following	GSK;

•	 The	growth	rate	of	EXPAREL®	inflows	
from	the	Group’s	share	of	net	sales	and	
receipt	of	relevant	milestones	based	on	
forecasts	by	analysts	following	Pacira;

•	 The	leasing	arrangements	with	Aenova	for	
the	Lyon	Facility	terminating	on	30	June	
2016	and	the	operations	returning	to	the	
Group	on	1	July	2016;	and	

•	 Net	investment	in	research	and	
development	remains	within	the	Board’s	
target	of	10	to	15	percent	of	sales.	

The	principal,	plausible	downside	stress	tests	
in	accordance	with	the	Group’s	principal	risk	
and	uncertainties	are:	

•	 A	significant	reduction	in	product	supply	
inflows	for	flutiform®	from	either	a	
reduction	in	demand	from	the	Group’s	
partners	or	an	inability	to	supply.	This	
factors	in	the	impact	on	raw	material	and	
contract	manufacturing	prices	from	lower	
volumes;

•	 A	higher	decrease	of	in-market	sales	
prices	for	flutiform®	from	competition,	
technological	change	or	regulatory	body	
action;

•	 Significantly	higher	capital	investment	to	
increase	capacity	for	flutiform®;

•	 Slower	than	expected	growth	in	the	
Group’s	share	of	net	sales	of	EXPAREL®	
and	royalties	from	the	GSK	Ellipta®	
products;

•	 Significantly	higher	capital	investments	
and	losses	following	the	return	of	the	
Lyon	Facility;	and

•	 Higher	net	investment	in	research	and	
development.

As	a	worst	case,	the	impact	of	these	downside	
scenarios	were	 assessed	 in	 combination	 on	
the	Group’s	liquidity.	

Based	on	the	assessment	and	stress	testing,	
the	Directors	have	a	 reasonable	expectation	
that	 the	 Group	 will	 be	 able	 to	 continue	 in	
operation	 and	meet	 its	 liabilities	 as	 they	 fall	
due	over	a	three-year	period.	

Going concern 
At	 the	 time	 of	 approving	 the	 financial	
statements	 the	 Directors	 have	 a	 reasonable	
expectation	 that	 the	 Company	 and	 the	
Group	have	adequate	 resources	 to	 continue	
in	 operational	 existence	 for	 the	 foreseeable	
future.	Thus	they	continue	to	adopt	the	going	
concern	basis	of	accounting	in	preparing	the	
2015	Annual	Report.

Strategic Report approval
The	 Strategic	 Report,	 on	 pages	 03	 to	 37,	
incorporates:		

•	 Market	Overview;

•	 Our	Business	Model;

•	 Our	Strategy;

•	 Operating	Review;

•	 Financial	Review;

•	 Key	Performance	Indicators;	and

•	 Risk	Management	and	Internal	Control	
Report	which	includes	the	viability	and	
going	concern	statements	and	the	
Corporate	Social	Responsibility	Report.

By	order	of	the	Board

Peter Grant 	
Chief	Executive	Officer	
15	March	2016

www.skyepharma.com
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The Board places great emphasis 
on effective communications 
with shareholders. The Executive 
Management team receives regular 
direct feedback on the views of 
shareholders as well as third-party 
feedback.

“ 

”
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Directors and Officers

Frank Condella
Non-Executive Chairman and Chairman of the Nomination & Governance Committee

Appointment to the Board
Frank Condella (aged 61) became Non-Executive Chairman on 1 January 2010, having 
originally joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer in March 2006. He was first appointed 
to the Board in April 2006, stepping down as Chief Executive Officer on 1 September 2008, 
remaining on the Board as an Executive Director until 1 November 2008 when he became a 
Non-Executive Director. He became Chairman of the Nomination & Governance Committee 
following the resignation of Jean-Charles Tschudin on 31 December 2015.

Experience
Frank Condella has over 30 years’ experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He is President, 
Chief Executive Officer and a Director of Juniper Pharmaceuticals Inc. Previously, he has served 
as a Non-Executive Director of Fulcrum Pharma Ltd and Prosonix Ltd and was President of 
European Operations at IVAX, Chief Executive Officer of Faulding Pharmaceuticals, Vice-
President of the Specialty Care Products business at Roche and Vice-President and General 
Manager of the Lederle unit of American Home Products (Pfizer). He is a US citizen and holds 
a BS in Pharmacy and an MBA from Northeastern University.

Peter Grant
Chief Executive Officer

Appointment to the Board
Peter Grant (aged 60) was appointed Chief Executive Officer on 31 January 2012. He joined the 
Company and was appointed to the Board as Chief Financial Officer in November 2006 and, 
on taking the Chief Executive role, retained responsibility for the Group’s financial matters up 
to 25 November 2013.

Experience
Previously, Peter Grant was Interim Chief Executive Officer of Voice Commerce Group, Group 
Finance Director at Eurodis Electron PLC, Chief Financial Officer at WorldPay plc and Group 
Finance Director, then Group Chief Executive at Molins PLC. Prior to this he held a variety of 
senior commercial, financial and general management roles in the General Electric Company 
plc group of companies. He holds an MA in Mathematics from Oxford University and is a 
Chartered Accountant. Peter Grant is a Non-Executive Director of Abzena plc.

Andrew Derodra
Chief Financial Officer 

Appointment to the Board
Andrew Derodra (aged 49) was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 25 November 2013.

Experience
Andrew Derodra has spent over 25 years working in senior finance and strategic roles within 
five FTSE100 groups, most recently with Tate & Lyle PLC where he was Group Vice President 
Finance & Control from 2011. Prior to that he was with SABMiller PLC, where he held a 
succession of roles culminating in Business Transformation Director – Europe, before which 
he was with Diageo PLC, British Airways PLC and Reed Elsevier PLC. He is a Fellow of the 
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and holds a BA (Hons) in Mathematics from 
Oxford University.

n

   Member of the Audit Committee

    Member of the Nomination & Governance Committee

    Member of the Remuneration Committee

Additional information regarding Directors’ roles and membership of Board 
Committees is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 47 to 50.
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Dr Thomas Werner
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee

Appointment to the Board
Thomas Werner (aged 59) was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director in May 
2009 and appointed as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director on 1 January 2016. He 
is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and is a member of the Audit and Nomination & 
Governance Committees. 

Experience
Thomas Werner has over 30 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry, previously 
as Senior Vice President of GlaxoSmithKline where he was Managing Director for Germany 
and also coordinated their European oncology business. Prior to that, he was responsible for 
Glaxo Wellcome Germany and Central Europe, Bristol-Myers Squibb Germany and Convatec 
Germany/Central Europe. Dr. Werner sits on the Boards of Basilea Pharmaceutica Ltd, Riemser 
Pharma GmbH, BSN Medical and New Oncology AG. He is Chairman of the investor advisory 
committee of the Seventure (France) Health for Life capital investment fund. Beside his business 
responsibilities he has previously served for many years on the board of trustees of the Paul 
Ehrlich Foundation and the Robert Koch Foundation and was a Director of the American 
Chamber of Commerce in Germany representing healthcare companies. He is a German citizen 
and holds a degree in Chemistry from the University of Göttingen.

a n r

John Biles
Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee

Appointment to the Board
John Biles (aged 68) was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director on 5 March 2014. 
He is Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination & Governance and 
Remuneration Committees.

Experience
John Biles is Chairman of the Audit Committee and Senior Independent Director of Sutton 
and East Surrey Water PLC. Since 2001 he has served in numerous non-executive roles with 
major companies such as Amey PLC, Bodycote PLC, Charter International PLC, Viridian Group 
PLC, Hellermann Tyton Group PLC and Hermes Fund Management Limited, in each case 
also holding the position of Chairman of the Audit Committee. He qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant with Price Waterhouse & Co, following which he held the position of financial 
director at various subsidiaries of Racal Electronics PLC and then successively Group Finance 
Director of Chubb Security PLC and FKI PLC. He is a Chartered Accountant and holds a B.Sc. 
(Combined Honours) in Chemistry and Physics from the University of Exeter.

a n r

John Murphy
General Counsel and Company Secretary

Appointment
John Murphy (aged 62) joined the Company as General Counsel in March 2006 and was 
appointed as Company Secretary in September 2006. 

Experience
John Murphy is a lawyer with extensive experience in legal and company secretarial roles in 
listed pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies including Medeva PLC, Celltech Group 
PLC and Pharmagene PLC. He is Chairman of the BIA Intellectual Property Advisory Committee 
and a member of the EuropaBio Intellectual Property Working Group. He holds a BSc in 
Aeronautical Engineering from Bristol University and is a qualified solicitor.

www.skyepharma.com
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report of the Directors
The Directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Group, together with the consolidated annual financial statements and Auditor’s 
report for the year ended 31 December 2015. 

The strategic review of the business of the Company and its subsidiaries is given on pages 1 to 37. Certain information required for disclosure in 
this report is provided in other appropriate sections of this Annual Report. These include the:

•	 Corporate Governance Report on pages 47 to 50;

•	 Operating Review on pages 13 to 21 in respect of the Group’s activities in the fields of Research and Development (where the outlook 
section covers likely future developments in the business of the Company and its subsidiaries);

•	 Finance Review on pages 24 to 28;

•	 Remuneration Report on pages 54 to 71;

•	 Disclosures on the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions, Director and employee gender and human rights which are included in the 
Corporate Social Responsibility Report on pages 29 to 33; and 

•	 Disclosures on financial instruments in Note 24 of the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The disclosures are, accordingly, incorporated into this report by reference.

Results and dividends
The Group made a net profit for the year to 31 December 2015 of £26.3 million (2014: £11.7* million net loss). The Directors do not propose to 
recommend payment of a dividend. 

Capital structure
Details of the share capital, together with details of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital during the year, are shown in Note 26: 
Share capital.

The Company has one class of ordinary shares referred to as “Ordinary Shares” which carry no right to fixed income. Each Ordinary Share 
carries the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company. The Company’s Ordinary Shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange. 
The Company also has Deferred “B” Shares and Deferred “C” Shares, but these shares have no value. Further details of these are shown in  
Note 26: Share capital.

The Company maintains an American Depositary Receipt (“ADR”) facility on an over the counter basis via Pink Sheets. Each ADR represents one 
Ordinary Share. As at 31 December 2015 there were 113,945 ADRs in issue.

Pursuant to the general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation, there are no specific restrictions on the size of a 
holding. The Directors are not aware of any restrictions on the transfer of Ordinary Shares in the Company other than certain restrictions which 
may from time to time be imposed by law and regulations, e.g. insider trading laws, and pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct 
Authority whereby certain employees of the Company require the prior approval from the Company to deal in the Company’s securities.

The Company is not aware of any agreements between shareholders that may result in restrictions on voting rights and the transfer of securities.

Details of employee share schemes are set out in Note 28: Share-based payments. Shares held by the General Employee Benefit Trust and the 
Employee Benefit Trust are able to be voted by the Trustees of each Trust.

No person has any special rights of control over the Company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

Directors
The Directors who served during the year were as follows:

Frank Condella 
Peter Grant 
Andrew Derodra 
John Biles  
Jean-Charles Tschudin (resigned with effect from 31 December 2015) 
Thomas Werner

The Director retiring by rotation at the 2016 Annual General Meeting is Frank Condella. The Board’s recommendation concerning his  
re-appointment is contained in the Corporate Governance Report on page 49. Frank Condella, the Chairman of the Board, being eligible, offers 
himself for re-election. Biographical details of the Directors are available on pages 40 and 41.

Directors’ interests
Details of Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company, together with details of the share incentives granted to them, are disclosed in 
the Remuneration Report on pages 54 to 71.

As at the date of this report, the Directors of the Company had an interest, beneficially and non-beneficially, in an aggregate of 407,297 Ordinary 
Shares, representing 0.39 percent of the Company’s total voting rights.

*Certain 2014 figures have been restated for changes to deferred tax
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Directors’ indemnities
The Company did not make any qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its Directors during the year and none are in force 
at the date of this report.

Substantial shareholdings
As at 31 December 2015 and 15 March 2016, the Company had received notifications, in accordance with chapter 5 of the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules (“DTR”), of the voting rights of shareholders of the Company which, at the time of notification, disclosed the holdings as 
detailed in the table below. 

Major shareholders

as at 31 December 2015 as at 15 March 2016

no. of Ordinary 
Shares

Percentage of voting 
rights and issued 

share capital
no. of Ordinary 

Shares

Percentage of voting 
rights and issued 

share capital

HBM Healthcare Investments (Cayman) Ltd 29,641,522 28.28 29,641,522 28.28
Aviva plc and subsidiaries 5,936,360 5.66 3,938,834 3.76
BlackRock Inc 6,564,347 6.26 6,564,347 6.26
Standard Life Investments Ltd 5,067,449 4.835 5,067,449 4.835
Legal & General Group plc 4,328,326 4.13 4,176,499 3.98

Acquisition of the Company’s own shares
The Company made no purchases of its own shares in the period under review. The Group, through the Employee Benefit Trusts, purchased 
2,756 shares during the year to meet the matching awards requirements of the Employee Share Purchase Plan. 

As at 31 December 2015, the authority given by the shareholders at the 2015 Annual General Meeting for the Company to make market 
purchases of up to £10,481,224 nominal value of its Ordinary Shares at a price of not more than 105 percent of the current market price was still 
in force. Whilst this authority is being proposed for renewal at the 2016 Annual General Meeting, as the Company has no distributable reserves, 
the authority cannot currently be utilised.

Acquisitions and disposals
There were no acquisitions or disposals in 2015 or 2014.

Additional information for shareholders
With regard to the appointment and replacement of Directors, the Company is governed by its Articles of Association, the 2014 UK Corporate 
Governance Code, the Companies Act 2006 and related legislation.

The Articles themselves may be amended by special resolution of the shareholders. The matters reserved for the Board are described in the Main 
Board Terms of Reference, copies of which are available on request, or on the Company’s website, www.skyepharma.com.

The Articles provide that Directors may be appointed by an ordinary resolution of the Company’s members or by a resolution of the Directors, 
provided that, in the latter instance, a Director appointed in this way retires and stands for election at the first Annual General Meeting following 
his appointment.

The Articles also provide that at every Annual General Meeting at least one-third of the Directors retire by rotation and set out the circumstances 
in which and how they may be re-elected. The Company’s members may remove a Director by passing an ordinary resolution of which special 
notice has been given. The office of a Director shall be vacated in any of the following events, namely if (i) (not being an Executive Director whose 
contract precludes resignation) he resigns his office by notice in writing, (ii) he becomes bankrupt or has a receiving order made against him or 
compounds with his creditors, (iii) he becomes of unsound mind or a patient for any purpose of any statute relating to mental health and the 
Directors resolve that his office should be vacated, (iv) he is absent from meetings of the Directors for six months without leave, and his alternate 
Director (if any) does not during that period attend in his stead, and the Directors resolve that his office should be vacated, (v) he is removed or 
becomes prohibited from being a Director under any provision of the statutes, or (vi) he is requested in writing by all other Directors to resign his 
office.

The powers of the Directors are determined by applicable legislation and the Company’s Articles of Association. As provided in those Articles, 
the Directors may exercise all the Company’s powers provided that the Articles or applicable legislation do not stipulate that any such powers 
must be exercised by the Company’s members. The Directors have been authorised to issue and allot Ordinary Shares, pursuant to the Articles 
and have authority to make market purchases of shares. These powers are referred to shareholders at each Annual General Meeting for renewal. 
Any shares purchased may be cancelled or held as treasury shares.

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
The statements of compliance with the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial Reporting Council in 
September 2014 are set out on page 45.
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report of the Directors continued

Change of control
The Company, and various subsidiaries, are party to a number of agreements which have change of control clauses. If triggered, these could 
lead to delays in product development programmes and/or product commercialisation. In the event of a takeover bid, there are no specific 
agreements between the Company and its Directors providing for compensation for loss of office or employment (whether through resignation, 
purported redundancy or otherwise).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
During the period under review, the Company and the Group maintained insurance policies for its Directors and Officers in respect of liabilities 
which could arise in the discharge of their duties.

Annual General Meeting
The 2016 Annual General Meeting of the Company will take place at the offices of FTI Consulting, 200 Aldersgate, Aldersgate Street, London 
EC1A 4HD at 10.30 a.m. on Wednesday 18 May 2016. Please refer to the Notice of Annual General Meeting (a separate document) for exact 
details of the business to be transacted at the meeting.

Ordinary resolutions 1 to 5 constitute the ordinary business of the meeting: to receive the Annual Report and Accounts, re-appoint a Director and 
Auditors and determine their remuneration and to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report. Approval of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
this year will not require a vote on the Company’s Remuneration Policy which was approved by shareholders in 2014 and remains unchanged for 
2016. Information on voting in respect of the specific parts of the Remuneration Report is given in the Notice of Meeting.

Resolutions 6 to 9 constitute special business. Ordinary resolution 6 authorises the Directors to issue Ordinary Shares up to an aggregate 
nominal value of £69,874,838, being approximately two-thirds of the issued share capital as at 15 March 2016. The authority expires at the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2017. 

Special resolution 7 authorises the Directors to issue Ordinary Shares for cash without applying the pre-emption rights set out in section 561 
of the Companies Act 2006. It authorises the Directors to make rights issues and issue shares up to a total nominal value of £5,240,612, being 
approximately 5 percent of the issued share capital as at 15 March 2016. The authority expires at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting 
of the Company to be held in 2017.

Special resolution 8 sets out the framework in which the Company may purchase its own shares. It limits a purchase to a maximum aggregate 
value of £10,481,224 being 10 percent of the issued share capital as at 15 March 2016, and sets out the minimum and maximum prices to be 
paid. The authority expires at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2017.

Special resolution 9 authorises that a general meeting other than an Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice 
in limited circumstances. The authority expires at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2017.

Post balance sheet event
On 11 March 2016, an agreement was signed to sell a surplus facility in Muttenz, Switzerland, for CHF 9.8 million (£6.9 million), resulting in a profit 
on sale of CHF 1.3 million (£0.9 million). Further detail is provided in Note 34: Post balance sheet events.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom 
law and regulations. Company law requires the Directors to prepare the Group financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, the 
Directors are required to prepare Group financial statements under IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the Directors 
must not approve the Group financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. 

In preparing the Group financial statements the Directors are required to:

•	 present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group;

•	  select suitable accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and then 
apply them consistently;

•	 present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information;

•	 make judgements that are reasonable;

•	  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs as adopted by the European Union is insufficient to 
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group’s financial position and financial 
performance; and

•	  state whether the Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the Group financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are also responsible 
for preparing the Directors’ Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Corporate Governance Statement in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006 and applicable regulations, including the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 are included in the Annual Report 2015, which is published by the Company in 
hard copy printed form and available to download on the Group’s website on the internet. The maintenance and integrity of the Skyepharma 
website is the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by the Auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, 
accordingly, the Auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially 
presented on the website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Going concern
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future and therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Internal control
The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the assessment of risks and the internal control framework that Skyepharma operates 
and has considered the effectiveness of the system of internal control in operation in the Group for the year covered by this Report and up to the 
date of its approval by the Board of Directors.

The UK Corporate Governance Code
The Board considers that the Company applies the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code of the Financial Reporting Council, as 
described under “Corporate Governance” on pages 47 to 50 and has complied with all relevant principles and provisions of the Code. As 
required by the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority, the Auditors have considered the Directors’ statement of compliance in relation 
to those points of the Code which are specified for their review.

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s and the Group’s performance, business model and strategy.
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Directors’ responsibility statement
In accordance with the FCA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules, the Directors listed on pages 40 and 41 confirm, to the best of their knowledge, 
that:

1.  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group and Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as 
a whole; and

2.  The management report, which is incorporated into the Report of the Directors, includes a fair review of the development and performance of 
the business and the position of the Group and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description 
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group.

Disclosure of audit information
The Directors confirm that, as at the date of this Annual Report being approved, so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s independent Auditors are unaware and that he has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a 
Director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s independent auditor is 
aware of that information.

Independent auditor
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as Auditors and a resolution to re-appoint them will be proposed at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ remuneration
The Remuneration Report on pages 54 to 71 sets out the remuneration policies operated by the Company and disclosures on Directors’ 
remuneration and other disclosable information relating to Directors and officers and their interests.

By order of the Board

John Murphy 
General Counsel and Company Secretary 
15 March 2016

Skyepharma PLC 
46–48 Grosvenor Gardens 
London 
SW1W 0EB 
Registered No: 107582

report of the Directors continued
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corporate Governance report
This section contains the Group’s reporting disclosures on corporate governance required by the Companies Act 2006, the UK Corporate 
Governance Code of the Financial Reporting Council (the “Code”) and the UKLA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rule 7 including the required 
statement of compliance. A copy of the Code is available at www.frc.org.uk.cfm.

The Board is committed to ensuring that high standards of corporate governance appropriate for the Group’s size are maintained by Skyepharma.

Statement of compliance with the code
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has been in compliance with provisions and has applied both the main and 
supporting principles set out in Sections A to E of the Code.

Further information on compliance with the Code is set out below.

Disclosure and Transparency Rule 7
This statement complies with sub-sections 2.1; 2.2(i); 2.3(i); 2.5; 2.7 and 2.10 of Rule 7 of the UK Listing Authority Disclosure Rules. The 
information required to be disclosed by sub-section 2.6 of Rule 7 is shown in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 45 and is 
incorporated in this section by reference.

The Board and its processes
Board membership
The Board currently comprises two Executive and three Non-Executive Directors. Jean-Charles Tschudin, formerly Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Nomination & Governance Committee and a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees stepped 
down as a Director of the Company with effect from 31 December 2015. Thomas Werner was appointed as Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director and Frank Condella was appointed as Chairman of the Nomination & Governance Committee in place of Jean-Charles Tschudin. As 
part of standard succession planning arrangements, the Company had already initiated a search for an additional independent Non-Executive 
Director during 2015 prior to Jean-Charles Tschudin’s resignation. This search is taking into account the requirements of the Code in respect of 
progressive refreshing of the Board.

The Board is supported in its role by the Audit, Nomination & Governance and Remuneration Committees, details of which are set out below. The 
Directors’ roles and membership of the committees are set out on pages 40 and 41 in the directors’ biographies. 

In accordance with the Code and the Company’s Articles of Association, all Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first Annual 
General Meeting following their appointment and are re-elected within intervals of no more than three years. In addition, the Articles of Association 
require one-third of the Directors to retire by rotation each year.

The Director retiring by rotation at the Annual General Meeting in accordance with the Articles is the Chairman, Frank Condella who, being 
eligible, offers himself for re-election.

Board balance and independence 
The Board considers that the balance achieved between Executive and Non-Executive Directors during the year was appropriate and effective 
for the control and direction of the business.

It considers that the Non-Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Chairman are independent in both judgement and character, and that they 
carry out their duties in an independent manner. 

Mr Biles is Chairman of the Audit Committee. He is also the member of the Audit Committee with the required recent and competent financial 
experience, as required by both the Code and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules.

The Board believes that the Non-Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Chairman rigorously analyse management reports, provide 
constructive challenge to decisions, robustly defend their own points of view and critically evaluate the pharmaceutical industry and the Group 
itself.

The role of the Board
The Board of Skyepharma is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the Company, its corporate governance and internal controls 
and is accountable for all its activities. The Board reviews the operational performance of the Group on a regular basis and also exercises a 
number of reserved powers. 

The full terms of reference are available via the Company’s website www.skyepharma.com. 
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corporate Governance report continued

Board meetings
The Board meets formally at least seven times a year and ad hoc as required. In 2015, in addition to seven scheduled formal Board meetings 
which were held, there were 12 additional meetings held in order to discuss matters such as capital expenditure, the terms of the revolving credit 
facility and the issue of trading updates.

Attendance at formal pre-scheduled Board and Committee meetings is set out in the table below.

Directors are fully briefed following any meetings which they are unable to attend. The Directors intend that at least one visit each year is held at 
one of the Group’s overseas operating sites. The Board visited the Muttenz research and development site during the year and senior executives 
from the Muttenz facility have given various presentations on operational and strategic matters during the year.

Board meetings

Board 
meetings
(note 1)

audit 
committee 

meetings
(note 2)

nomination & 
Governance 
committee 

meetings
(note 3)

remuneration 
committee 

meetings
(note 4)

non-executive chairman
Frank Condella 7/7

executive Directors
Peter Grant 7/7
Andrew Derodra 7/7

Senior Independent Director
Jean-Charles Tschudin 6/7 6/6 2/3 (Chair) 2/3

non-executive Directors
John Biles 7/7 6/6 (Chair) 3/3 3/3
Thomas Werner 7/7 5/6 3/3 3/3 (Chair)

Notes:

1. The Company Secretary also attended all Board meetings.

2.  At the invitation of the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and external Auditors were also invited 
to attend the Committee meetings. 

3. At the invitation of the Chairman of the Nomination & Governance Committee, the Company Secretary was also invited to attend meetings of the Committee.

4.  At the invitation of the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary were also invited to attend 
the Committee meetings except when their remuneration was discussed. Representatives from New Bridge Street, who have been appointed by the Remuneration 
Committee as independent advisors on executive compensation, were invited to attend some meetings.

5.  Jean-Charles Tschudin resigned from the Company with effect from 31 December 2015. Prior to his resignation he was Chairman of the Nomination & Governance 
Committee and Senior Independent Non-Executive Director. He did not attend the Board or Committee meetings held immediately following the announcement of his 
resignation. Thomas Werner took over as Senior Independent Director on 1 January 2016 and Mr Condella took over as Chair of the Nomination & Governance Committee.

During the year, the Board has maintained responsibility for providing entrepreneurial leadership of the Group. To this end it reviewed the Group’s 
strategic focus and business partnerships, the annual operating and capital expenditure budgets, the Group’s risks and its own risk appetite. It 
approved the half-yearly report, trading updates, the preliminary announcement of results and the Annual Report and Accounts. 

At each formal Board meeting it considers reports on the key activities of the Group, reports from the Chairs of the Audit, Nomination & Governance 
and Remuneration Committees (if applicable), important forthcoming events and receives reports on investor relations, legal affairs and environment, 
health and safety matters. The Board receives papers and presentations from senior management as appropriate. In addition, there was a full-day 
Board meeting during the year to focus on strategic development, looking at the Group’s longer term development and options. 

In 2015 the Non-Executive Directors held meetings without management present and, in addition, met on one occasion for a routine meeting led 
by the Senior Independent Director to review the performance of the Chairman.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and can also raise issues with the Senior Independent Director if 
required. The Board may, in the course of its duties, take independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Committees have access 
to such resources as are required to fulfil their duties.

Insurance and indemnification
The Company maintains Directors’ and Officers’ insurance cover in respect of legal actions taken against the Directors in connection with their 
duties. Additionally, to the extent permitted by law, the Company indemnifies Directors for claims made against them in connection with their 
duties save any that may arise from wilful negligence.

Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are distinct and are held by different people to ensure a clear division of responsibility. The Chairman, 
Frank Condella, is responsible for the leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and the timely flow of information to Board members. 
An open culture is encouraged. The Chief Executive Officer, Peter Grant, is responsible for the day-to-day operational running of the Company 
and reporting upon this to the Board.
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Role of Senior Independent Director
The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, Thomas Werner, is available to shareholders if they request a meeting, or have concerns which 
contact through the normal channels has failed to resolve or where such contact is inappropriate. He is also available to the other directors as an 
intermediary in discussions with the Chairman should this become necessary. In addition, he leads the annual performance review of the Chairman.

Role of the Non-Executive Directors
The Non-Executive Directors bring independent judgement to Board deliberations and act to constructively challenge decisions and strategy and 
to supervise the corporate governance of the Group. The Non-Executive Directors determine the remuneration of the Executive Directors, their 
appointment and if necessary, their removal and appointment of successors. 

Induction and development
New Directors receive formal induction training, including site visits and meetings with the Company’s advisers, brokers, Auditors and major 
shareholders, and ongoing training is provided as appropriate. This training is customised for each Director and varies depending upon their skills, 
experience and background. There were no new directors appointed during the year.

Directors also receive regular updates on changes and developments in the business, legislative and regulatory environments. Such updates during 
the year included several papers and specific meetings with advisers to inform the Board on the new regulations for reporting on remuneration and 
the strategic report. These introduced numerous changes to the information to be disclosed in a company’s annual report. The Board also received 
copies of various reports issued by the Financial Reporting Council on such matters as developments in corporate governance, the role of the audit 
committee and audit quality.

Directors are authorised to seek any further training requirements which they feel are needed during the annual performance evaluation. 

Board evaluation
The Board conducts an annual formal evaluation of its own performance and that of its Committees and of individual Directors. Following a detailed 
review in 2014, the Chairman and the Nomination & Governance Committee determined that in view of the size of the Company and the Board, and 
taking into account the potential costs, it was not appropriate to conduct an external independent evaluation. However, this will be kept under review. 

The evaluation in respect of 2015 was undertaken in a series of meetings and conversations of the Board, the Non-Executives and the Chairman 
and the Chairman and the Executive Directors. The focus of the discussion was the functioning of the Board and its committees together with 
succession planning. The discussions included a review of the knowledge and experience of current board Directors and areas where the Board 
could look to strengthen itself in terms of any replacement of directors or new appointments, especially in improving the diversity of members. In 
terms of succession planning, a dialogue was held with recruitment advisers and specifications were considered in terms of potential additions to 
the Board. This resulted in a formal search being initiated as referred to above, to seek a new appointment to the board to replace Mr Tschudin. 

The Code requires that any re-appointment term beyond six years for a Non-Executive Director should be subject to particularly rigorous review 
and should take into account the need for progressive refreshing of the Board. In 2014, Frank Condella’s appointment as Non-Executive Chairman 
was renewed for a third three-year term following his initial appointment as a Non-Executive Director in 2008, prior to which his fellow Directors 
had undertaken a formal evaluation of his performance which concluded that Mr Condella continued to remain independent. This year Mr Condella 
stands for re-election as the director retiring by rotation. In relation to his proposed re-election at the 2016 Annual General Meeting, the Non-
Executive Directors, led by the Senior Independent Director and taking into account the views of the executive directors, have undertaken an 
evaluation of his performance as required by the Code and have confirmed that he continues to be an effective Chairman of the Board and that he 
has a deep understanding and knowledge of the Group’s affairs. He has demonstrated sufficient commitment of time for all Board meetings and 
other participation in the Group’s business. The Directors have taken these requirements into account when evaluating Mr Condella’s performance 
and recommending his re-appointment.

Feedback on collective performance is collated and presented to the Board. If any actions to improve are identified, they are discussed and 
appropriate actions taken to implement them.

Directors are invited to focus specifically on areas requiring priority action and to give honest and constructive comments so that the Board can 
review its performance in a thorough and thoughtful manner.

Register of conflicts and time commitments
The register of conflicts is maintained by the Company Secretary. Situational conflicts must be notified to the Board for authorisation as and when 
they arise, notwithstanding a Director’s general duty to avoid such situational conflicts. Transactional conflicts must be notified to the Board in person 
or in writing at the next meeting, where the Board can decide, in the absence of the Director concerned, whether or not to authorise such conflict. If 
such conflict is approved, the Director concerned may not receive related Board papers, be present in the Board meeting for any related discussion or 
participate in any vote on the matters concerned. At no time during the year did any Director hold a material interest in any contract of significance with 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, other than service contracts and insurance and indemnification arrangements disclosed below.

Prior to finalising an appointment, a new Director is required to confirm his existing appointments and discuss the time commitment required to 
deal appropriately with the affairs of the Group. At each Board meeting, Directors are requested to inform the Board if there are any changes in 
their commitments or other appointments. Significant changes in a Director’s outside commitments are discussed with the Board prior to a Director 
accepting further appointments. The Chief Executive, Peter Grant, is a Non-Executive Director of the AIM listed company, Abzena plc. The Board is 
satisfied that his role there does not detract from his commitment to the Company. 
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corporate Governance report continued

Board Committees
There are three main Committees, all of which 
operate within written terms of reference. 
The terms of reference are available on 
the Company website (www. skyepharma.
com) and upon request from the Company 
Secretary. Details of attendance at Board and 
Committee meetings in 2015 can be found in 
the table on page 48.

Remuneration Committee 
During 2015 the Remuneration Committee 
consisted of three Non-Executive Directors: 
Thomas Werner, who chairs the Committee, 
John Biles and Jean-Charles Tschudin, all 
of whom had been determined by the Board 
to be independent. Jean-Charles Tschudin 
resigned from the Board with effect from 31 
December 2015.

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer may be invited to attend Remuneration 
Committee meetings, other than when their 
own remuneration is discussed. No Director is 
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee’s full report 
appears on pages 54 to 71. Their work during 
the year is summarised in Thomas Werner’s 
letter on page 54.

Audit Committee
The Committee consisted of three Non-
Executive Directors during the year: John Biles 
(Chairman), Jean-Charles Tschudin (resigned 
with effect from 31 December 2015), and 
Thomas Werner, all of whom the Board had 
determined to be independent. 

The Committee continued to meet the UK 
Corporate Governance Code’s requirements 
that at least one member should have recent 
and relevant financial experience. Mr Biles is a 
Chartered Accountant, Chairman of the Audit 
Committee at each company of which he is a 
current Director and has held several previous 
appointments as a Non-Executive Director 
and Chairman of the Audit Committee and has 
been Finance Director of two listed companies. 

The Committee met six times during the 
year according to a predetermined schedule 
supporting the financial reporting calendar, 
and invited the Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer, Company Secretary, Group 
Financial Controller, Group Accountant 
(Internal Audit) and senior representatives of 
the external auditors to attend. The Committee 
held regular discussions with the external 
auditors independently of Group management.

The Audit Committee’s report appears on 
pages 52 to 53.

The Nomination & Governance 
Committee 
The Nomination & Governance Committee 
during the year consisted of Jean-Charles 
Tschudin, John Biles and Thomas Werner. 
Frank Condella replaced Jean-Charles 

Tschudin as Chairman of the Committee 
following Jean-Charles Tschudin’s resignation 
with effect from 31 December 2015. Its work is 
further described in its report on page 51.

Re-appointment
Non-Executive Directors are appointed for an 
initial term of three years and are subject to 
election by shareholders at the next Annual 
General Meeting following the date that they 
join the Board. All Directors must stand for re-
appointment every three years. Directors are 
also subject to a requirement in the Articles 
that at least one third stand for election each 
year. This may lead to directors standing for 
re-appointment before the third anniversary of 
their last election to office.

Policy on other appointments
The Board believes that Directors should be 
able to accept other appointments where 
no significant actual or potential conflicts of 
interest arise and provided that the Director 
is able to maintain his time commitments 
to the Company. These other appointments 
enable Directors to accrue further skills and 
experience from which the Company benefits. 
This policy is reviewed annually.

Details of any appointments held by each 
Director are listed under “Directors and 
Officers’’ on pages 40 and 41. There are no 
significant actual or potential conflicts of 
interest arising from any appointments held 
by a Skyepharma PLC Director. Directors’ 
commitments are reviewed at each Board 
meeting.

Relations with shareholders 
The Board places great emphasis on effective 
communications with shareholders. 

As well as the Annual Report and Accounts, 
the corporate website (www.skyepharma.com) 
is an increasingly important element in these 
communications. It is a comprehensive source 
of relevant information, including an archive of 
press releases, presentations and webcasts, 
share price information and information on 
governance, advisers and financial analysts. 
The website is undergoing a measured 
programme of enhancements and, where 
appropriate, broader use of additional online 
communications platforms and social media is 
being considered.

Face-to-face communication is also important. 
Executive Management runs an extensive 
programme of roadshows and ad hoc 
meetings with both existing and potential 
new shareholders. In 2015, meetings were 
held in London, Edinburgh, the United States, 
Switzerland and Germany as well as calls 
with potential investors in other countries. 
Executive Management also presented 
regularly at investor and industry conferences. 
Additionally, shareholders have the opportunity 
to meet and question the Board at the AGM, 
which will be held on 18 May 2016, and both 
the Chairman and Senior Independent Non-

Executive Director have held meetings with 
shareholders independently of Executive 
Directors during the year and are regularly 
available for such meetings if requested.

The Board receives a monthly report from 
the RD:IR investor relations agency on the 
shareholder register, which tracks buyers and 
sellers of Skyepharma shares as well as overall 
market sentiment. The Executive Management 
team also receives regular direct feedback 
on the views of shareholders as well as third 
party feedback from their advisers and equity 
research analysts. Executive Management 
continues to seek opportunities to increase 
the number of analysts publishing research 
on Skyepharma and during the year this 
was increased by two to five, with coverage 
initiated by Rx Securities in January and by 
finnCap in August.

Discussions with investors during 2015 
included a wide range of subjects, including 
the future growth prospects and capital 
expenditure requirements related to 
flutiform®; prospects for expanded use of 
flutiform® in COPD and in new markets; 
increased investment in R&D programmes; 
new development pipeline opportunities, 
particularly in inhalation; prospects for the Lyon 
manufacturing facility on its planned return to 
Skyepharma; the potential for future dividend 
payments; the impact of foreign exchange, 
particularly the strong Swiss franc; and issues 
related to the U.S. FDA’s challenge of Pacira’s 
marketing practices of EXPAREL®.

The Company holds regular Capital Markets 
meetings with analysts and institutional 
investors. The most recent was held on 26th 
November 2015 and provided a detailed review 
of the Group’s development pipeline as well 
an update of the progress of the Group’s key 
growth drivers and strategy. The presentations 
from this meeting were made available to all 
shareholders via the Company’s web site.

Finally, whilst much is already being done, 
the Group’s advisors conduct periodic audits 
of investor perceptions of Skyepharma and 
the results of these are carefully evaluated 
to identify opportunities to further improve 
communications.

Frank Condella 
Chairman 
15 March 2016
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nomination & Governance committee report

The Nomination & Governance Committee 
during the year consisted of Jean-Charles 
Tschudin, who chaired the Committee, John 
Biles and Thomas Werner. Frank Condella 
replaced Jean-Charles Tschudin as Chairman 
of the Committee following Jean-Charles 
Tschudin’s resignation with effect from 31 
December 2015. 

The Nomination & Governance Committee’s 
work during the year included interviewing 
potential candidates for the role of Non-
Executive Director with the required breadth 
of board level experience. In considering the 
appointment, the Committee has taken due 
account of the requirements of the Code in 
respect of progressive refreshing of the Board 
and diversity. In addition, during the year, the 
Committee had an overview of senior executive 
appointments, including the appointment of 
David Lescuyer as Executive Vice President 
Manufacturing in France (to take effect in April, 
2016). Odgers Berndtson was appointed by the 
Committee to assist in the selection of suitable 
candidates for both the roles, The Interim 
Management division of Odgers Berndtson also 
supplied a senior interim manager to the Group 
throughout the year. 

The Company has a Board diversity policy 
which is available on the Company’s website. 
The Company believes that the diversity 
amongst the current Board members brings 
great benefits to the business. 

When succession planning, the Board will 
continue to focus upon its own optimal 
balance and composition, having regard to the 
individual skill sets and the general and sector-
specific knowledge needed to drive corporate 
performance. Accordingly, candidates for 
Board appointments are required to bring the 
right skills and experience to complement the 
existing balance of the Board, and the Board 
maintains a highly proactive approach to its 
management and selection of Executive and 
Non-Executive Board members.

The Company does not impose a quota 
regarding gender balance, although the 
Nomination & Governance Committee and 
Board remain fully cognisant of the need to 
ensure that the business reflects a diverse 
workforce, at all levels of seniority, when 
considering Board appointments and internal 
promotions, whilst always seeking to ensure 
that each post is offered strictly on merit to the 
best available candidate.

During the year the Committee, in collaboration 
with the Group Chairman, Frank Condella, and 
the Company Secretary also considered the 
process used to undertake Board evaluation. 
Further information on this matter is contained 
in the Board evaluation paragraph on page 49 
of this report. Following the annual evaluation 
by the Board of the Directors’ effectiveness, 
the Nomination & Governance Committee 
is pleased to be able to recommend Frank 
Condella for re-election to the Board of 
Skyepharma PLC at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. 

Frank Condella 
Chairman of the Nomination and  
Governance Committee 
15 March 2016

The Nomination & Governance Committee 
dedicated time in 2015 to the search for an additional 
Non-Executive Director, and also in the search for 
senior executives to support the development of the 
Group.

“

Frank Condella  
Nomination & Governance Committee Chairman

”

The Committee has 
taken due account of the 
requirements of the Code 
in respect of progressive 
refreshing of the Board 
and diversity and during 
2016 continues to have 
regard to this need.

“

”
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audit committee report

Main activities of the 
Committee during the year 
During the year, and through to the finalisation 
of the results for 2015 on 15 March 2016, the 
Committee carried out the following regular 
reviews in line with its role and responsibilities:

•	  reviewed and challenged with 
management and the external Auditors 
the appropriateness of the Interim and 
Annual Report and Accounts, including 
going concern and the new viability 
requirements and the clarity and adequacy 
of disclosures and the material judgements 
and assumptions made;

•	  reviewed the Annual Report and Accounts 
to ensure it was fair, balanced and 
understandable;

•	  reviewed and challenged the Group Risks 
Register including the process for update 
and the status of risk management activities 
to ensure appropriate mitigation steps were 
in place or being taken;

•	  reviewed the periodic reports from Group 
Accountant on testing of internal controls in 
accordance with the review of the Internal 
Audit Plan for 2015 and the progress of 
action plans agreed with management to 
address the observations raised;

•	  reviewed the reports produced by the 
external auditors setting out their approach 
for auditing the Interim and Annual Financial 
Statements as well as their findings and 
recommendations, particularly the key audit 
areas identified as revenue recognition, 
depreciation of the flutiform® supply chain, 
recognition of an overseas tax provision, 
completeness of deferred tax liabilities and 
capitalisation of development costs relating 
to the flutiform® manufacturing process;

•	  reviewed the effectiveness of the external 
audit process and the external Auditors; 
and

•	  reviewed draft regulatory news 
announcements in respect of the Interim 
and Annual Accounts and periodic trading 
updates. 

Details of the Group’s risk management and 
internal control system are given on pages 34 
to 36.

The principal areas of judgement considered by 
the Committee in relation to the 2015 Annual 
Report and Accounts were:

•	  going concern and the new viability 
statement – the Committee challenged 
the validity of the assumptions used in 
preparation of the Annual Report and 
Accounts, in particular the Group’s 
forecasts for profit generation and cash 
flow, its liquidity position and available 
borrowing facilities and the sensitivity 
analysis used to determine the impact 
of changes to all key variables. The 
Committee considered that the Company 
will be able to continue in operation and 
meet its liabilities as they fall due over the 
36-month period of assessment;

•	  revenue recognition – the Group enters into 
long term collaborations with its partners 
from which it earns the majority of its 
revenues. These collaborations usually 
span several reporting periods and involve 
multiple revenue streams, which can require 
significant estimates and judgement. 
The Committee challenged the Group’s 
internal revenue reporting processes and 
judgements made, concurring that these 
remained appropriate;

•	  non-current asset carrying values and their 
useful economic lives – the Group has 
capitalised certain development costs in 
relation to the flutiform® manufacturing 
process and the Committee agrees that the 
criteria for capitalising the costs as an asset 
have been met. 
In addition, assets relating to the flutiform® 
supply chain are depreciated on a units 
of production basis over their estimated 
useful lives. The Committee reviewed and 
concurred with management’s revision to 
the estimates in 2015;

•	  Uncertain tax positions – the Group 
operates in a number of taxation 
jurisdictions and is required to estimate 
the corporate taxation position for each 
overseas subsidiary. This can involve 
significant judgement and interpretation of 
country specific tax law. The Committee 
reviewed relevant advice obtained from 
tax advisors in respect of these matters, 
including the taxation due on realised 
foreign exchange gains in Switzerland, and 
was comfortable with the positions taken;

The Audit Committee continued to assist the Board in its 
oversight of financial matters, in particular the integrity of the 
Group’s published financial information, the maintenance 
of effective internal controls and procedures for risk 
management, whistleblowing and fraud detection, 
and ensuring an effective and independent external audit. 
The Committee continues to keep these objectives under 
review in the light of recurring developments in accounting 
standards and regulations.

“

John Biles 
Chairman of the Audit Committee

”
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•	  Deferred tax assets and liabilities – the 
Committee considered carefully the 
adequacy of the taxation disclosures within 
the financial statements. In particular, the 
Committee reviewed the recognition of 
deferred tax across the Group, and on 
unrealised and realised foreign exchange 
gains. As these gains are treated differently 
for local Swiss taxation purposes 
compared to their Group IFRS accounting 
treatment IAS 12 Income Taxes requires 
a deferred tax liability to be recognised. 
The Audit Committee discussed this with 
Management who do not consider that 
future payment of the tax on the unrealised 
foreign exchange gains is probable. The 
Audit Committee noted that these liabilities 
would have accumulated since the Swiss 
permanent loans were granted and hence 
impacted a number of comparative 
periods which have now been restated 
within note 12. The Audit Committee was 
satisfied that the restatements presented 
by Management within the accounts 
were appropriate having discussed the 
disclosures with the external auditors; 

•	  The Audit Committee noted Management’s 
intention to enhance the control 
environment concerning taxation in respect 
of the increased risk from the change in the 
Group’s tax profile following the successful 
launch of flutiform® and utilisation of the 
final expiring tax losses that were available 
to offset trading profits; and

•	  Lyon manufacturing facility – as result of 
the anticipated return of the Lyon facility to 
Skyepharma during 2016, the Committee 
reviewed the potential for liabilities to 
arise from the return and agreed with 
management’s assessment that there 
were no obligations or liabilities requiring 
recognition in the 2015 results. 

The key topics that were considered during the 
year, in addition to the usual reviews were:

•	  the implications of the requirement under 
the UK Corporate Governance Code for a 
viability statement, the proposed approach 
and whether or not the risk management 
procedures were sufficiently robust to 
support the viability statement;

•	  a review of the proposed terms and 
authorisation limits for drawing on the 
Revolving Credit Facility;

•	  Management’s initial impact assessment of 
the new revenue accounting standard IFRS 
15 and the plan to achieve compliance in 
2018; and

•	  approval of updated treasury policy and 
counter-party credit limits for deposits. 

External Auditor 
independence 
Ernst & Young LLP (EY) have been the Group’s 
external Auditor since 2006. The Committee 
was satisfied that the key audit risks were 
addressed through the audit plan and that it 
had reviewed key assumptions and significant 
judgements made by management, with which 
the Auditors concurred. 

EY continued to provide a number of non-audit 
services. These mainly relate to assistance 
in preparation and filing of United Kingdom 
and United States corporation tax returns 
as well as advice on new and changes to 
existing legislation, the impact from possible 
transactions and planning for the Group’s US 
subsidiaries.

As a result, non-audit fees paid to EY during 
2015 were £0.1 million, which equates to 33.3% 
of the fees earned in respect of their audit work 
(£0.3 million). At both the half year and the full 
year, EY confirmed that their independence and 
objectivity had been maintained. In addition, 
the Committee also reviewed these 
engagements to ensure that EY brought 
relevant skills and experience to the tasks 
undertaken, that adequate safeguards were 
in place to maintain the objectivity and 
independence of the audit, and that the 
fee levels relative to the annual audit are 
proportionate for the tasks being undertaken. 
Accordingly, the Committee is satisfied that 
the relevant independence criteria continue to 
be met. 

During 2014, the Committee considered the 
timing of its next tender for external audit 
services and determined that, subject to Ernst 
& Young’s provision of services continuing to 
add value to the Group, an audit tender will be 
undertaken in 2017 to take effect from the next 
rotation of the audit partner in 2018.

J Biles
Chairman of the Audit Committee
15 March 2016
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remuneration report

The Committee is committed to clarity, 
transparency and to following our Directors’ 
Remuneration Policy, the main parts of which 
are reiterated in this report for information 
purposes. This Chairman’s Annual Statement 
and the Annual Report on Remuneration, 
which sets out the details of remuneration 
paid during the year, will be subject to an 
advisory vote at the 2016 AGM.

Our approach is designed to promote 
the long-term success of the business by 
ensuring a focus on performance-related 
pay, with a clear emphasis on long-term 
sustainable performance. This is achieved 
through the use of an annual bonus plan 
with challenging operational and financial 
targets and a long-term incentive plan with 
awards subject to demanding financial and 
value creation measures. When combined 
with shareholding guidelines, the Committee 
considers that the remuneration policy is 
appropriately aligned with helping to deliver 
the Company’s strategic objectives. 

Activities during the year
During the year the Committee has considered 
the following principal items:

•	 reviewing the performance of the senior 
management team to determine the 
award of bonuses in respect of 2015 
performance and the setting of bonus 
targets for 2016; 

•	 reviewing the proposals and the 
performance conditions for the 2015 
LTIP awards following shareholder 
consultation; 

•	 considering and approving adjustments to 
the number of historical outstanding LTIP 
awards as the result of the Capital Raising 
in April 2014; and 

•	 conducting a review of Executive 
remuneration and the Non-Executive 
Directors and Chairman’s fees payable.

Performance and reward
As noted in the Strategic Report, 2015 has 
been a year of exceptional performance, with 
significant progress made in terms of revenue 
and operating profit growth as well as cash 
generation. A number of key operational and 
strategic objectives were also achieved on 
favourable terms.

The 2015 bonus objectives for the Executive 
Directors related to operating profit, cash 
generation, implementation of strategic/
transformational goals and business 
development achievements. Having tested the 
individual’s performance against the targets 
originally set the Committee determined that 
the bonuses payable would be at 75% of 
maximum for both Peter Grant and Andrew 
Derodra. Further details of how bonus targets 
were measured are given on pages 66 and 67. 

The Committee has determined that the LTIP 
awards due to vest for performance which 
ended in relation to 2015 will vest at 86.5% 
on the basis of TSR performance over three 
years of 391% which ranked the Company in 
the top quartile of the comparator group and 
aggregate EBITDA of £78.4 million, which was 
above the threshold, but below the maximum 
target.

The Committee is comfortable with the 
overall variable pay due to the strong financial 
performance and significant shareholder 
value created over the period.

Implementation of  
policy for 2016
The Committee reviewed the Executive 
Director base salaries in late 2015. As a 
result of his continued development and the 
sustained corporate performance, the Chief 
Executive Officer’s salary was increased to 
£350,200 (a 3.0% increase) with effect from 
1 January 2016 which was in line with the 
general inflationary increases for employees 
in the UK. The Chief Financial Officer’s salary 
was increased to £250,000 effective from  
1 January 2016, which in percentage terms 
(4.2%) is above the average offered to UK 
employees and reflects his development in 
the role since his appointment at the end of 
2013. The Committee considered that this 
increase moves him closer to a competitive 
level when compared with the equivalent roles 
in businesses of a similar size and complexity.

Consistent with 2015, for awards in 2016 
the Committee has set a normal LTIP award 
policy of 100% of salary for both Executive 
Directors in 2016. These awards will continue 
to be half subject to a relative TSR measure 
against the constituents of the FTSE Small 
Cap Index (excluding Investment Trusts) 
and half subject to cumulative adjusted EPS 
targets. As at the date of this report no awards 
had been issued for 2016.

As a Committee, we believe that ongoing 
dialogue with our major Shareholders is of 
key importance. Should you have any queries 
or feedback in relation to the Remuneration 
Report, please contact me through the 
Company Secretary.

Thomas Werner 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
15 March 2016

Dear Shareholder
As the Chairman of Skyepharma’s Remuneration 
Committee (the Committee), I am pleased to 
present our Remuneration Report for 2015 
which sets out the Remuneration Policy for the 
directors of Skyepharma and the amounts earned 
in respect of 2015. 

“

”
Thomas Werner  
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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This report has been prepared in accordance 
with Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-
sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 (as 
amended in 2013). The report also meets the 
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules of 
the Financial Conduct Authority and describes 
how the Board has applied the principles 
relating to Directors’ remuneration as set out 
in the UK Corporate Governance Code. The 
Regulations require the Auditors to report to 
the Company’s members on certain parts of 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and to 
state whether, in their opinion, those parts 
of the report have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Accounting Regulations. 

This Remuneration Report has been split 
into two parts. The first part, being the 
Remuneration Policy set out on pages 55 
to 63, covers Skyepharma’s remuneration 
policy on executive remuneration which is 
subject to a binding vote by shareholders 
as a minimum every three years. That policy 
was approved by shareholders at the AGM 
in May 2014 and is, therefore, next due to 
be renewed in 2017 in the normal course 
of events. The policy included in this report 
is, therefore, a re-stated version of the one 
approved by shareholders in 2014 updated 
as necessary for page and year references 
and with the scenario charts removed. The 
full original text of the Remuneration Policy 
approved by shareholders in 2014 is included 
in the 2013 Annual Report and Accounts 
which is available on the Company’s 
website (www.skyepharma.com/Investors/
Financial_information/FileList.aspx?id=158). 
The second part, which comprises the 
Annual Report on Remuneration set out on 
pages 63 to 71, and the annual statement 
on pages 54 and 55, covers the Committee’s 
implementation of the remuneration policy, 

giving details of remuneration paid to 
executives for the year. This report is required 
to be voted on annually, but (as in previous 
years), this vote is an advisory vote. The 
resolution to approve the Annual Report on 
Remuneration will be put to shareholders at 
the AGM on 18 May 2016.

REMUNERATION POLICY 
This is a restatement of the relevant parts of 
the policy subject to a binding vote at the 2014 
AGM. It received near unanimous approval by 
shareholders at that meeting

Summary of the key 
objectives of Skyepharma’s 
remuneration policy 
The Company’s remuneration policy, which 
has been effective since 22 May 2014, is 
designed to attract, retain and motivate 
Executive Directors and other senior 
executives of the calibre required to deliver 
the business strategy. Individual remuneration 
packages are structured to align rewards with 
the performance and long-term success of 
the Group and the interests of shareholders. 
No Director is involved in setting his own 
remuneration.

The main principles of the policy are to:

•	  ensure that salaries are set at a market 
competitive level by benchmarking 
against appropriate external comparators 
from time to time, but also by reference 
to internal relativities and the employment 
conditions throughout the Group;

•	  support a strong pay for performance 
culture by providing the Executive 
Directors and other senior executives with 
the opportunity to earn competitive levels 

of reward provided that challenging short 
and long-term performance conditions 
which drive returns to shareholders, 
and which are consistent with a level of 
business risk approved by the Board, 
have been achieved;

•	  maintain an appropriate balance of fixed 
and performance related pay which 
delivers over the short, medium and long-
term, with the balance becoming more 
long-term and more highly performance 
related with seniority;

•	  align long-term rewards with shareholders 
by taking account of measures that reflect 
shareholders’ interests and by expecting 
participants in the LTIP to build up a 
meaningful shareholding in the Company 
over time; and

•	  ensure that the overall package reflects 
market practice and is equitable.

In addition, the Remuneration Committee 
is committed to balancing the overall cost 
of fixed remuneration of the Board having 
regard to the current enterprise value of the 
Company derived from market prices and 
its current stage of development, whilst also 
bearing in mind both the complexities of and 
risks faced by the Group. 
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remuneration report continued

The following table summarises the main elements of remuneration policy to deliver the remuneration policy principles outlined above:

Executive Directors
Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum potential value Performance measures

Base salary Core element of fixed 
remuneration reflects the 
Executive Director’s role 
and experience.

To provide a competitive 
base salary that will attract, 
retain and motivate key 
employees of the quality 
necessary to run the 
Company successfully.

Reviewed every 12 months 
or on appointment of new 
Executive Directors. 

Benchmarked, when 
appropriate, against 
appropriate independent 
market comparators and 
set in context of pay and 
employment conditions 
elsewhere in the Group and 
general inflation pressures. 
There is no obligation to 
award an increase following 
a salary review.

Current salaries effective 
from 1 January 2016 
are set out in the Annual 
Report on Remuneration.

Salary increases are 
normally in line with the 
wider Group and the 
Committee considers 
any increase out of line 
with this very carefully. 
Higher increases may be 
awarded in exceptional 
circumstances taking 
account of relevant 
commercial factors, such 
as promotion, substantial 
increase in the size/ 
complexity of the Group, 
or increase in scope/ 
responsibilities of role.

Where initial salaries 
have been set below the 
perceived market rate 
(i.e. on a promotion), 
phased increases above 
those offered to the wider 
workforce can be made 
to achieve the desired 
positioning, subject to 
continued development in 
the role. 

Linked to individual 
performance and 
contribution.

Post-retirement 
benefits

To provide competitive 
post-retirement benefits 
and help retention and 
recruitment.

The Company operates 
a Group Stakeholder 
personal pension scheme 
which is available to all 
employees to join if they 
wish. 

Where a Director chooses 
not to join the Group 
scheme, the Company 
pays a cash supplement of 
a fixed percentage of base 
salary per annum.

The Company contributes 
17.5% of base salary per 
annum in respect of each 
of the Executive Directors.

Not applicable.
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Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum potential value Performance measures

Taxable 
benefits

To provide competitive 
benefits in kind.

The Company typically 
provides the following 
benefits:

•	 Car allowance

•	 Private health insurance

•	 Death in service cover

•	  Other ancillary benefits, 
including relocation 
expenses/arrangements 
(as required).

Where Executive Directors 
are recruited outside the 
UK, benefits more tailored 
to their geographical 
location may be provided. 

Where revised benefits are 
offered within a geographic 
location or across the 
Group, Executive Directors 
are likely to be eligible to 
receive those benefits.

In 2015, the maximum 
cost of providing benefits 
(based on taxable value of 
the benefits) was 2.3% of 
salary in total. 

However, the cost of some 
of these benefits is not pre-
determined and may vary 
from year to year based 
on the overall cost to the 
Company in securing these 
benefits for a population 
of employees and related 
to age (particularly health 
insurance and  
death-in-service cover). 

Not applicable.

Annual bonus To incentivise achievement 
of annual objectives 
which support the short to 
medium-term strategy of the 
Company.

Targets are reviewed 
annually and any pay-
out is determined by the 
Committee after the year 
end based on challenging 
targets set when the budget 
for the year has been 
approved by the Board.

Maximum bonus opportunity 
is 100% of base salary for 
the Executive Directors.

Challenging operational 
and financial targets (e.g. 
operating profit, operating 
cash generation, business 
development and strategic 
performance measures) 
and individual objectives 
determined at the beginning 
of the financial year.

The targets and individual 
objectives are set by the 
Committee in consultation 
with the Chairman (for 
Peter Grant) and the Chief 
Executive Officer (for 
Andrew Derodra).

A sliding scale of targets 
is set for these measures 
where it is practicable to do 
so, with between 0% and 
75% payable for achieving 
the threshold hurdle 
depending on the nature of 
the objective.    

All bonus payments are 
at the discretion of the 
Committee. 
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remuneration report continued

Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum potential value Performance measures

Long-
term share 
incentives

To incentivise Executive 
Directors and other senior 
executives to achieve 
superior returns to 
shareholders over a three-
year period. 

To retain key individuals 
and align interests with 
Shareholders.

Participation to receive 
LTIP awards is at the 
discretion of the Committee 
each year.

Under the rules of the LTIP 
the Committee may grant 
awards as conditional 
awards over shares or as 
options with an option 
price to be determined by 
the Committee, which may 
be set at market value, 
equal to the nominal value 
of the Company’s Ordinary 
Shares or nil.

The plan has a clawback 
provision which applies in 
the event of any material 
misstatement in the 
Company’s annual financial 
results arising within two 
years of an award vesting.

Executive Directors may be 
entitled to any dividends 
which have accrued on 
vested awards.

The normal maximum 
award is up to 100% 
of base salary and up 
to 200% of salary in 
exceptional circumstances 
as determined by the 
Committee.

For awards granted in 2014 
and beyond, at least 50% 
of the award will be subject 
to three-year TSR (or share 
price plus dividend) growth 
performance target with the 
balance of an award 
(if any) subject to a financial 
measure (or measures) 
to be determined by the 
Remuneration Committee 
on an annual basis prior to 
grant, taking due account 
of the strategic objectives 
of the business at the 
time. The extent to which 
awards may vest may 
also be subject to relevant 
“underpin” conditions 
based on TSR and/or the 
Company’s underlying 
financial performance. 
The performance target 
to apply to the 2016 LTIP 
awards is summarised on 
page 64.

Up to 30% of an award 
may vest for threshold 
performance.

Details of the performance 
targets applicable to 
awards will be set out in the 
relevant annual report on 
remuneration and/or other 
appropriate shareholder 
documentation.
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Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum potential value Performance measures

All employee 
share purchase 
plan

To promote wider share 
ownership amongst the 
workforce.

The Executive Directors 
are entitled to participate 
in the Skyepharma PLC 
International Share 
Purchase Plan (the “Plan”) 
on the same terms as all 
Group employees. 

In the UK, the Plan gives 
employees the opportunity 
of purchasing shares out 
of pre-tax salary. The 
Company gives additional 
matching shares on a 1:1 
ratio. Matching shares 
will normally be released 
three years after they have 
been awarded, subject 
to continued service and 
that the associated shares 
purchased by the employee 
have been retained.

Matching shares are free 
but subject to tax and social 
security costs if they are 
withdrawn from the Plan 
after the third year following 
award and before the end of 
a five year holding period.

An equivalent plan operates 
for employees based in 
Switzerland.

HMRC allows the purchase 
of up to £1,800 worth of 
shares a year out of pre-tax 
salary. The Company gives 
additional matching shares 
on a 1:1 ratio. 

Not applicable.

Shareholding 
guideline

To align Executive Directors’ 
interests with Shareholders 
and to promote share 
ownership.

In line with best practice, 
the Executive Directors 
are required to build up 
a shareholding in the 
Company over time through 
awards vesting under the 
share incentive plans.

The Chief Executive Officer 
is required to build a holding 
in shares equivalent in 
value to 100% of his base 
salary and other Executive 
Directors are required 
to build a holding of up 
to 50%.

Not applicable.
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remuneration report continued

Non-Executive Directors
Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Opportunity

Fees To recruit and retain Non-Executive 
Directors of a high calibre with the 
requisite experience to achieve 
success for the Company and its 
Shareholders.

The fees of the Chairman are 
determined by the Committee 
and the fees of the Non-Executive 
Directors are determined by the Board, 
excluding the Non-Executive Directors 
(following recommendation from both 
the Chairman and the Chief Executive 
Officer), taking due consideration of 
the responsibilities involved and the 
time required. Fees are reviewed on a 
periodic basis.

They are benchmarked, when 
appropriate, against appropriate 
independent market comparators 
and set in the context of fees paid 
to non-executive directors by other 
companies of similar size and business 
complexity. There is no obligation to 
award an increase following a review.

The Chairman and the Non-Executive 
Directors are not eligible to participate 
in the Company’s share plans, 
incentive schemes or pension scheme.

The fees which apply from 1 January 
2016 are set out in the Annual Report 
on Remuneration.

The Chairman is paid a basic all-
encompassing fee.

The Non-Executive Directors are 
paid a basic fee with additional fees 
payable for membership of Board 
Committees and for the chairing a 
Committee. 

The Senior Independent Director is 
also paid an additional fee.

Relevant benefits and/or expenses 
may be provided to the Non-Executive 
Directors.

Any increases in fees may be above 
the level awarded to Executive 
Directors and other employees, given 
that they may only be reviewed on a 
periodic basis or reflect a change in 
scope/responsibilities or in the size/
complexity of the Group.

Operation of the annual bonus plan & LTIP policy
The annual bonus plan and LTIP scheme are operated in accordance with their respective rules and the Listing Rules where relevant. 
To maintain efficient administration, and consistent with standard market practice, the Committee retains a number of discretions, including the 
following:

•	 who participates in the plans;

•	 the timing of grant of award and/or payment;

•	 the size of an award and/or a payment (albeit with quantum restricted to the descriptions detailed in the policy table above);

•	 the determination of vesting; 

•	 discretion required when dealing with a change of control (e.g. the timing of testing performance targets) or restructuring of the Group;

•	 determination of a good/bad leaver for incentive plan purposes based on the rules of each plan and the appropriate treatment chosen;

•	 adjustments required in certain circumstances (e.g. rights issues, corporate restructuring events and special dividends); and

•	 the annual review of performance measures weighting and targets for the annual bonus plan and LTIP from year to year.

In certain exceptional circumstances (e.g. a material acquisition or divestment), which mean the original performance conditions are no longer 
appropriate, the Committee retains the ability to make adjustments to the targets and/or set different measures and alter weightings as necessary 
to ensure the conditions achieve their original purpose provided they are not materially less difficult to satisfy.

The Committee intends to honour any commitments, including outstanding share awards as detailed in the Remuneration Report on pages 54 
to 71 for arrangements for which shareholder approval has been received prior to 22 May 2014. Any payments to former directors will be set out 
in the Annual Report on Remuneration as and when they occur. 
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Choices of performance measures and approach to target setting
For the annual bonus the majority of financial performance measures are based around financial metrics which form part of the Company’s KPIs. 
These are aligned with the Company’s objective of achieving growth in revenues and profit whilst ensuring strong working capital management 
practices. Personal objectives are linked to the achievement of overarching strategic objectives. 

For the LTIP the performance condition is a combination of relative TSR, which provides a clear alignment with shareholders, and other challenging 
financial metrics that support the long-term strategy of the Company. 

Targets are set using sliding scales where practicable to do so, with only a modest reward for achieving threshold levels of performance. Financial 
targets are set based on internal budgets and external analyst consensus. 

The Committee will review the relevant performance measures, weightings and targets on an annual basis. The measures used for 2016 are set 
out in the Annual Remuneration Report. 

Performance conditions do not apply to awards granted under our all-employee share plan (i.e. the Skyepharma PLC International Share 
Purchase Plan - now the Skyepharma PLC Share Incentive Plan 2014) since this arrangement is used to encourage share ownership across the 
Company and operates on the same terms for all participants.

Executive Directors’ contracts
All Executive Directors’ appointments are made on a rolling basis and covered by service contracts under which their employment is terminable 
on 12 months’ written notice from the Company. The Chief Executive is required to give the Company six months’ written notice and the Chief 
Financial Officer 12 months’ written notice. These arrangements are in line with best corporate practice for UK listed companies. There are no 
special provisions in the contracts of employment extending notice periods on a change of control, liquidation of the Company or cessation of 
employment.

Director
notice period of contract from 

company effective date
unexpired term of contract/

termination date
Peter Grant 12 months 14 November 2006 Rolling contract*
Andrew Derodra 12 months 25 November 2013 Rolling contract*

* Contract will continue until terminated on notice by either the Company or the Executive Director. 

Copies of the Executive Directors’ service contracts are available for inspection at the AGM.

Payment for loss of office
If notice is served by either party, the Executives can continue to receive basic salary, benefits and pension for the duration of their 
notice period during which time the Company may require the individual to continue to fulfil their current duties or may assign a period of 
garden leave.  

In the case of either Executive, the Company may elect to make a payment in lieu of notice (to the value of base salary, benefits and pension 
equivalent) which may be phased in payment and cease to the extent that alternative employment is taken up (i.e. monthly payments would be 
mitigated in that payments would be offset proportionately to the income received from alternative employment).

The policy for a new hire would be based on terms that are consistent with these provisions (i.e. offer a notice period of up to 12 months) with an 
ability to provide a payment in lieu of notice as described above for the current Executive Directors.

Payments may also be made such as:

(i) to help the individual find employment (via the payment of modest outplacement fees); 

(ii) for statutory entitlements; 

(iii)  to settle or compromise claims in connection with the termination (e.g. in the event that an unfair dismissal claim was brought against the 
Company and it was considered in the best interests of all parties to settle the claim); and 

(iv) in respect of any statutory entitlements relating to cessation of employment.

If the termination is due to gross misconduct, no payments will be made.

Any entitlement to a bonus will be reviewed on an individual basis and the decision whether or not to award a bonus in full or in part (relating to 
the period of employment actively served only) will be dependent on a number of factors including the circumstances of their departure (e.g. if 
they are a good leaver and the reason for departure is death, retirement, ill health, redundancy etc.) and whether the performance targets have 
been (or are likely to be) met.  No bonus would be payable if the performance targets were not met. The default position is that no bonus is 
payable in the event of resignation.

Rights to long-term incentive awards will be determined in accordance with the rules of the relevant plan. Under the LTIP plan a “good 
leaver” is entitled to retain a proportion of any award based on whether the award has reached its normal vesting date or not and pro-rated 
depending on the time elapsed since grant (unless the Committee considers time pro-rating inappropriate) and subject to the achievement of 
the performance condition. The “good leaver” provisions are where an employee leaves before the normal vesting date due to redundancy 
ill-health, injury, disability, retirement, has died or leaves through the sale or takeover of the business or leaves for any other reason at the Board’s 
discretion. Where a participant is not a “good leaver” then the award lapses immediately in accordance with the rules.  In all circumstances, 
vesting would be dependent upon the extent to which performance targets have been (or are likely to be) met.
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remuneration report continued

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ appointments
All Non-Executive Directors including the Company Chairman have specific terms of engagement and their remuneration is determined by the 
Board as a whole based on independent surveys of the Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology Sector and the wider market for Non-Executive 
Directors. 

All Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment are for a period of three years from the date of appointment, unless terminated by at least one 
month’s written notice from either party. Under their service contracts, there is no compensation for loss of office.

non-executive Director notice period (months) effective date
unexpired term of contract/termination 

date as at 15 March 2016
Frank Condella1 1 month 1 November 2014 19 months
John Biles 1 month 5 March 2014 11 months

Jean-Charles Tschudin 1 month 1 July 2013
Resigned with effect from  

31 December 2015 
Thomas Werner 1 month 16 May 2015 26 months

1 Frank Condella offers himself for re-election at the 2016 AGM.

Recruitment remuneration
For Executive Director recruitment and/or promotion situations, the Committee will follow the guidelines outlined below:

Remuneration element Policy

Base salary Salary for a new hire (or on promotion to Executive Director) would be set at a level sufficient to attract 
the best candidate available to fill the role, taking into account the Group’s position and strategy and 
the country in which the new hire will live and work. For example, it may set the salary of a new hire at a 
premium to that paid to the predecessor if this was necessary to attract a candidate with experience in a 
business of the size which the Group aspires to become or, conversely, could be set at a discount to those 
offered in companies of a similar size, geographical reach and complexity initially, with a series of planned 
increases over subsequent years, in order to bring the salary to the desired level, subject to individual 
performance.   

Benefits Benefits will be set in accordance with the Company’s remuneration policy. In addition, where necessary, 
the Committee may approve the payment of relocation expenses to facilitate recruitment and flexibility is 
retained to pay for legal fees and other costs incurred by the individual in relation to their appointment. 
Consideration may need to be given to particular elements of benefit packages if a new Director will live 
and/or work outside the UK (i.e. benefits may be tailored to the individual’s home country practice).

Post-retirement benefits A defined contribution or cash supplement at the level provided to current Executive Directors, again 
subject to particular considerations for a recruit who will live and/or work outside the UK.

Annual bonus The annual bonus will operate as outlined for current Executive Directors, with the respective maximum 
opportunity, albeit usually pro-rated for the period of employment. Depending on the timing and 
responsibilities of the appointment, it may be necessary to set different performance measures and targets 
initially. 

The maximum ongoing incentive opportunity under the Company’s policy is 100% of salary.

Long-term Incentives LTIP awards will be granted in line with the policy outlined for the current Executive Directors. An award 
may (and would usually) be made upon appointment (subject to the Company not being prohibited from 
doing so). For an internal hire, existing awards would continue over their original vesting period and remain 
subject to their terms as at the date of grant and further awards may also be considered.   

The maximum ongoing annual award level is 100% of salary but an award, in exceptional circumstances 
(as determined by the Committee), may be granted up to 200% of salary under the rules of the LTIP.   

Buy-out awards In the case of an external hire, the Committee may offer additional cash and/or share-based elements when 
it considers these to be in the best interests of the Company (and therefore shareholders) to facilitate the 
buy-out of value forfeit on joining the Company. This includes the use of awards made under Rule 9.4.2 of 
the Listing Rules.  Such payments would take account of remuneration relinquished when leaving a former 
employer and would reflect (as far as possible) the nature and time horizons attaching to that remuneration 
and the impact of any performance conditions. Shareholders will be informed of any such payments at the 
time of appointment. 
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External appointments
The Company recognises that Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-Executive Directors of other companies and that this can 
help broaden the skills and experience of a Director. Subject to the approval of the Board, Executive Directors are normally permitted to accept 
external appointments and may retain fees for such appointments where no significant actual or potential conflict of interest arises and provided 
that the Director is able to maintain his time commitments to the Company. Peter Grant was appointed a Non-Executive Director of Abzena plc in 
June 2014 and received fees of £30,000 during 2015 which he retained (2014: £17,077). Andrew Derodra has not held any external directorships 
in 2015.

Shareholding guideline
The Remuneration Committee believes that Executive Directors and senior executives participating in the LTIP scheme should be required to own 
and hold shares in the Company to further align their interests with shareholders. The Committee’s shareholding guideline requires participants 
to build a meaningful shareholding in the Company over time through the retention of awards vesting under the LTIP (once sufficient shares have 
been sold to pay any tax liabilities incurred on the receipt of their shares). Sale of shares is also permitted to meet any exceptional immediate 
personal financial need that cannot be satisfied by any other means. The Chief Executive is required to build up a shareholding equivalent to  
100 percent of annual base salary and other participants 50 percent. 

Consideration of employees’ pay
When reviewing the remuneration of the Executive Directors, Group employees are not consulted but the Committee does take due account of 
pay structures elsewhere in the Group. Items considered include the overall salary increase budget, the rates of inflation in the countries in which 
the Group operates and the various incentive schemes that operate across the Group.

How Executive Directors’ remuneration policy relates to the Group
The remuneration policy summarised above provides an overview of the structure that operates for the Executive Directors. 

The same broad structure also operates for the members of the senior management team, although with lower levels of participation (or no 
participation) in the LTIP scheme. For other employees, the same remuneration principles are applied. However, the structure and quantum of 
remuneration vary by work level and are dependent on the specialist nature of many employees’ roles as well as by local market practice and 
employee individual performance.

Consultation with shareholders
The Remuneration Committee believes that ongoing dialogue with the Company’s major shareholders is of key importance. They are regularly 
consulted when the Committee is considering making changes to the remuneration policy, such as changes to the LTIP scheme in terms of 
the quantum of awards or amendments to the performance conditions or in respect of a significant change to the remuneration package for 
an Executive Director. Shareholders are invited to raise any queries or feedback in relation to the remuneration report, with the Chairman of the 
Committee through contacting the Company Secretary in the first instance.

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
This section of the report sets out the Company’s remuneration of its Directors in the year ending 31 December 2015. Where indicated, information 
has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP.

The Remuneration Committee
During 2015 the Remuneration Committee comprised the following Non-Executive Directors:

•	 Thomas Werner (Remuneration Committee Chairman)

•	 John Biles 

•	 Jean-Charles Tschudin (ceased to be a Director on 31 December 2015)

As disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report, the Remuneration Committee had three scheduled meetings in the year. 

During the period under review, the Remuneration Committee requested the assistance of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
on matters relating to senior executives’ performance and remuneration. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer do not take part 
in discussions on their respective own remuneration.

The Company Secretary acts as the secretary to the Committee.

The Remuneration Committee received advice from New Bridge Street (“NBS”), a part of Aon plc, as independent advisers on executive 
compensation and remuneration issues during the year. Fees paid to NBS for such advice were £88,001 during the year. NBS is a member of the 
Remuneration Consultants Group and as such voluntarily operates under its code of conduct. NBS has no other connection with the Company. 
Aon plc does not provide any other services to the Group. The Committee also receives advice from the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer and the Company Secretary concerning the remuneration of the senior management team and from Clifford Chance LLP on share scheme 
matters.
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remuneration report continued

The Remuneration Committee is formally constituted with written terms of reference which are reviewed annually. The full terms of reference are 
available via the Company’s website (www.skyepharma.com) or on request from the Company Secretary. The Committee determines specific 
remuneration arrangements for the Executive Directors and monitors arrangements for selected other senior executives. The Committee also 
oversees the introduction of new share plans and their general operation throughout the Group. During the period the Committee followed the 
Company’s approved Remuneration Policy, in place from 22 May 2014.

Implementation of policy for 2016
Base salary 
The Committee reviewed the base salaries of the Executive Directors during December 2015 and agreed to increase Peter Grant’s salary by 3.0% 
to £350,200 with effect from 1 January 2016, in line with the general inflationary increase for employees in the UK and agreed to increase Andrew 
Derodra’s salary by 4.2% to £250,000, being a slight increase above inflation towards market competitive rates. This reflects his development 
since his appointment towards the end of 2013. The Committee considered that this increase moves him closer to a competitive level when 
compared to the equivalent roles in businesses of a similar size.

Benefits and expenses
Directors are entitled to receive reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on Company business, reimbursed on submission of an 
authorised expense claim. Where tax is payable in respect of expenses incurred by Directors wholly and necessarily for business purposes the 
Board has agreed that the relevant tax will be paid by the Company.

The Company provides benefits, principally a car allowance, life assurance and private medical insurance, for Executive Directors at a normal 
level for a company of this size. 

Retirement benefits
The Company makes taxable cash contributions in respect of post-retirement benefits for the Executive Directors. For 2016 these are 17.5 % of 
salary for both Peter Grant and Andrew Derodra. Their dependants are eligible for dependants’ pensions from their personal pension schemes. 

Annual cash bonus payments
Annual cash bonus payments are paid at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee and are subject to achievement of specific individual 
and Group objectives set at the beginning of the year, which are aligned with the overall business strategy.

The cash bonus structure for both Peter Grant and Andrew Derodra will operate for 2016 with a maximum potential of 100% of salary. The 
objectives for the two Executive Directors for 2016 have four main elements each worth up to 25% of the individual’s maximum bonus entitlement. 
The four elements are: (i) pre-exceptional operating profit; (ii) pre-exceptional cash generation before equity and debt movements; (iii) business 
development objectives; and (iv) achievement of a major strategic initiative. The first three elements have threshold levels, on target performance 
and stretch goals, with sliding scales in between. The last element is regarded as a stretch goal. On target performance in 2016 would result in 
a bonus of 60% of salary to both of the Executive Directors. The annual report on remuneration for 2016 will include retrospective disclosure of 
the targets set, subject to such information not being considered seriously commercially prejudicial to the Group. 

The Committee has not previously incorporated recovery and withholding provisions within the annual cash bonus. This was based on the 
relatively modest level of bonus, multiple performance metrics including financial and non-financial measures and thorough performance 
assessment process. However, the Committee will keep this matter under consideration as part of a review of the policy ahead of the 
2017 AGM. 

Long-term incentives 
It is the Committee’s intention to grant awards, in the form of nil cost options under the 2012 Long-term Incentive Plan, to Executive Directors 
during 2016 with a maximum face value of 100% of salary, which is in line with normal maximum grant policy approved by shareholders at the 
2014 AGM. The performance conditions applying to the 2016 awards will, as for the 2015 awards, be split, with half of the award subject to 
three-year relative total shareholder return performance targets (the “TSR tranche”) and the remaining half subject to a challenging cumulative 
adjusted earnings per share (the “EPS tranche”) financial measure. 

TSR tranche 
Half of the award will be subject to relative TSR versus the constituents of the FTSE Small Cap Index (excluding Investment Trusts) over a period 
of three financial years starting with the year in which granted (i.e. 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018). 

Vesting will take place based on the schedule set out below: 

Ranking of the Company’s TSR Percentage of Award Vesting

Below Median No vesting

Median 30%

Upper Quartile 100%

Straight line vesting occurs between the Median and Upper Quartile points
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EPS tranche
Half of the award will be subject to the achievement of pre-set cumulative adjusted earnings per share (EPS) targets. Adjusted EPS will be 
measured over a period of three financial years starting with the year in which granted (i.e. 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018). The range of 
cumulative adjusted EPS targets is currently under review with the Committee’s intention being that these will be disclosed at the time that the 
awards are granted in the announcement notifying the market of the awards to Executive Directors. Full details will also be provided in next year’s 
Annual Report on Remuneration. The structure of the targets (30% vesting for achievement of the threshold performance target through to full 
vesting for achievement against the maximum performance target) will remain as per the awards granted in the year ending 31 December 2015.

The use of cumulative targets reflects our continued preference to incentivise a smooth earnings growth profile at the same time as taking into 
account the fact that the timing of milestone and royalty payments fall outside of the direct control of the Company. As in prior years, when setting 
the targets, the Committee will consider both internal financial forecasts and external analyst consensus. The targets will be set to be similarly 
stretching to the financial targets set in prior years. 

As was the case with the cumulative adjusted EPS targets set in the year ending 31 December 2015, the Committee intends to take the 
actual EPS and adjust for exceptional items and also for any material change in the Company’s expected spend on R&D over the three-year 
performance period compared with forecasts at the time the three-year EPS target is set. The Committee will explain at the point of vesting 
the nature of any adjustments made to audited EPS numbers in relation to R&D spend (or any other adjustments from the Company’s audited 
numbers). Adjusting EPS in the manner described will ensure that future decisions on the level of investment in new R&D opportunities can be 
made without impacting the degree of incentive in the 2016 LTIP awards. 

The Committee will ensure that the targets and actual performance are fully disclosed in the relevant Annual Report on Remuneration when 
awards vest. 

Long-term incentive awards are subject to a recovery provision which applies in the event of a material misstatement coming to light within two 
years of an award vesting. 

All-employee share arrangements
Employee share ownership is encouraged and all employees are eligible to participate in either the Skyepharma Share Incentive Plan (an Inland 
Revenue approved plan) or the Skyepharma PLC International Share Purchase Plan. In the UK, the Plan gives employees the opportunity to 
purchase up to £1,800 worth of shares a year out of pre-tax salary and the Company gives additional matching shares on a 1:1 ratio. These 
matching shares will normally be released three years after they have been awarded provided that the associated shares purchased by the 
employee have been retained and provided the employee is still employed by a Group company at this time. The Skyepharma International Share 
Purchase Plan operates on a similar basis. The Plans were relaunched in August 2014 and the number of participants continues to increase.

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ fees and service contracts
During the year the Board considered the fees payable in light of current and expected time commitments of the Non-Executive Directors and 
the Chairman. Basic fee levels had not been increased since 2013 for the Non-Executive Directors, while the Company Chairman fee level was 
still not felt to fully recognise the size and complexity of the Company or his time commitment.

On this basis the Board approved basic fee increases for the Non-Executive Directors for 2016 of £5,000 for the Chairman and £2,500 for other 
Non-Executive Directors. Non-Executive Director base fees are set at £38,500 and further fees are received for additional work performed for 
the Board Committees. For membership of one of the Board Committees the fee is £3,000 for each Committee and for chairing one of the 
Committees the fee is £5,000 for each Committee, except for the Audit Committee Chairman who receives £8,000 to reflect the additional 
workload of the Committee. The Chairman of each Committee does not receive the Committee membership fee. Thomas Werner receives an 
additional fee of £4,000 for his role as Senior Independent Director. The Company Chairman receives no additional fees.

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration as a single figure (audited):

non-executive Director fees for 2016 Basic fees committee fees
additional 

responsibilities Total
Director (p.a.) (p.a.) (p.a.) (p.a.)
John Biles £38,500 £14,000 – £52,500
Frank Condella £105,000 – – £105,000
Thomas Werner £38,500 £11,000 £4,000 £53,500

Information about directors’ service contracts including unexpired terms of service contracts, have been supplied in the Chairman and Non-
Executive Directors’ appointments section of the Remuneration Policy which has been updated to show relevant information and is hereby 
incorporated in the Remuneration Report.
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remuneration report continued

Directors’ remuneration
The table below sets out details of the Directors’ total emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 (audited).

2015 2014

Directors’ emoluments notes

Fees or 
salary
£’000

Taxable 
benefit 

(note 4)
£’000

Bonuses 
or cash 

equivalent
£’000

Post-
retirement 

benefit
(note 5)

£’000

LTIP
(note 6)

£’000

Total 
2015
£’000

Fees or 
salary
£’000

Taxable 
benefits
(note 4)

£’000

Bonuses 
or cash 

equivalent 
£’000

Post-
retirement 

benefits
(note 5)

£’000

LTIP
(note 6)

£’000

Total 
2014
£’000

executive Directors

Peter Grant 340 22 255 60 1,355 2,032 315 21 300 55 – 691

Andrew Derodra 240 17 180 42 274 753 235 16 224 1 – 516

Total Executive Directors 580 39 435 102 1,629 2,785 550 37 524 96 – 1,207

non-executive Directors

Frank Condella 1 100 3 – – – 103 90 4 – – – 94

John Biles 1 50 1 – – – 51 41 1 – – – 42

Jean-Charles Tschudin 1,2 51 3 – – – 54 50 1 – – – 51

Thomas Werner 1 47 3 – – – 50 47 2 – – – 49

Total Non-Executive Directors 248 10 – – – 258 228 8 – – – 236

Former Directors

Alan Bray 3 – – – – – – 9 – – – – 9

Total 828 49 435 102 1,629 3,043 787 45 524 96 1,452

Notes:

1.  The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors received reimbursed expense benefits for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 in respect of travel, accommodation 
and subsistence costs incurred by them in attending Board and other meetings of the Company and attending to Company business. These amounts were reimbursed 
by the Company and in some cases such reimbursement is treated by the UK HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable benefit. In these cases the above figures also 
contain tax equalisation accruals to reimburse the individuals for the tax incurred. 

2. Jean-Charles Tschudin ceased to be a director on 31 December 2015.

3. Alan Bray ceased to be a Director following his death on 27 February 2014.

4.  Taxable benefits for Executive Directors relate to a car allowance and private medical insurance. Taxable benefits for Non-Executive Directors relate to costs of travel to 
and from Board meetings or otherwise on Company business, where this is taxable on the individual and compensated by the Company.

5.  These figures exclude overpayments made in error during the year to the Executive Directors on their post-retirement benefits of £4,594 (Peter Grant) and £3,427 (Andrew 
Derodra) and recovered by the Company in March 2016.

6.  The LTIP figure represents the value of the part of awards granted under the Skyepharma Long Term Incentive Plan that had performance periods ending in the period. 
The December 2012 award for Peter Grant will vest on 16 March 2016, based on performance measurements up to and including 31 December 2015. The award granted 
to Andrew Derodra on 25 November 2013 will vest on 25 November 2016, being the third anniversary of the first award granted to him, with half of this award having 
a performance condition based on cumulative EBITDA to 31 December 2015 and half based on relative TSR performance to 24 November 2016. The estimated value 
for Andrew Derodra in the table above, therefore, relates only to the EBITDA part of his award (50% of the total award) with the balance of the award to be included in 
the 2016 Directors’ emoluments table in line with the relevant regulations. The estimated face values included in the table are based on a share price of 334p being the 
mid-market closing price of the Company’s shares for the three-month period ending 31 December 2015.

Variable pay earned in respect of 2015 
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the maximum cash bonus for both Peter Grant and Andrew Derodra was 100% of salary. The annual 
bonus objectives for the two Executive Directors for 2015 had four main elements each worth up to 25% of the individual’s maximum bonus 
entitlement. The four elements were: (i) pre-exceptional operating profit; (ii) cash generation before financing and tax; (iii) business development 
objectives; and (iv) achievement of a not predetermined major strategic initiative. 

The targets for pre-exceptional operating profit ranged from a threshold of £20.79 million to a stretch target of £25.41 million and for cash 
generation before financing and tax ranged from a threshold of £12.06 million to a stretch target of £14.74 million. Actual performance during the 
year was good and pre-exceptional operating profit of £31.5 million and cash generation before financing and tax of £19.7 million meant that the 
pre-set stretch financial targets were exceeded and these elements were met in full. 

The business development objectives were measured by reference to the net present value of new pipeline development deals consummated in 
the year with targets ranging from a threshold of £15 million to a stretch target of £45 million. Specifics of actual achievements of the business 
development objectives and applicable discount rates are considered to be commercially sensitive as disclosure of such information could 
breach confidentiality agreements with certain partners and could adversely affect the Group’s negotiating position in respect of new business. 
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These achievements, therefore, cannot be disclosed in detail. However, when the target was tested, the maximum stretch target of £45 million 
was exceeded and so this target was considered to have been met in full. Subject to any ongoing commercial sensitivity around the targets set 
and achievement against them, consideration will be given to providing additional disclosure in next year’s Annual Report on Remuneration. No 
strategic initiative was achieved.

Having regard to this level of financial performance, and the achievement against the non-financial measures, the Committee considered that a 
bonus award at the level of 75 percent of the maximum possible bonus was appropriate for each Executive Director. 

For 2015, Peter Grant has been awarded a cash bonus of £255,000 and Andrew Derodra has been awarded a cash bonus of £180,000.

LTIP awards vesting in relation to performance ended 2015
The performance period for the grant of awards under the 2012 LTIP scheme made on 21 December 2012 expired at the end of 2015. Likewise  
50 per cent of awards made to Andrew Derodra on 25 November 2013, were also subject to a performance period which ended at the end of 
2015. 

For the 2012 awards, the TSR performance period commenced on the date of grant and the financial performance period commenced on  
1 January 2013. 50 percent of the award was subject to three-year relative total shareholder return performance targets (the “TSR tranche”) 
against a comparator group of the constituents of the FTSE Small Cap Index (excluding Investment Trusts) as at the commencement of the 
performance period and the remaining 50 percent of the award was subject to a challenging range of three-year cumulative earnings before 
interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation targets (the “EBITDA tranche”). The extent to which the TSR tranche may vest was also subject 
to an “underpin” condition whereby no vesting of this tranche could take place unless the Company had created a positive absolute shareholder 
return over the performance period. The EBITDA tranche was subject to a similar “underpin” condition that required the Committee to be satisfied 
with the financial progress of the Company over the performance period and if the Committee determined this condition had not been achieved 
it could have reduced the level of vesting of this tranche (including reducing it to zero) to the extent it considered appropriate.

Subject to the achievement of the above mentioned “underpin” awards would vest on the basis set out in the table below:

2012 LTIP awards granted 21.12.12 Percentage of TSr tranche that vests
Below median performance No vesting
Median performance 30%
Upper quartile performance or above 100%
Between median and upper quartile Between 30% and 100% on a straight line basis

aggregate eBITDa (for the three years 2013-2015) Percentage of EBITDA tranche that vests

Below £60 million No vesting
£60 million 30%
£90 million or above 100%
Between £60 million and £90 million Between 30% and 100% on a straight line basis

For the November 2013 awards, 50 per cent was subjected to the same EBITDA tranche as described above. The remaining 50 per cent was 
subject to a relative TSR measure.

The Committee commissioned an independent review of the TSR performance over the three-year period of the 2012 LTIP by NBS. This review 
determined that the Company’s TSR positioned it in the upper quartile of the comparator group (with three year TSR being 391%) while also 
satisfying the underpin requirement of positive absolute shareholder return. Accordingly, the Committee approved the vesting in full of this 50% 
of salary tranche of the options. 

The Committee took further advice from NBS, who were provided with the audited EBITDA numbers, to assess the Plan’s performance in respect 
of the EBITDA tranche. Cumulative EBITDA over the period was measured as £78.4m. This level of performance fell between the threshold 
(£60m) and maximum (£90m) performance levels and resulted in this target being met at 72.9% of the maximum. The Committee also considered 
that the financial performance underpin associated with this element of the award based on strong growth in most financial metrics, including 
revenue, operating profit and cash generation as well as a significantly lower net debt position had been achieved. Therefore, this element of the 
award vested at approximately 36.5% out of the maximum of 50%. 

Overall, as a result of the above, the Committee determined that for Mr Grant 86.5 per cent of his 21 December 2012 LTIP award would be eligible 
to vest on 16 March 2016 subject to his continued service requirement to this date. For Mr Derodra, 72.9% of the half of his 8 November 2013 
LTIP award subject to the above EBITDA targets will be eligible to vest on the normal vesting date for this award on 24 November 2016 subject 
to his continued service requirement to this date.

executive Director

no. of shares 
comprising 

award
awards 
vesting 

estimated
 value
£’000**

Peter Grant 469,104 86.5% 1,355
Andrew Derodra 112,649* 72.9% 274

*  As detailed above, represents half of the award granted to Andrew Derodra on 25 November 2013 being the EBITDA tranche which vests in 
the ordinary course of business in November 2016 in relation to performance ended at 31 December 2015 on the same terms as discussed 
above for the 21 December 2012 award.

**  The estimated value of the vested shares is based on a share price of 334p being the mid-market closing price of the Company’s shares for 
the three-month period ending 31 December 2015.
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remuneration report continued

LTIP awards granted in 2015
The following awards were granted under the LTIP to Executive Directors on 25 March 2015:

executive Director
no. of shares 

comprising award
Face value of awards 

at grant date*
Percentage of salary 

at grant date
Percentage of award 
vesting at threshold Performance period**

Peter Grant 105,836 £339,998 100% 25% 1.1.15 – 31.12.17
Andrew Derodra 74,708 £239,999 100% 25% 1.1.15 – 31.12.17

* Valued using the share price on the day before grant of 321.25p.  
** The performance conditions applying to the grant of these awards are explained below.

These awards will ordinarily vest in 2018 subject to satisfaction of the performance targets summarised on page 69, and continued employment. 

Summary of share scheme interests (audited)
As at 31 December 2015, the Directors held the following interests in share awards:

Grant 
date award1

Performance
 period

Share 
price 

at grant

Face value 
of awards at 

grant date

awards
at 31 

December 
2014

awards 
exercised/
released in 

the year

awards 
granted in 

the year

awards
at 31 

December 
2015

Peter Grant 21.12.12 LTIP 1.1.13 - 31.12.15 £0.70 £291,500 469,104 – 469,104

8.11.13 LTIP 8.11.13 - 7.11.16 £1.08 £118,125 123,210 – 123,210

31.3.14 LTIP 31.3.14 - 30.3.17 £1.91 £393,750 206,152 – 206,152

25.3.15 LTIP 1.1.15 - 31.12.17 £3.2125 £339,998 – – 105,836 105,836

Monthly Share 
Purchase 

Plan 
Matching 

Awards

3 years from date 
of grant

Between 
£2.635 

and 
£4.00

3,913 2,617 1,879

Andrew Derodra 25.11.13 LTIP 1.1.13–31.12.15 for 
EBITDA tranche

25.11.13–24.11.16 
for TSR tranche

£1.195 £239,000 225,299 – 225,299

31.3.14 LTIP 31.3.14–31.3.17 £1.91 £199,750 104,581 – 104,581

25.3.15 LTIP 1.1.15 – 31.12.17 £3.2125 £239,999 – – 74,708 74,708

Monthly 
(from 

31.9.14)

Share 
Purchase 

Plan 
Matching 

Awards

3 years from date 
of grant

Between 
£2.635 

and 
£4.00

178 – 1,522

1All LTIP options have been granted as ‘nil cost’ options with an expiry date on the 10th anniversary of grant.
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The performance conditions for the outstanding awards granted in 2013, 2014 and 2015 are summarised below. Full details of the performance 
conditions and actual performance will be disclosed at the end of the respective performance period. 

Granted Performance condition Performance period vesting Schedule underpin

8.11.13 TSR relative to the FTSE 
Small Cap (excluding 
Investment Trusts)

8.11.13 – 7.11.16 Below median – 0%
Median – 30%
Upper quartile – 100%
Pro-rata vesting between median 
and upper quartile 

Positive absolute 
shareholder return over 
the performance period

25.11.13* 50% of award – TSR 
relative to the FTSE 
Small Cap (excluding 
Investment Trusts)

25.11.13 – 24.11.16 Below median – 0%
Median – 30%
Upper quartile – 100%
Pro-rata vesting between median 
and upper quartile 

Positive absolute 
shareholder return over 
the performance period

50% of award aggregate 
EBITDA

01.01.13 – 31.12.15 Below £60 million – 0%
£60 million – 30% 
Above £90 million – 100%
Pro-rata vesting between £60 million 
and £90 million

Satisfactory financial 
progress over the 
performance period

31.3.14 Absolute share price 
growth (with the value of 
any dividends declared 
over the performance 
period) compared with 
the issue price of 191p

31.3.14 – 31.3.17 Below 30% increase from Issue 
Price – 0%
30% increase from Issue Price – 
30%
100% increase from Issue Price – 
100%
Pro-rata vesting between 30% and 
100% increase from Issue Price

n/a

25.3.15 50% of awards subject 
to TSR relative to 
the FTSE Small Cap 
(excluding Investment 
Trusts)

1.1.15 – 31.12.17 Below median – 0%
Median – 30%
Upper Quartile – 100%
Pro-rata vesting between median 
and upper quartile

n/a

50% of awards subject 
to cumulative adjusted 
EPS**

1.1.15 – 31.12.17 Below 65p – 0%
65p – 30%
100p – 100%
Pro-rata vesting between 65p and 
100p

n/a

* On his appointment on 25 November 2013, the Committee agreed to grant Andrew Derodra an LTIP award of 200,000 shares (subsequently adjusted for the impact of 
the Capital Raising) which equated to the value of approximately 100% of his salary. The award is subject to the same performance conditions attached to the grant of LTIP 
awards made in 2012 (see table above for further details), although the period over which the TSR tranche of performance is measured is for the three years from the date 
of grant. The grant of the award was to provide a long-term incentive to a new Director and the level of award also allowed for compensation for the loss of performance 
share plan awards that Mr Derodra had been granted by his previous employer and which lapsed on the cessation of his employment with them. 

** Adjusted EPS to be determined by the Remuneration Committee, taking actual EPS and adjusting for exceptional items and also for any material change in the Company’s 
spend on R&D over the three-year performance period compared with forecasts at the time the three-year EPS target is set. The Committee will explain at the point of 
vesting the nature of any adjustments made to audited EPS numbers in relation to R&D spend (or any other adjustments away from the Company’s audited numbers). 
Adjusting EPS in the manner described will ensure that decisions on the level of investment in new R&D opportunities can be made without impacting the degree of incentive 
in the 2015 LTIP awards. 

Matching Shares awarded free under the Skyepharma PLC Share Incentive Plan 2014 (the all-employee share plan) were awarded on a monthly 
basis (the share price range at award during 2015 was between 263.50p and 400.00p) in conjunction with the monthly share purchases. On the 
date of award of Matching Shares an equivalent number of Partnership Shares was acquired by the participant. Matching and Partnership Shares 
can be released from the Share Purchase Plan at the end of their three-year holding period. Matching Shares are not subject to any performance 
conditions.

Dilution
The Company complies with the relevant Investment Association guidelines on employee share plans which state that in any ten calendar year period 
the Company may not issue more than 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company under the LTIP plan or any other employee share plan 
adopted by the Company. 
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remuneration report continued

Performance graph
The following graph shows the Company’s performance measured by total shareholder return (“TSR”) compared with the performance of the FTSE 
All-Share Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology sector Index over the past seven years. The Remuneration Committee has used the FTSE All-Share 
Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology sector Index as representing a broad range of UK quoted pharmaceutical companies of which the Company is a 
member. The FTSE Small Cap (excluding investment trusts) Index is also shown for additional information. 

Total shareholder return

Source: Thomson Reuters
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This graph shows the growth in value, by 31 December 2015, of £100 invested in Skyepharma plc on 31 December 2008 
compared with the growth in value of £100 invested in the FTSE All-Share Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology Sector Index and 
the FTSE SmallCap (excluding invesment trusts) Index.

Skyepharma PLC FTSE All-Share Pharmaceutical 
and Biotechnology Sector Index

FTSE Small Cap (excluding 
investment trusts) Index

This table shows a single total figure for remuneration which includes the value of LTIP awards which are eligible for vesting in relation to performance 
periods which ended in the relevant year. In 2015, the performance period for the measurement of the 2012 awards expired and Peter Grant’s single 
total figure of remuneration includes the gross amount of the value of such LTIPs measured at the share price as at 31 December 2015. This is the first 
LTIP award which has vested for Directors since Peter Grant joined the Company in 2006.

Chief Executive Officer remuneration table (audited)
2015 2014 2013 2012* 2011 2010* 2009

P Grant P Grant P Grant P Grant a Müller a Müller K cunningham

Single total figure of 
remuneration (£’000) 2,032 691 642 571 424 140 650

A Müller K Cunningham

32 288

Annual bonus (%) 75.0 95.2 80.0 100.0** Nil Nil 62.9

LTIP vesting (%) 86.5 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

*Where more than one individual has held the office of Chief Executive Officer during the year, the figures shown reflect the portion of their remuneration earned as CEO during the year.
**Bonus paid to Peter Grant. Axel Müller received no bonus in 2012.

Percentage increase in the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer (audited)
The table below shows the movement in the salary, benefits and annual bonus for the Chief Executive Officer between the current and previous financial 
year compared with the cost for the same elements for the London senior management level.

Salary Taxable benefits Bonus

£’000 % change £’000 % change £’000 % change

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Chief Executive 340 315 7.9 22 21 4.8 255 300 -15.0

Average London employees* 144 126 14.3 13 10 30.0 41 68 -40.0

*  The comparator group chosen comprises the seven full time equivalent senior management employees (2014: nine full time equivalent employees) 
based in London below the CEO. The Committee believes that this group is the most appropriate comparator as they have a common remuneration 
structure and are based in the same geographical location.
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Relative importance of spend on pay 
Total revenue and EBITDA have been selected as comparators for the employee costs as these two financial measures are strong indicators of 
the activity within the Group and of its profitability.

2015
£m

2014
£m % change

Group employee costs 13.9 12.8 9

Distributions to shareholders (£m) – – –

EBITDA* (£m) 34.4 26.1 32

Total revenue 95.9 73.8 30

*Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

Directors’ interests
The following table sets out the interests of those Directors who were Directors at the year-end (including the interests of their immediate families 
and persons connected with the Directors) as at both 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014. All interests are beneficial unless otherwise 
stated. Interests in Ordinary Shares include shares acquired by the Executive Directors under the Company’s share plans:

Directors’ share interests (audited) 

executive Directors
Ordinary Shares 

31 December 2015
Ordinary Shares 

31 December 2014 
number of LTIP awards 

unvested

number of Share 
Purchase Plan Matching 

awards unvested
Peter Grant 206,748 203,548 904,302 1,879

Andrew Derodra 79,295 78,712 404,588 761

non-executive Directors – –

Frank Condella 61,115 61,115 – –

John Biles 15,000 15,000 – –
Jean-Charles Tschudin
(resigned 31.12.15) 305,728 305,728 – –

Thomas Werner 44,444 44,444 – –

Note:

1  There have been no changes in Directors’ interests between 31 December 2015 and 15 March 2016, apart from Peter Grant acquiring a further 618 Ordinary Shares 
resulting from releases of shares reaching the end of their holding periods under the International Share Purchase Plan and the purchase of further Partnership Shares 
through monthly investment under that Plan and Andrew Derodra acquiring a further 77 shares through the monthly purchase of further Partnership Shares. 

2 As at 31 December 2015, none of the Directors had any interests in shares of any other Group company.

3  The Committee considers the Executive Directors to have met their respective shareholding requirements as set out in the Remuneration Policy being to build a holding 
worth 100% (Peter Grant) and 50% (Andrew Derodra) of base salary. For information based on the prevailing salary and closing share price of 395.25p at 31 December 
2015, Peter Grant holds 240% of salary and Andrew Derodra holds 131%.

4  No executive director held any vested but unexercised options over the shares of the Company, nor has any such director exercised any such options during the year 
ending 31 December 2015.

Company share price
The market value of Ordinary Shares at 31 December 2015 was 395.25p. The market value of Ordinary Shares during 2015 ranged from the 
lowest closing mid-price of 251.00 pence to the highest closing mid-price of 404.00p. The market value of Ordinary Shares as at 15 March 2016 
was 393.50 pence.

Statement of voting at 2015 AGM
The Company is committed to ongoing dialogue with its shareholders and takes an active interest in trying to ensure that as many shareholders 
as possible submit their votes in time for any shareholder meetings. The following table sets out the actual voting in respect of the advisory 
resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report at the Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 12 May 2015. (The Company’s 
Remuneration Policy, having been approved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM for a period of three years, was not put before shareholders at 
the 2015 AGM). 

votes for % of vote votes against % of vote votes withheld

51,891,252 99.70 155,440 0.28 3,042
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2015 was another year of 
substantial progress, building 
on the strong financial 
platform created by paying off 
most of the debt in 2014.

“ 

”
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independent auditor’s report
To the Members of Skyepharma PLC

Our opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion:

•	 Skyepharma PLC’s Group financial statements and Parent Company financial statements (the “financial statements”) give a true and fair view 
of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

•	 the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;  

•	 the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

•	 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and, as regards the Group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

What we have audited
Skyepharma PLC’s financial statements comprise:

Group Parent Company

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2015 Company balance sheet as at 31 December 2015
Consolidated income statement for the year then ended Company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year  
then ended

Company cash flow statement for the year then ended

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then 
ended
Consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
Related notes 1 to 34 to the Group and Parent Company financial statements

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Overview of our audit approach
Risks of material misstatement •	 Revenue recognition

•	 Uncertain tax positions

•	 Classification of asset held for sale

•	 Completeness of deferred tax assets and liabilities

•	 Depreciation of flutiform® supply chain assets 

•	 Capitalisation of development costs relating to flutiform® 
manufacturing process

Audit scope •	 We performed an audit of the complete financial information of 4 
entities and audit procedures on specific balances for a further 1 
entity.

•	 The components where we performed full or specific audit 
procedures accounted for 99% of the Group’s adjusted profit before 
tax, 99% of revenue and 96% of total assets.

Materiality •	 Overall Group materiality of £1.5m which represents 5% of profit 
before tax.

Our assessment of risk of material misstatement
We identified the risks of material misstatement described below as those that had the greatest effect on our overall audit strategy, the allocation 
of resources in the audit and the direction of the efforts of the audit team.  In addressing these risks, we have performed the procedures below 
which were designed in the context of the financial statements as a whole and, consequently, we do not express any opinion on these individual 
areas.
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Risk Our response to the risk

What we concluded 
to the Audit 
Committee

Revenue recognition (£95.9m of risk, PY 
comparative £73.8m))
Refer to the Audit Committee Report (page 52); 
Accounting policies (page 90); and Note 4 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (page 97)

Revenue recognition is a significant audit risk across all 
trading entities within the Group.  Specifically, there is a 
risk of inappropriate revenue recognition if product sales 
are recorded in the wrong accounting period, milestones 
are not recorded in line with contractual terms or if 
non-standard contractual terms are incorporated into 
royalty agreements. Misstatements may arise in time and 
material development projects and rental revenue through 
top side journal entries. Additionally, there are judgements 
concluded upon whether the Group acts as a principal or 
agent for Lyon product sales. 

Any inappropriate judgements could result in material 
misstatement in the income statement of statement of 
financial position. 

The risk around revenue is present each year, however, 
we have aligned a risk to each material revenue stream 
this year.

For a sample of revenue transactions, we confirmed 
that the transactions had been appropriately recorded 
in the income statement and in the correct period. We 
confirmed that the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
products had been transferred to the customer by: 

•	 analysing the contract and terms of the sale to 
determine that the Group had fulfilled the requirements 
of the contract; 

•	 obtaining the underlying documentation to support the 
measurement of the revenue recognised.

For a sample of time and material contracts we:

•	 traced the hours recorded to the underlying time 
recording system to verify hours billed were 
appropriate;

•	 Met with project managers to verify progress and 
overall profitability of contracts; 

•	 Analysed the contract terms of sale and verified to 
underlying documentation to support the achievement 
of performance obligations.

We completed terms and condition confirmations with 
key partners, focusing on new or amended contracts 
during the year.

We confirmed 100% of the royalty income to third party 
confirmations.

We obtained and reviewed the manufacturing agreement 
in place for the Lyon site and a sample of customer 
contracts and confirmed that the IAS 18 conditions were 
met and the Group acts as a principal in the arrangement. 

For rental income we obtained the rental agreements and 
confirmed the rental income recognised. 

We also performed specific procedures over the 
first Mundipharma flutiform® sales milestone of £7.4m 
(€10m) which was recorded in 2015.  We verified the 
occurrence of this transaction through third party 
confirmation with Mundipharma, confirming the 
performance obligations had been met.

We concluded that 
revenue recognised in 
the year, and accrued 
and deferred revenue 
as at 31 December 
2015, is materially 
correct on the basis 
of our procedures 
performed.

Uncertain tax position  (£1.0m of risk, PY 
comparative £0.2m)
Refer to the Audit Committee Report (page 52); 
Accounting policies (page 90); and Note 11 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (pages 100 to 101)

The Group operates in a number of tax jurisdictions, 
resulting in complexities in the payment of tax.  The 
Group faces a risk that given the international nature 
of its operations; material tax exposures may not be 
appropriately provided or documented in the financial 
statements.

An unfavourable outcome on such a position could have 
a material impact on the financial statements affecting the 
current taxation balances. Due to the level of judgement 
involved in determining these positions and associated 
outcomes we have concluded that this represents a key 
risk.

This is a new risk this year, owing to the profitability of the 
group.

We challenged management’s key judgements and 
estimates in relation to tax matters by performing the 
following audit procedures:

•	 we assessed the competency and independence 
of management’s external experts and have 
audited management’s calculation to determine the 
completeness and valuation of the uncertain tax 
position. 

•	 we utilised EY tax specialists in testing the 
assumptions and estimates in relation to the level of 
positions recognised;

•	 we confirmed that the Group’s recognised tax position 
in relation to tax exposures was consistent with the 
underlying accounting records;

The audit procedures to address this risk have been 
performed by the Group audit team.

We concluded that 
management’s 
judgements in relation 
to tax positions for 
uncertain matters 
were appropriate. 
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independent auditor’s report Continued
To the Members of Skyepharma PLC

Risk Our response to the risk

What we concluded 
to the Audit 
Committee

Completeness of deferred tax assets (31 
December 2015: £1.9m; 31 December 2014 
(restated): £3.3m; 1 January 2014 (restated): 
£3.0m) and liabilities (31 December 2015: 
£3.8m; 31 December 2014 (restated): £5.0m; 1 
January 2014 (restated); £4.4m)
Refer to the Audit Committee Report (page 52); 
Accounting policies (page 90); and Note 12 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (pages 101 to 102)

In line with IAS 12 Income Taxes, management must 
account for the current and future tax consequences of 
the future recovery and settlement of the carrying amount 
of assets and liabilities that are recognised in the balance 
sheet.  

During the year-end audit procedures, we identified with 
management that the Group had unrecognised deferred 
tax liabilities and assets arising from temporary timing 
differences that should have been recognised in prior 
accounting periods. 

Management engaged external specialists to assess 
the Group’s deferred tax liabilities arising on specific 
temporary differences between local GAAP and IFRS. 

Following an assessment of the quantitative and 
qualitative considerations of the adjustments, the 
Directors have restated the comparative results to 
include the identified adjustments for deferred assets and 
liabilities as explained further in note 12. 

In light of the challenges faced by the Company in 
concluding on the appropriate recognition of deferred 
tax liabilities and assets, the Directors have implemented 
mitigating actions in the 2015 year end reporting process.

We have therefore recognised a new risk this year in 
relation to the recording and completeness of deferred 
tax liabilities.

We have assessed the competency and independence of 
management’s external specialists.

We engaged our EY tax specialists to assess the 
completeness of deferred tax asset and liability 
recognition in accordance with IAS 12. 

We obtained management’s calculations and agreed the 
inputs applied to the underlying accounting records and 
traced tax rates through to supporting evidence. 

We performed an independent assessment of the 
temporary differences that should be recognised across 
the Group and analysed this against management’s 
assessment. 

We discussed and evaluated management’s quantitative 
and qualitative analysis and agree that the adjustments 
have been correctly restated in line with IAS 8 for both the 
current and prior periods respectively. 

We considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures 
in respect of the restatement of deferred tax in the current 
year and the related disclosure in notes 11 and 12.

The audit procedures to address this risk have been 
performed by the Group audit team.

Following the 
completion of our 
audit procedures 
we concur with 
management’s 
recognition of 
deferred tax across 
the Group.  We 
concluded that 
management’s 
disclosure of the 
deferred tax, both 
in the current year 
and in the prior year 
comparatives, is 
appropriate. 

Asset held for sale (£4.1m of risk,  
PY comparative £3.9m)
Refer to accounting policies (page 90); and Note 20 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (page 106)

When an asset is classified as held for sale, it is 
expected that the asset will be sold within one year of 
this designation.  This is the second consecutive year 
that the E51 property has been classified as held for sale 
and management has continued to actively market E51 
during the year. The primary consideration pertaining 
to this identified risk relates to the classification of the 
asset at the balance sheet date and whether it has been 
appropriately disclosed as an asset held for sale.

This risk was present in the prior year. 

In response to the risk we assessed whether the 
building met the IFRS 5 criteria for an asset held for sale, 
namely that the building is available for immediate sale, 
management are committed to selling the building, the 
impending sale is highly probable and is likely to be sold 
within twelve months of the year end. 

We have inspected legal documentation relating to 
the impending sale and through discussions with legal 
counsel have confirmed that the criteria was met. 

Refer to note 34 in the financial statements which 
includes details of the sale of the building post year end, 
which confirms that the asset was correctly disclosed as 
held for sale at the year end date. The audit procedures 
to address this risk have been performed by the group 
audit team.

We concurred with 
management’s 
recognition and 
classification 
within the financial 
statements of the 
E51 property as an 
‘asset held for sale’ 
under IFRS 5, further 
evidence by the sale 
of the building on 11 
March 2016.
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Risk Our response to the risk

What we concluded 
to the Audit 
Committee

Capitalisation of development costs relating  
to flutiform® manufacturing process  
(£3.1m of risk, PY comparative £2.4m)
Refer to the Audit Committee Report (page 52); 
Accounting policies (page 90); and Note 14 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (pages 103 to 104).

The capitalisation of costs associated with the 
development of the manufacturing process for flutiform®, 
in accordance with the criteria set out in IAS 38, involves 
significant management judgement and is therefore an 
area of focus for our audit. There is a risk that costs are 
capitalised inappropriately.

There is also a risk that management may influence the 
significant judgements in respect of the capitalisation of 
development costs in order to meet market expectations 
regarding research and development expenditure.

This is a new risk this year following the continued 
capitalisation of scale up costs which is outside of 
industry practise.

We tested on a sample basis batch validation and internal 
costs capitalised and verified the nature of costs with 
key operational personnel.  Additionally, we considered 
the technical and commercial feasibility of the project, to 
confirm that the conditions for capitalisation as detailed in 
IAS 38 were met. 

Further we have consulted with industry specialists to 
verify industry practice relating to the capitalisation of 
development expenditure.  

The audit procedures to address this risk have been 
performed by the Group audit team.

In our experience 
pharmaceutical 
companies tend to 
expense rather than 
capitalise these 
expenses however we 
concurred with the 
Group’s view that the 
capitalisation policy is 
in line with IAS 38.

Depreciation of flutiform® supply chain assets 
(£0.9m of risk, PY comparative £1.0m)
Refer to the Audit Committee Report (page 52); 
Accounting policies (page 90); and Note 14 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (page 104)

The flutiform® supply chain assets are depreciated using 
the units-of-production method.

There are a number of key estimates within the 
depreciation calculation namely the units-of-production 
and the useful economic life of the assets.  

The risk is that the assumptions applied within these 
key estimates do not reflect the economic benefits to be 
obtained from the assets.

This is a new risk this year following a change in 
management’s key estimate for the depreciation of 
flutiform® supply chain assets. 

The key focus areas have been the production capacity 
of the existing supply chain assets at the Sanofi 
manufacturing site at Holmes Chapel, the reasonableness 
of the useful economic life of the assets and the 
probability of continuing production at the existing facility 
past the first break clause of the toll manufacturing 
agreement with Sanofi.

We have re-performed management’s calculation of the 
depreciation expense based on the revised management 
estimates.

The audit procedures to address this risk have been 
performed by the Group audit team.

We concluded that 
management’s 
depreciation expense 
and financial 
statement disclosures 
are compliant with  
the requirements of 
IAS 16. We encourage 
management to 
reassess the applied 
policy on an annual 
basis to ensure 
conclusions remain 
appropriate in respect 
of key assumptions. 

The scope of our audit
Tailoring the scope
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine our audit scope for each entity 
within the Group.  Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  We take into account the level 
of Group revenue and operating profit, risk profile (including country risk, historical knowledge and discussions with management and the level 
of growth in the entity), the organisation of the Group and effectiveness of Group-wide controls, changes in the business environment and any 
other known factors when assessing the level of work to be performed at each entity.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had adequate quantitative coverage of 
significant accounts in the financial statements, of the nine reporting entities of the Group, we selected five entities covering entities within the 
UK, Switzerland and France, which represent the principal business units within the Group.

Of the 5 entities selected, we performed an audit of the complete financial information of 4 entities (“full scope entities”) which were selected 
based on their size or risk characteristics. For the remaining 1 entity (“specific scope entity”), we performed audit procedures on specific 
accounts within that entity that we considered had the potential for the greatest impact on the significant accounts in the financial statements 
either because of the size of these accounts or their risk profile.  

The reporting entities where we performed audit procedures accounted for 99% (2014: 99%) of the Group’s adjusted profit before tax or 
operating profit before exceptional items used to calculate materiality, 99% (2014: 98%) of the Group’s Revenue and 99 (2014: 99%) of the 
Group’s Total assets. 

For the current year, the full scope entities contributed 96% (2014: 97%) of the Group’s adjusted profit before tax operating profit before 
exceptional items, 98% (2014: 96%) of the Group’s Revenue and 93% (2014: 90%) of the Group’s Total assets.
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independent auditor’s report Continued
To the Members of Skyepharma PLC

The specific scope entities contributed 3% (2014: 2% of operating profit before exceptional items) of the Group’s adjusted profit before tax, or 
operating profit before exceptional items used to calculate materiality, 1% (2014: 2%) of the Group’s Revenue and 6% (2014: 6%) of the Group’s 
Total assets.  The audit scope of these entities may not have included testing of all significant accounts of the entity but will have contributed to 
the coverage of significant tested for the Group.  

Of the remaining 4 entities that together represent 1% of the Group’s adjusted profit before tax, none are individually greater than 1% of the 
Group’s adjusted profit before tax).  For these entities, we performed other procedures, including analytical review, testing of consolidation 
journals and intercompany eliminations, and foreign currency translation recalculations to respond to any potential risks of material misstatement 
to the Group financial statements.

The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our audit teams.

Adjusted profit before tax

96% Full scope components

3% Speci�c scope components 

1% Other procedures

Revenue

98% Full scope components

1% Speci�c scope components 

1% Other procedures

Total assets

93% Full scope components

6% Speci�c scope components 

1% Other procedures

Involvement with component teams
In establishing our overall approach to the Group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be undertaken at each of the components 
by us, as the primary audit engagement team, or by component auditors from other EY global network firms operating under our instruction.

Audit procedures at all full scope locations were performed by the primary audit team. Where finance functions are located in overseas 
locations, the primary audit team undertook the procedures at those locations and performed the audits in the UK for entities centrally managed.

For the 1 specific scope location, where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the appropriate level of 
involvement including direction of the planned audit procedures and oversight of testing being undertaken and discussion in resolution of 
key issues, to enable us to determine that sufficient audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Group as a whole. 

The primary team interacted regularly with the component teams where appropriate during various stages of the audit and were responsible for 
the scope and direction of the audit process.  The audit work on each of the areas of risk described above was led by the Group audit team. 
This, together with the procedures performed at Group level, gave us appropriate evidence for our opinion on the Group financial statements.

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the audit and in 
forming our audit opinion.

Materiality
The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures.

•	 We determined materiality for the Group to be £1.5 million (2014: £1.1 million), which is 5% (2014: 5% of operating profit before exceptional 
items) of profit before tax.
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Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level.  It is set at an amount to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability 
that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our judgement was that 
performance materiality was 50% (2014: 75%) of our planning materiality, namely £0.7m (2014: £0.8m).  Our objective in adopting this approach 
was to conclude that undetected and uncorrected audit differences in all accounts did not exceed our planning materiality level. The performance 
materiality percentage was reduced to 50% in the current year due to the extent of corrected misstatements identified by the audit team during 
the prior year audit.  

Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts is undertaken based 
on a percentage of total performance materiality. The performance materiality set for each component is based on the relative scale and risk of 
the component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstatement at that component.  In the current year, the range of 
performance materiality allocated to components was £0.4m to £0.1m (2014: £0.4m to £0.1m).

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of £0.1m (2014: £0.1m), which is 
set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.  

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light of other relevant 
qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the Parent Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report and Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the 
audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies, 
we consider the implications for our report.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 46, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company 
and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

•	 the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

•	 the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial statements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
ISAs (UK 
and Ireland) 
reporting

We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, financial and non-financial information in the 
annual report is: 

•	 materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or 

•	 apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the 
Group acquired in the course of performing our audit; or 

•	 otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we are required to report whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our 
knowledge acquired in the course of performing the audit and the directors’ statement that they 
consider the annual report and accounts taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and 
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the entity’s performance, business 
model and strategy; and whether the annual report appropriately addresses those matters that we 
communicated to the audit committee that we consider should have been disclosed.

We have no 
exceptions to report.

Companies Act 
2006 reporting

We are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate 
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•	 the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to 
be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•	 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have no 
exceptions to report.

Listing 
Rules review 
requirements

We are required to review:

•	 the directors’ statement in relation to going concern, set out on page 45, and longer-term 
viability, set out on page 37; and

•	 the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the company’s compliance with the 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review.

We have no 
exceptions to report.

Statement on the Directors’ Assessment of the Principal Risks that Would Threaten the 
Solvency or Liquidity of the Entity
ISAs (UK 
and Ireland) 
reporting

We are required to give a statement as to whether we have anything material to add or to draw 
attention to in relation to:

•	 the directors’ confirmation in the annual report that they have carried out a robust assessment of 
the principal risks facing the entity, including those that would threaten its business model, future 
performance, solvency or liquidity;

•	 the disclosures in the annual report that describe those risks and explain how they are being 
managed or mitigated;

•	 the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether they considered it appropriate 
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any 
material uncertainties to the entity’s ability to continue to do so over a period of at least twelve 
months from the date of approval of the financial statements; and

•	 the directors’ explanation in the annual report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the 
entity, over what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, 
and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the entity will be 
able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their 
assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications 
or assumptions.

We have nothing 
material to add or to 
draw attention to.

Kevin Harkin (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
Reading
15 March 2016

Notes:

1.  The maintenance and integrity of the Skyepharma PLC web site is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of 
these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented 
on the web site.

2. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

independent auditor’s report Continued
To the Members of Skyepharma PLC
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consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2015

Note

Year ended
31 December

2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
(restated)

£m
Revenue 4 95.9 73.8
Cost of sales 5 (43.1) (32.9)
Gross profit 52.8 40.9
Selling, marketing and distribution expenses (1.3) (1.5)
Research and development expenses 6 (14.9) (12.1)
Corporate costs (4.1) (3.5)
Amortisation of intangible assets 7 (0.9) (0.8)
Share-based payment charge 7 (0.9) (0.5)
Other income 0.8 0.2
Pre-exceptional operating profit 31.5 22.7
Exceptional costs 9 — (1.1)
Operating profit 31.5 21.6
Finance costs:
 Interest 10 (1.3) (7.0)
 Revaluation gain 10 0.2 0.4
 Exceptional finance cost 9 — (25.5)
Finance income — 0.1
Foreign exchange gain on net debt 10 0.1 0.5
Profit/(loss) for the year before taxation 30.5 (9.9)
Income tax expense 11 (4.2) (1.8)
Profit/(loss) for the year after taxation 26.3 (11.7)

Earnings per share for the year
Basic 13 25.1p (13.7)p
Diluted 13 24.6p (13.7)p

Pre-exceptional earnings per share for the year
Basic 13 25.1p 17.5p
Diluted 13 24.6p 17.1p

The 2014 comparative has been restated to recognise a net 2014 charge of £0.3 million, comprising a £1.2 million charge to the income 
statement and a £0.9 million credit within the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, in respect of additional deferred tax assets 
and liabilities as explained in Note 12.

All results are attributable to the owners of the parent company. The notes to the accounts on pages 90 to 117 form an integral part of these 
financial statements. All results are derived from continuing operations.
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consolidated statement of  
comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2015

Note

Year ended
31 December

2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
(restated)

£m
Profit/(loss) for the year 26.3 (11.7)
Other comprehensive expense to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations and overseas permanent funding  (0.2) (0.3)
Deferred tax on overseas permanent funding 12 (0.3) 0.3
Net other comprehensive expense to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years (0.5) —
Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years
Actuarial losses on measurement of pension plans 25 (0.5) (2.0)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension plans 12 0.1 0.4
Net other comprehensive expense (0.9) (1.6)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 25.4 (13.3)

The 2014 comparative has been restated to recognise a net 2014 charge of £0.3 million, comprising a £1.2 million charge to the income 
statement and a £0.9 million credit within the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, in respect of additional deferred tax assets 
and liabilities as explained in Note 12. 

All results are attributable to the owners of the parent company. The notes to the accounts on pages 90 to 117 form an integral part of these 
financial statements.
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consolidated Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2015

Note

as at
31 December

2015

£m

As at
31 December

2014
(restated)

 £m

As at
1 January

2014
(restated)

 £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 14 6.5 6.1 5.3
Property, plant and equipment 15 24.9 21.6 28.5
Deferred taxation 12 1.9 3.3 3.0
Other financial assets 22 0.4 — —

33.7 31.0 36.8
Current assets
Inventories 17 9.3 10.4 8.8
Trade and other receivables 18 14.9 14.6 13.5
Cash and cash equivalents 19 41.1 32.4 16.5
Other financial assets 22 0.1 — —

65.4 57.4 38.8
Non-current assets held for sale 20 4.1 3.9 —
Total assets 103.2 92.3 75.6

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (30.0) (28.5) (22.3)
Corporate taxation payables (4.2) (0.7) —
Borrowings 22 (1.6) (5.6) (9.8)
Deferred income (0.8) (3.0) (1.3)
Provisions 23 (1.4) (1.1) —

(38.0) (38.9) (33.4)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 22 (4.8) (11.8) (90.9)
Deferred income (0.1) (6.9) (10.6)
Retirement obligations 25 (6.4) (5.9) (4.1)
Provisions 23 (0.2) (0.2) (0.1)
Deferred taxation 12 (3.8) (5.0) (4.4)

(15.3) (29.8) (110.1)
Total liabilities (53.3) (68.7) (143.5)
Net assets / (liabilities) 49.9 23.6 (67.9)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 26 179.4 179.4 120.7
Share premium 407.2 407.2 361.7
Translation reserve (28.6) (28.1) (28.1)
Own-share reserve 27 (0.1) (0.1) (0.2)
Share-based payment reserve 27 1.7 — —
Retained losses (509.7) (543.8) (531.0)
Other reserves 27 — 9.0 9.0
Total shareholders’ equity 49.9 23.6 (67.9)

The 2014 comparative has been restated to recognise a net closing liability at 31 December 2014 of £1.7 million in respect of additional deferred 
tax assets and liabilities as explained in Note 12. This includes £2.7 million arising upon long-term funding where the Group controls the reversal 
of the temporary difference.

The notes to the accounts on pages 90 to 117 form an integral part of these financial statements. Subsequent to the balance sheet date, all 
assets held for sale were sold in March 2016 (see Note 34).

Approved by the Board of Directors on 15 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

P Grant A Derodra
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

www.skyepharma.com

o
u

r Fin
a

n
cia

ls

83

Skyepharma AR 2015 - Financials PFP.indd   83 07/04/2016   08:28:34



24466.04 – 31 March 2016 11:14 AM – Proof 10

company Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2015

Note

as at
31 December

2015
£m

As at
31 December

2014
£m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 0.2 0.2
Shares in Group undertakings 16 130.5 130.9
Loans to Group undertakings 16 127.8 125.2
Other financial assets 22 0.1 —

258.6 256.3
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 18 0.6 1.0
Cash and cash equivalents 19 9.8 12.8

10.4 13.8
Total assets 269.0 270.1

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade payables 21 (0.2) (0.3)
Taxation and social security payable 21 (0.1) (0.4)
Accruals and other payables 21 (1.4) (1.6)
Provisions 23 (0.5) —

(2.2) (2.3)
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 23 (0.2) (0.1)
Total liabilities (2.4) (2.4)
Net assets 266.6 267.7

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 26 179.4 179.4
Share premium 407.2 407.2
Share based payment reserve 27 1.7 1.1
Retained losses (321.7) (329.0)
Other reserves 27 — 9.0
Total shareholders’ equity 266.6 267.7

The notes to the accounts on pages 90 to 117 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 15 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

P Grant A Derodra
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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consolidated statement of changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2015

attributable to owners of the parent

share 
capital 

£m

share 
premium 

£m

Translation 
reserve 

£m

own 
share 

reserve 
£m

share-
based 

payments 
reserve 

£m

retained 
losses 

£m

other 
reserves 

£m

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 
£m

As at 1 January 2015* 179.4 407.2 (28.1) (0.1) — (543.8) 9.0 23.6

Profit for the year — — — — — 26.3 — 26.3
Other comprehensive expense — — (0.5) — — (0.4) — (0.9)

Total comprehensive income — — (0.5) — — 25.9 — 25.4

Share-based payments (“SBP”) — — — — 0.9 — — 0.9
Transfer between reserves (SBP) — — — — 0.8 (0.8) — —
Transfer between reserves (other) — — — — — 9.0 (9.0) —
As at 31 December 2015 179.4 407.2 (28.6) (0.1) 1.7 (509.7) — 49.9

*The 2014 comparative has been restated to recognise additional deferred tax assets and liabilities as explained in Note 12. 

A separate share-based payment reserve has been presented ahead of the 2012 Employee Long-Term Incentive Plan vesting in March 2016 (see 
Note 28: Share-based payments). Other transfers are explained in Note 27: Reserves. 

The notes on pages 90 to 117 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2014
Attributable to owners of the parent

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Translation 
reserve 

£m

Own 
share 

reserve 
£m

Retained 
losses 

£m

Other 
reserves 

£m

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 
£m

As at 1 January 2014 120.7 361.7 (25.0) (0.2) (530.8) 9.0 (64.6)

Restatement for deferred tax (Note 12) — — (3.2) — (0.2) — (3.4)
As at 1 January 2014 (restated) 120.7 361.7 (28.2) (0.2) (531.0) 9.0 (68.0)

Loss for the year — — — — (10.5) — (10.5)
Restatement for deferred tax (Note 12) — — — — (1.2) — (1.2)

Restated loss for the year — — — — (11.7) — (11.7)

Other comprehensive expense — — (0.5) — (2.0) — (2.5)
Restatement for deferred tax (Note 12) — — 0.5 — 0.4 — 0.9

Comprehensive expense for the year (restated) — — — — (1.6) — (1.6)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (restated) — — — — (13.3) — (13.3)

Issue of share capital 58.7 53.3 — — — — 112.0
Costs associated with capital raise — (7.8) — — — — (7.8)
Other movements — — 0.1 0.1 — — 0.2
Share-based payments — — — — 0.5 — 0.5
As at 31 December 2014 (restated) 179.4 407.2 (28.1) (0.1) (543.8) 9.0 23.6

The 2014 comparative has been restated to recognise additional deferred tax assets and liabilities as explained in Note 12. 

The notes on pages 90 to 117 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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company statement of changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2015

attributable to owners of the company

share 
capital 

£m

share 
premium 

£m

share-based 
payments 

reserve
£m

retained 
 losses 

£m

other 
reserves 

£m

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 
£m

As at 1 January 2015 179.4 407.2 1.1 (329.0) 9.0 267.7
Loss for the year — — — (1.1) — (1.1)
Total comprehensive expense for the year — — — (1.1) — (1.1)
Adjustment to share based payment reserve — — (0.3) 0.3 — —
Share-based payments — — 0.9 (0.9) — —
Transfer between reserves — — — 9.0 (9.0) —
As at 31 December 2015 179.4 407.2 1.7 (321.7) — 266.6

The balance of the merger reserve presented in other reserves has been transferred to the retained loss reserve as a separate reserve is no longer 
required under the Companies Act (see Note 27: Reserves).

For the year ended 31 December 2014
Attributable to owners of the company

Share 
capital 

£m

Share
 premium 

£m

Own-share 
reserve 

£m

Retained 
losses 

£m

Other 
reserves 

£m

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 
£m

As at 1 January 2014 120.7 361.7 0.9 (299.8) 9.0 192.5
Loss for the year — — — (29.5) — (29.5)
Total comprehensive expense for the year — — — (29.5) — (29.5)
Issue of share capital 58.7 53.3 — — — 112.0
Costs associated with Capital Raise — (7.8) — — — (7.8)
Share-based payments — — — 0.3 — 0.3
Own shares acquired — — 0.2 — — 0.2
As at 31 December 2014 179.4 407.2 1.1 (329.0) 9.0 267.7

The notes on pages 90 to 117 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2015

Note

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated by operations (a) 25.9 30.2
Income tax paid (0.7) (0.3)
Net cash generated by operating activities 25.2 29.9

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3.5) (1.1)
Purchases of intangible assets (1.0) (1.8)
Interest received 0.1 0.1
Net cash used in investing activities (4.4) (2.8)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings (11.3) (16.1)
Repayment of bonds (2014 exceptional) — (95.6)
Costs associated with repayment of bonds (2014 exceptional) — (0.4)
Interest paid (1.0) (3.2)
Issue of shares (2014 exceptional) — 112.0
Costs associated with capital raise (2014 exceptional) — (7.8)
Financing transaction costs paid (0.7) —
Net cash used in financing activities (13.0) (11.1)

Effect of exchange rate changes 0.9 (0.1)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8.7 15.9

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 32.4 16.5
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8.7 15.9
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 41.1 32.4

The notes on pages 90 to 117 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

(a) cash generated by operations Note

Year ended
31 December

2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
(restated)

£m
Profit/(loss) for the year 26.3 (11.7)

Adjustments for:
 Tax 11 4.2 1.8
 Depreciation 7 1.9 2.6
 Amortisation 7 0.9 0.8
 Finance costs 10 1.3 6.0
 Exceptional finance cost 9 — 25.5
 Finance income 10 (0.2) (0.1)
 Share-based payment charge 28 0.9 0.5
 Exchange (gains)/losses on translation (1.1) 0.8
 Exceptional operating cost 9 — 1.1
 Other non-cash charges 1.1 (0.1)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 35.3 27.2

Changes in working capital
 Decrease/(increase) in inventories 17 1.2 (1.8)
 Increase in trade and other receivables 18 (0.2) (1.4)
 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 21 (0.6) 7.7
 Decrease in restructuring provision 23 (0.6) —
 Decrease in deferred income (9.2) (1.5)
Cash generated by operations 25.9 30.2

The 2014 comparative has been restated to recognise a net 2014 charge of £0.3 million, comprising a £1.2 million charge to the income 
statement and a £0.9 million credit within the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, in respect of additional deferred tax assets 
and liabilities as explained in Note 12.
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Note

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash used in operations (a) (3.3) (3.0)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (0.1) (0.1)
Net cash used in investing activities (0.1) (0.1)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of new intercompany loans (1.9) —
Repayment of bonds (2014 exceptional) — (95.9)
Issue of shares (2014 exceptional) — 112.0
Costs associated with capital raise (2014 exceptional) — (7.8)
Revolving Credit Facility issue costs (0.1) —
Interest received 2.4 4.4
Net cash generated by financing activities 0.4 12.7

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3.0) 9.6

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 12.8 3.2
Net (decrease)/increase in cash (3.0) 9.6
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9.8 12.8

notes to the company cash flow statement

(a) cash used in operations

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Loss for the year (1.1) (29.5)

Adjustments for non-cash movements:
 Finance costs — 1.3
 Exceptional finance cost — 25.5
 Finance income (2.4) —
 Share-based payment charge 0.6 0.3
 Exchange gains on translation (0.7) (0.9)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (3.6) (3.3)

Changes in working capital
 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables 0.4 (0.1)
 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (0.8) 0.4
 Increase in provisions 0.7 —

Cash used in operations (3.3) (3.0)

company cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2015

1 General information
Skyepharma PLC (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are a specialty pharmaceutical group which combines proven 
scientific expertise with validated proprietary drug delivery technologies to develop innovative oral and inhalation pharmaceutical products. The 
products developed by the Group are marketed through partnerships with leading pharmaceutical companies.

Skyepharma PLC is a public limited company listed on the London Stock Exchange and the Company is incorporated and domiciled in the 
United Kingdom with its registered office at 46-48 Grosvenor Gardens, London SW1W 0EB. The Company is registered in England & Wales 
jurisdiction of the United Kingdom.

2. Accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
The Group and Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
adopted by the European Union (“EU”) as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and applied 
in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis and in accordance with the historical cost convention. All values are presented 
in sterling rounded to the nearest £0.1 million.

The Consolidated Financial Statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. In addition, the Group presents 
an additional balance sheet at the beginning of the earliest period presented when there is a retrospective restatement of items in financial 
statements. An additional balance sheet as at 1 January 2014 is presented in these consolidated financial statements due to the restatement of 
the prior period. Refer accounting policy 2.6.

In accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate income statement has been presented for the Company. The principal 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this financial information are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to 
all the financial years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.2 Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of Skyepharma PLC and its subsidiary undertakings. Subsidiaries are all 
entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control 
ceases. Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated in preparing the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the policies adopted by the Group.

The Company has two employee share trusts to facilitate share transactions pursuant to employee share schemes. Although these trusts are 
separate legal entities from the Group, they are consolidated into the Group’s results in accordance with the IFRS 10 rules on special purpose 
vehicles. The Company is deemed to control the trusts principally because the trusts cannot operate without the funding the Group provides.

All Group subsidiaries prepare yearly financial information to 31 December consistent with the Company.

2.3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of these financial statements requires the Directors to make a number of estimates and assumptions and exercise judgment 
in applying the Group’s IFRS accounting policies. These estimates and assumptions may affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, 
revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The key judgements are set out below:

2.3.1 Revenue recognition relating to collaborative development arrangements
The Group enters into a wide variety of collaborative agreements with its partners which may span several reporting periods and involve multiple 
revenue streams. Significant judgements and estimates may be required in assessing the obligations under such contracts over time and the 
revenue allocated to the obligations in each period.

2.3.2 Capitalisation of development costs
Development costs incurred by the Group are capitalised when the recognition criteria for an internally generated intangible asset are met, 
usually when regulatory filing has been made in a major market and approval is considered highly probable.

The initial capitalisation of costs is based on judgement that the related development project is both technologically and economically feasible.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and are reviewed for indicators of impairment 
at each reporting period. Development costs that do not meet the recognition criteria for an internally generated intangible asset are expensed 
as incurred. Refer to accounting policy 2.15.

The key estimates are set out below:

2.3.3 Depreciation of flutiform® supply chain assets
Assets relating to the flutiform® supply chain are recorded at cost and are depreciated on a units of production basis over their estimated useful 
lives from the time they are available for use. The estimate of units of production is a function of forecasted sales and any output not produced 
for external sale. Increases in units of production from planned investments in capacity are not included in the units of production estimate until 
the capacity is available. Any change in the estimated units of production or useful economic lives could affect the future results of the Group.
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2. Accounting policies continued
2.3.4 Swiss pension benefits
The Group operates a pension scheme in respect of its employees in Switzerland. As some of the risks of the scheme match the criteria for a 
defined benefit scheme, the scheme is accounted for as a defined benefit plan in accordance with IAS 19 (Revised). Whilst management believes 
that best practice is followed, application of IAS 19 (Revised) involves estimates about uncertain future events based on advice received from 
independent actuaries including life expectancy of scheme members, salary and pension increases, inflation, as well as discount rates and asset 
values at the year-end.

2.3.5 Taxation and deferred taxation
The Group operates in a number of taxation jurisdictions and is required to estimate, after taking account of external professional advice, the 
corporate tax in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. The recognition of tax benefits and assessment of provisions against tax benefits 
requires management judgement. 

The Swiss tax rate is an estimate based upon the split of foreign and domestic trade for tax purposes that will be finalised in the 2015 tax 
submission made later in the second half of 2016. All provisions are based on management’s interpretation of country specific tax law and the 
likelihood of settlement.

2.4 Changes in accounting estimates
With significant capital investments being made in flutiform® production capacity and forecast demand from license partners, the Group has 
reviewed the useful economic lives of the assets in the flutiform® supply chain.

The useful economic lives of certain flutiform® supply chain assets have been increased from an average of eight years to an average of fifteen 
years to 2027. As a result, the depreciation expense in 2015 is £0.7 million lower than it would have been under the previous estimates.

The change in this estimate has been made to align the assets useful economic lives to their estimated production life. This is also aligned to the 
current expiry terms of the supply agreement with the Group’s largest customer. It should also be noted that the majority of the flutiform® supply 
chain assets of £15.1 million are located within the site of the Group’s toll manufacturing partner. The toll manufacturing agreement continues 
indefinitely from 2020 providing that neither party provides 24 months cancellation notice. If cancellation notice were to be received, then there 
would be a risk of impairment of these assets albeit the Directors have reasonable certainty as at the date of these financial statements that such 
notice will not be received.

2.5 Future changes to accounting policies
There were no changes in accounting standards over the year that caused a significant impact on reported performance.

New Standards
Certain changes to IFRS will be applicable to the Group and Parent financial statements in future years. Set out below are those which are 
considered to be most relevant.

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Classification and Measurement (Effective 1 January 2018)

•	 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Effective 1 January 2018)

•	 IFRS 16 Leases (Effective 1 January 2019)

IFRS 9 simplifies financial instrument classifications and hedge accounting rules as well as introducing impairment requirements for loans. This 
standard is not expected to materially impact reported performance.

IFRS 15 introduces a new five step approach to revenue recognition. The timing and amount of revenue recognised for the Group’s complex 
collaborative arrangements may change between years. Management has started to assess the implications of implementation.

IFRS 16 removes the current distinction between an operating and finance lease, introducing consistent requirements for all leases similar to the 
current finance lease accounting. The lease for the Corporate Head Office in London as well as other smaller trade related operating leases will 
be brought on balance sheet at the fair value of future minimum lease payments.

The following amendments and interpretations relevant to the Group have also been issued at the date of these accounts but are not yet 
effective. These are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.

•	 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (issued on 
11 September 2014);

•	 Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: Investment Entities – Applying the Consolidation Exception (issued on 18 December 2014);

•	 Definition of a business;

•	 Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016;

•	 Annual improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017; and

•	 Improvements to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

2. Accounting policies continued
2.6 Restatement of deferred taxation
The Group did not recognise deferred tax on certain temporary differences between the local accounting base and the tax base. Opening 2014 
reserves and the 2014 comparative Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated 
Balance Sheet have been restated now to recognise these items. The impacts of restating these deferred tax balances are presented and 
explained in Note 12: Deferred taxation. 

Significant accounting policies
The following accounting policies are considered significant, as opposed to critical, in terms of reported performance of the Group and Parent 
Company. 

Significant policies are listed below:

2.7 Foreign currencies
Items included in the Financial Statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in pounds sterling (£), which is the 
Company’s and the Group’s presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions, being transactions denominated in a currency other than an individual Group entity’s functional currency, are 
translated into the relevant functional currencies using the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the underlying transactions. Foreign currency 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary foreign currency assets and liabilities 
at year-end rates of exchange are recognised in the income statement except when deferred in equity on inter-company net investment loans. 

Non-monetary items arising from foreign currency transactions are not retranslated in the individual Group entity’s accounting records.

Exchange gains and losses on loans and on short-term foreign currency borrowings and deposits are included within finance costs. Exchange 
differences on all other foreign currency transactions are recognised in operating profit.

In the Consolidated Financial Statements, income and cash flow statement items for Group entities with a functional currency other than sterling 
are translated into sterling at monthly average exchange rates, which approximate to actual rates, for the relevant accounting periods. Assets 
and liabilities of Group undertakings are translated at the sterling exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Exchange differences between 
retained profits of overseas subsidiary undertakings translated at average and closing rates of exchange are taken to reserves, as are differences 
arising on the retranslation to sterling (using closing rates of exchange) of net assets on consolidation.

2.8 Segmental reporting
The Group is managed on the basis of a single reportable segment being the development and supply of pharmaceutical products. This is 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to, and regularly reviewed by, the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”). The CODM is 
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments and has been identified as the Board.

2.9 Revenue recognition
Revenue is stated net of sales taxes, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group as follows:

2.9.1 Licence signing and milestone fees
Licence signing and milestone fees represent amounts earned from licencing agreements, including up-front payments, milestone payments 
and technology access fees. Revenues are recognised where they are non-refundable, where the Group’s obligations related to the revenues 
have been discharged and their collection is reasonably assured. Signing payments for license agreements are deferred and recognised on a 
systematic basis over the period of development to regulatory filing. Milestone payments related to partner sales after certain deductions (net 
sales), or scientific or technical achievements are recognised in income when the milestone is accomplished.

2.9.2 Contract research and development revenue
Contract research and development revenue represents amounts earned for services rendered under development contracts. Revenues are 
recognised in the period in which they are earned.

2.9.3 Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised on an accruals basis and is derived from a percentage of licensee net product sales in accordance with the 
substance of the relevant agreement. Generally, the Group receives net sales information from the licensee on a quarterly basis in arrears.

2.9.4 Product supply
Product supply revenues principally comprise income from sales of product manufactured, contract manufacturing fees invoiced to third parties 
and other income derived from manufacturing and supply agreements. Revenues are generally recognised upon transfer to the customer of 
significant risks and rewards, usually upon despatch of goods shipped where the sales price is agreed and collectability is reasonably assured.
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2. Accounting policies continued
2.9.5 Other Revenue
Other revenue includes the Group’s share of net sales (on a cash received basis) of EXPAREL® in accordance with the terms of the sale of the 
Group’s injectable business in 2007. Revenue is recognised as the Group’s share of net sales accrues.

Other revenue also includes rental income in respect of the lease to the Aenova Group of the Group’s manufacturing facility in Lyon, France. 
Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

2.10 Cost of sales
Cost of sales is charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. Cost of sales comprises direct and indirect costs of 
manufacturing, royalty’s payable as well as costs relating to the support of the ongoing commercial operation of the flutiform® supply chain.

2.11 Research and development
Research and development expenditure comprises the direct and indirect costs of projects (including third party costs), feasibility studies, 
technical development, costs of chemistry, manufacturing and control development, clinical work and the registration and maintenance of 
intellectual property. This is charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred unless the criteria for recognising development 
expenditure as an asset are met in which case, development expenditure is capitalised. Regulatory and other uncertainties generally mean that 
the criteria are not met.

2.12 Other income and expenditure
Other income includes rental income where the Group acts as a lessor except for rent income in respect of the Group’s manufacturing facility 
in Lyon, France which is included in other revenue. Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term adjusting for any 
incentives offered to the lessee over the lease.

Other expenditure comprises selling, marketing and distribution expenses and corporate costs which are charged to the income statement in the 
period in which they are incurred. Selling, marketing and distribution expenses comprise the direct and indirect costs of business development, 
marketing and distribution. Corporate costs comprise operating expenditure not directly related to research and development, manufacturing or 
business development.

2.13 Taxation
Taxation is chargeable on the profits for the year, together with deferred taxation.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided in full on temporary differences generated because certain transactions go through local market tax returns in different 
periods from which the same transaction is presented within the Group Financial Statements. These temporary differences cause a resulting 
difference between the tax base and the accounting base of certain assets and liabilities. The difference between the tax and accounting base 
of the underlying item generates either a potential obligation to pay more tax in the future (a deferred tax liability) or a right to pay less tax in the 
future (a deferred tax asset) as at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the expected future tax rate applicable to when the difference is expected to reverse. This 
assessment is made with reference to the current tax rate and to enacted or substantively enacted tax legislation of the relevant jurisdiction. 

A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available such that the asset can be 
utilised, or where the tax asset would otherwise offset a tax liability.

Deferred tax liabilities are booked at each balance sheet date without regard for future tax planning in accordance with IAS 12 Income taxes. 

The deferred tax charge, or credit, for each period is presented either within the income statement or within other comprehensive income 
consistent with the presentation of the underlying item to which the deferred tax relates. 

In accordance with IAS 12 deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. This rule applies even when it is considered unlikely that any 
obligation to pay or right to save tax will arise in the foreseeable future. 

In accordance with IAS 1.56 all deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current regardless of when the utilisation may occur.

2.14 Exceptional items
Exceptional items, which are presented on the face of the income statement, are those material items of income and expense which, because 
of the nature and expected infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit separate presentation to allow shareholders to understand better 
the elements of financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods and the assessment of trends in financial 
performance.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

2. Accounting policies continued
2.15 Intangible assets
The intangible assets shown on the Group Balance Sheet consist of intellectual property, computer software and development costs for an asset 
in the course of construction relating to the flutiform® manufacturing process.

Intangible assets are stated at cost less provision for amortisation and impairment. Licences, patents, know-how and marketing rights separately 
acquired or acquired as part of a business combination are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives, generally not 
exceeding 20 years, from the time they are available for use.

The estimated useful lives for determining the amortisation charge of intellectual property take into account patent lives, where applicable, as 
well as the value obtained from periods of non-exclusivity. Development costs incurred by the Group and associated with acquired licences, 
patents, know-how or marketing rights are written off to the income statement when incurred, unless the criteria for recognition of an internally 
generated intangible asset are met, usually when a regulatory filing has been made in a major market and approval is considered highly probable.

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line base over periods ranging from three to five years.

2.16 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) is stated at the cost of purchase or construction less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Financing costs are capitalised within the cost of qualifying assets under construction.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated to the item will flow to the Group. Any repairs and maintenance are charged to the Income Statement on 
an accruals basis.

Depreciation of PP&E is calculated to write off the cost less residual value over the expected useful life from the item of PP&E being available 
for use. PP&E for the flutiform® supply chain is depreciated using the units of production method which varies between assets dependent on 
the nature of that asset.

PP&E other than for the flutiform® supply chain is depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold buildings 20 to 50 years
Laboratory, manufacturing and office equipment 3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Short leasehold property Over the life of the lease

No depreciation is provided on freehold land or assets classified as held for sale or assets under construction.

On disposal of PP&E, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and impairments are removed from the Financial Statements and the net 
amount, less any proceeds, is taken to the Income Statement.

2.17 Non-current assets held for sale
A property in Switzerland previously classified under Property, Plant and Equipment is classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2014 and 
31 December 2015 in accordance with IFRS 5. An agreement to sell the property was subsequently signed in March 2016 which confirms its 
classification as held for sale at the balance sheet date.

2.18 Leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on an accruals basis net of any leasehold incentives or premiums 
received spread over the life of the lease.

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease substantially transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases.  In the current and prior period, the Group and Company did not classify any leases as finance 
leases.

2.19 Impairment of non-current assets
The carrying values of all non-current assets are reviewed for impairment, either on a stand-alone basis or as part of a larger cash generating unit, 
when there is an indication that the carrying amount of a cash generating unit might not be recoverable. A cash generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable group of assets that generates cash flows which are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets or groups of assets. 
Intangible assets which are not yet available for use are tested annually for impairment.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the higher of the asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and its value-in-use. Impairment losses on non-current assets excluding goodwill are only reversed if there has been a change in 
estimates used to determine recoverable amounts and only to the extent that the revised recoverable amounts do not exceed the carrying values 
that would have existed, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no impairments been recognised.

2.20 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost represents the weighted average costs incurred in acquiring inventories 
and bringing them to their existing location and condition. This includes raw materials, directly attributable labour, contract manufacturing fees 
charged and direct overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling prices less costs of completion and sale.

Inventory manufactured or acquired as part of a development contract is expensed to the Income Statement unless its saleability is assured.
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2. Accounting policies continued
2.21 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the relevant instrument 
and derecognised when it ceases to be party to such provisions. Such assets and liabilities are classified as current if they are expected to be 
realised or settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at either fair value or amortised cost 
including directly attributable transaction costs as set out below:

The Group has the following categories of financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, current balances with banks and similar institutions and highly liquid investments with 
maturities of three months or less. They are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and have an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Any outstanding bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Loans and receivables
Receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, subject to reduction for allowance for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts. These estimates for irrecoverable amounts are recognised when there is objective evidence that the full amount receivable 
will not be collected according to the original terms of the asset. Such evidence might include financial difficulties of the debtor, defaults 
of payment or significant overdue balances. For interest-bearing assets, their carrying value includes accrued interest receivable. Long-term 
payables and receivables are discounted where the effect is material.

A financial asset or liability is generally de-recognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or expires. Where an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms then it is also treated as expired, and a new 
financial liability recognised.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the 
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised at fair value. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence 
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts 
payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If 
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Borrowings
Obligations for loans and borrowings are recognised when the Group becomes party to the related contracts and are measured initially at fair 
value. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

Fees related to the acquisition of finance are normally deducted from amortised cost value unless no draw down against any facility has occurred 
in which case these fees are capitalised as a financial asset and amortised over the life of the facility to which they relate.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or other cancellation of liabilities are recognised respectively in finance income and 
finance cost.

2.22 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has an obligation, either present, legal or constructive and where the exact timing or amount to 
pay to settle this obligation is uncertain. An obligation arises as a result of past events when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Restructuring charges are provided in the year in which management 
has committed to a plan and it is probable that an obligation has been incurred that can be reliably estimated. Where material, provisions are 
discounted at a discount rate appropriate to the future expected cash flows of the item being discounted.

www.skyepharma.com

o
u

r Fin
a

n
cia

ls

95

Skyepharma AR 2015 - Financials PFP.indd   95 07/04/2016   08:28:35



24466.04 – 31 March 2016 11:14 AM – Proof 10

notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

2. Accounting policies continued
2.23 Retirement benefit obligations
The costs of providing pensions under defined-benefit retirement funds in Switzerland are calculated using the projected unit credit method and 
spread over the period during which the benefit is expected to be derived from the employees’ services, consistent with the advice of qualified 
actuaries.

Pension obligations are measured as the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at rates reflecting the yields of high quality 
corporate bonds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date. 

The costs of long-service benefits payable upon retirement, predominately arising in France are calculated in a similar way to defined-benefit 
pension schemes and spread over the period during which the benefit is expected to be derived from the employees’ services, in accordance 
with the advice of qualified actuaries.

Actuarial gains and losses and the effect of changes in actuarial assumptions, are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
the year in which they arise. The Group (and Company) also contributes to UK defined-contribution plans and these are charged to the Income 
Statement as incurred.

Where benefits are provided through defined-contribution schemes, payments to these are charged as an expense as they fall due.

2.24 Share based payments
The Group has equity-settled shared-based compensation plans. Employee share plan incentives in the form of shares are provided to employees 
under share option and share award schemes. These typically have an associated 3-years service condition and a combination of market or 
non-market based performance conditions.

For market based performance conditions, the fair values of these options and awards are calculated at their grant dates using a Black-Scholes 
option pricing model and charged to the Income Statement over the relevant vesting periods. For non-market based performance conditions, 
the fair values of these options and awards are calculated at their grant date fair value and are subsequently adjusted based upon Management’s 
expectation of how many will eventually vest in relation to each performance condition.

The estimate of how many shares will eventually vest in relation to each performance condition at their grant date fair value is presented within 
the Share Based Payment reserve in equity. A transfer is made between the Share Based Payment reserve and retained earnings when awards 
vest and their vesting date value are known.

2.25 Employee share trusts
The Group provides finance to ESOP Trusts to either purchase company shares on the open market, or to subscribe for newly issued share 
capital, to meet the Group’s obligation to provide shares when employees exercise their options or awards. Costs of running the ESOP Trusts 
are charged to the Income Statement.

Shares held by the ESOP Trusts are deducted from other reserves and presented as Treasury shares until such time that an employee exercises 
their award.

2.26 Investments in subsidiaries (Company)
Investments are included at cost, less provision for any impairment.
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3. Segmental reporting
For management purposes, the Group is treated as one reportable operating segment, being the development and supply of pharmaceutical 
products.

Revenue from external customers
Year ended

31 December
2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

UK 9.2 11.8
Switzerland 35.9 23.8
Rest of Europe 11.6 5.8
North America 7.8 14.8
Japan 20.3 10.0
Bermuda 11.0 7.4
Rest of World 0.1 0.2
Total revenue 95.9 73.8

As required by IFRS 8 Segmental reporting, the geographical split of revenue is based on the location of the customer which is invoiced for sales 
and does not reflect the country in which related products are sold.

Information about major customers
Revenue earned from the Group’s largest customers and licensees is as follows: Customer 1 – £43.2 million (2014: £30.4 million), Customer 2 – 
£20.4 million (2014: £10.0 million) and Customer 3 – £6.6 million (2014: £4.1 million).

Non-current assets by location
Year ended

31 December
2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014 
£m

UK 0.2 6.0
France 3.9 7.8
Switzerland 27.7 13.9
Total non-current assets 31.8 27.7

Non-current assets consist of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and other financial assets.

4. Revenue by income stream
Year ended

31 December
2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Revenue earned is analysed as follows:
 Signing and milestone payments 7.8 9.1
 Contract research and development revenue 6.4 8.3
 Royalties 22.5 17.2
 Product supply 53.0 34.2
 Other revenue 6.2 5.0
Total revenue 95.9 73.8

During the year ended 31 December 2015, flutiform® generated £7.4 million in milestone payments (2014: £4.1 million), £3.9 million of contract 
development revenue (2014: £3.5 million), £5.8 million of royalties (2014: £3.9 million) and £47.2 million in product supply revenues (2014: £29.0 
million). Other revenue includes £4.7 million (2014: £3.3 million) from the Group’s share of net sales of EXPAREL® in the United States and £1.5 
million (2014: £1.6 million) in rental income in respect of the lease to the Aenova Group of the Group’s manufacturing facility in Lyon, France.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

5. Cost of sales
Year ended

31 December
2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Product supply 42.5 32.3
Other cost of sales 0.6 0.6
Total cost of sales 43.1 32.9

During the year ended 31 December 2015, cost of sales related to the supply of flutiform® totalled £35.7 million (2014: £26.0 million).

6. Research and development expenses
Year ended

31 December
2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Clinical trials, supplies and other external costs directly recharged to development partners 2.3 1.1
Other external clinical trial and supply expenses 0.8 0.6
Internal research and development expenses 11.8 10.4
Total research and development expenses 14.9 12.1

7. Pre-exceptional operating profit
Pre-exceptional operating profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Depreciation 1.9 2.6
Amortisation 0.9 0.8
Staff costs 13.9 12.3
Share-based payments 0.9 0.5

Auditors’ remuneration
It is the Group’s policy to employ the Company’s Audit firm on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where their expertise and 
experience with the Group are important, principally tax advice and as reporting accountants on significant transactions, or where they are 
awarded assignments on a competitive basis. During the year, the Group (including the Company’s foreign subsidiaries) obtained the following 
services from the Group’s auditors at costs detailed below:

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Audit of these financial statements 0.2 0.1
Audit of subsidiaries 0.1 0.1
Total audit 0.3 0.2
All other non-audit services — 0.2
All taxation advisory services 0.1 0.1
Total non-audit services 0.1 0.3
Total auditors’ remuneration 0.4 0.5

Audit fees of £25,000 were payable in respect of the Company (2014: £18,700) and are included in the analysis above.
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8. Staff costs and Directors’ emoluments
(a) Staff costs

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Wages and salaries 10.7 10.4
Social security costs 1.1 1.1
Contributions to defined benefit pension plan 0.6 0.6
Contributions to money purchase pension plans 0.4 0.1
Other benefits 0.3 0.1
Interim consultants and temporary staff 0.8 —
Total staff costs 13.9 12.3

The average number of people including Executive Directors employed by the Group during the year totalled 108 (2014: 92) and comprised 87 
(2014: 75) in research and development and related support services, 6 (2014: 5) in supply chain and 15 (2014: 12) in administration. The average 
number of people employed by the Company was 14 (2014: 12).

(b) Key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel in aggregate was as follows:

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Wages and salaries 2.8 2.5
Social security costs 0.3 0.1
Pensions
 Defined benefit plan 0.1 0.1
 Money purchase pension plans 0.2 0.1
Other benefits 0.1 0.1
Non-Executive Directors’ fees 0.2 0.2
Total staff costs 3.7 3.1

Key management personnel comprise the Board and the senior management team; 12 people in total (2014: 13 people). In accordance with 
Schedule 5 (11.1) of CA2006, the 2012 Long Term Incentive Share plan is excluded from this disclosure as it does not solely relate to payments 
made for 2015 employment services.

(c) Directors’ emoluments
Year ended

31 December
2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Fees or Salary 0.8 0.8
Taxable benefits 0.1 0.1
Cash bonus 0.4 0.5
Money purchase pension plans 0.1 0.1
Total Directors’ emoluments 1.4 1.5

The table above includes remuneration for the highest paid Director of £0.7m (2014: £0.7m). Information about individual Director remuneration 
is provided in the Remuneration Report. 

In accordance with Schedule 5 (11.1) of CA2006, the 2012 Long-Term Incentive Share plan is excluded from this disclosure as it does not solely 
relate to payments made for 2015 employment services.

9. Exceptional costs
There were no exceptional items during the year (2014: £26.6m). During 2014, the Capital Raise and Bond repayment on 30 April 2014 resulted 
in a £25.5 million exceptional finance cost. Refer to Note 22: Borrowings.

Also in 2014, the Aenova Group finalised a restructuring plan for the Facility in Lyon. Under these arrangements, some restructuring costs were 
agreed to be reimbursed by Skyepharma and accordingly a £1.1 million exceptional operating cost was recognised. The outstanding amount as 
at 31 December 2015 of £0.4m is presented within current provisions (Note 23) as this liability is expected to be settled in 2016.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

10. Finance costs and income

 

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Finance costs
 Interest on bank borrowings 0.3 0.4
 Interest on CRC finance 0.7 2.8
 Interest on Bonds — 3.7
 Facility fees and amortisation of RCF issue costs 0.3 0.1
Total finance costs 1.3 7.0

Finance costs include a gain on revaluation of liabilities due to Paul Capital and CRC borrowings of £0.2m (2014: £0.4m). Foreign exchange gains 
on net debt were £0.1m (2014: £0.5m).

11. Taxation

 Note

Year ended
31 December

2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
(restated)

£m
Current tax:
Current income tax charge (4.1) (0.6)
Deferred tax:
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 12 (0.1) (1.2)
Income tax expense reported in the Income Statement  (4.2) (1.8)

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax (2014: loss before tax) differs from the amounts that would arise using the standard rate of corporation 
tax in the UK. The differences are explained below:

 

Year ended
31 December

2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
(restated)

£m
Profit/(loss) before tax on continuing operations 30.5 (9.9)
Tax (charge)/credit at the UK corporation tax rate of 20.25% (2014: 21.5%) (6.2) 2.1

Effects of:
Adjustments in respect of foreign tax rates 1.9 0.6
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.2 (0.2)
Tax expense on reversal of impairment of investment (3.2) —
Unrecognised tax losses utilised 3.6 3.7
Movement in unrecognised losses and temporary differences — (7.9)
Withholding taxes (0.1) (0.1)
Adjustment to prior years (0.4) —
Effective tax expense (4.2) (1.8)

Total income tax expense in the year was £4.2 million (2014: £1.8 million).  This comprised a current income tax charge of £4.1 million (2014: £0.6 
million) and a deferred tax charge of £0.1 million (2014: £1.2 million) resulting in an effective taxation rate for the Group of 13.8 percent (2014: 
10.8 percent before exceptional items).

The increase in current income tax reflects higher pre-tax profits including the €10 million (£7.4 million) flutiform® sales milestone and the release 
of remaining Swiss foreign exchange reserves into the local Swiss GAAP income statement, and utilising final expiring tax losses that were 
previously available to offset trading profits. The deferred tax charge for 2015 was due to the utilisation of overseas tax losses and deferred tax 
movements explained in Note 12.
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11. Taxation continued
Following the expiry of the remaining relevant Swiss tax losses (that were available to offset taxable profits) from 1 January 2016 onwards, the 
rate of tax on Swiss profits is expected to be a low teens percentage depending on the mix of revenue streams. Income in the U.S. (principally 
in relation to EXPAREL®) was largely offset by tax losses and intercompany interest in 2015 and is expected to be taxed at a circa 30 percent 
effective rate in 2016 rising to circa 35 percent effective rate through 2017 as the interest deduction reduces. These rates are subject to any 
changes in tax legislation in the relevant jurisdictions.

The main UK corporation tax rate reduced from 21 percent to 20 percent effective from 1 April 2015. The Finance (No. 2) Act 2015, which 
provides for a reduction in the main rate of corporation tax from 20 percent to 19 percent effective from 1 April 2017 and a further reduction to 
18 percent effective from 1 April 2020, was enacted on 18 November 2015.

12. Deferred taxation
Restatement of 2014 comparative deferred taxation
The effects of the comparative restatement to deferred taxation as per Note 2.6 accounting policies are set out below: 

The impact to opening reserves as at 1 January 2014 is as follows:

Group 

1 January
2014

£m
Non-current deferred tax assets 1.0
Non-current deferred tax liabilities (4.4)
Decrease to opening reserves (3.4)

The impact to the 2014 income statement is as follows:

Group 

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Movement in deferred tax assets —
Increase in deferred tax liabilities (1.2)
Net expense (1.2)

The impact to the 2014 statement of comprehensive income is as follows:

Group 

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Increase in deferred tax assets 0.4
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities 0.3  
Exchange 0.2
Net income 0.9

All deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown as non-current in accordance with IAS 1.56. The cumulative net impact to 2014 closing reserves 
is a £3.7m decrease due to a movement in 2014 of £0.3m.

Under IAS 12 Income taxes, deferred tax is recognised in respect of taxable temporary differences arising between the tax written down value 
and the book value of certain assets and liabilities.  The Group has maintained different accounting treatments for certain items within the Group 
accounts compared with the local accounting policies applicable in the relevant jurisdiction of overseas subsidiaries. 

In particular, the temporary differences applicable to the Group, where deferred tax arises, include the following items:

•	 Swiss defined benefit pension scheme;

•	 Foreign exchange on realised and unrealised gains deferred under the Swiss Code of Obligations to the balance sheet;

•	 Employee share schemes; and

•	 Fair value adjustments on intellectual property.

As the requirements for the recognition of these balances have not changed since 1 January 2014, the Group has restated the 2014 comparative 
results and 2014 opening reserves for the recognition of these items. The adjustment to opening reserves as at 1 January 2014 was to recognise 
deferred tax assets of £1.0 million and deferred tax liabilities of £4.4 million resulting in an overall reduction in opening reserves of £3.4 million. 
Of this, £3.2 million arises upon long-term funding where the Group controls the reversal of temporary differences. 
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

12. Deferred taxation continued
The adjustment to the 31 December 2014 closing balance sheet was £3.7 million as a result of the previously unrecognised 2014 net movements 
of £0.3 million to the 2014 opening reserves entry. The net movements arose from a £1.2 million charge to the income statement being offset by 
an increase in other comprehensive income of £0.9 million.  The reconciliation of the resulting deferred tax asset and liabilities position between 
1 January 2015 and 31 December 2015 is presented within the tables below.

2015 Deferred taxation
The amounts of deferred tax related to overseas subsidiaries accounted for in the consolidated balance sheet comprise the following deferred 
tax assets:

Defined 
benefit 

pensions
£m

Tax 
losses

£m
Other

£m

Total 
assets

£m
At 1 January 2015 as restated 1.0 2.0 0.3 3.3
Recognised in the income statement — (1.5) (0.2) (1.7)
Recognised in other comprehensive income 0.1 — — 0.1
Exchange — 0.1 0.1 0.2
At 31 December 2015 1.1 0.6 0.2 1.9

The amounts of deferred tax related to overseas subsidiaries accounted for in the consolidated balance sheet comprise the following deferred 
tax liabilities:

Foreign 
exchange on 

long-term 
funding

£m

Assets 
held for 

sale
£m

Other 
foreign 

exchange
£m

Total 
liabilities

£m
At 1 January 2015 as restated (2.7) (0.3) (2.0) (5.0)
Recognised in the income statement — (0.2) 1.8 1.6
Recognised in other comprehensive income (0.3) — — (0.3)
Exchange (0.1) — — (0.1)
At 31 December 2015 (3.1) (0.5) (0.2) (3.8)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses and temporary differences to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through 
future taxable profits is considered probable. The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets on losses amounting to £142.0 million (2014: 
£168.9 million) and temporary differences of £5.0 million (2014: £3.9 million) as they are not available to be offset against future trading profits.

The expiry profile of the tax losses of the Group is estimated as follows:

 

Expiry 
2016 

£m

Expiry 
2017 

£m

Expiry 
2018 

£m

Expiry
 2019 

£m

Expiry
 2020 

£m

Expiry
 thereafter

 £m

Indefinite
 carry 

forward 
£m

Total 
£m

Tax losses 6.3 7.9 4.5 4.4 4.3 4.0 132.9 164.3

The majority of the losses presented above are not available to be offset against future taxable profits. The Company has tax losses included in 
the table above of £125.2 million which do not expire and may be available to offset future taxable profits.

13. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) amounted to 25.1 pence per share and diluted EPS 24.6 pence per share (2014 restated: 13.7 pence per share 
loss for basic and diluted EPS). For the year ended 31 December 2014 there were no differences between the basic and diluted loss per share 
amounts since the result was a loss and as a result, all potential shares from stock options, warrants and contingent issuance of shares were 
anti-dilutive.

As there were no exceptional items during the year, pre-exceptional basic and dilutive EPS amounted to basic EPS of 25.1 pence per share (2014 
restated: 17.5 pence per share) and diluted EPS of 24.6 pence per share (2014 restated: 17.1 pence per share).

As at 31 December 2015 there were 104,812,259 Ordinary Shares in issue (2014: 104,812,259). The Directors believe that the options in respect 
of the deferred consideration relating to the acquisition of Krypton in 1996 are unlikely to be exercised in the foreseeable future as the exercise 
price of £54.01 is very substantially above the prevailing market price of shares in Skyepharma PLC and the exercise price increases by 10 per 
cent per annum. These options are not considered dilutive. Therefore, the only possible dilutive factors are due to employee share schemes.
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13. Earnings per share continued

Earnings

Year ended
31 December

2015

£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
(restated)

£m
Attributable profit before exceptional items 26.3 14.9
Exceptional items — (26.6)
Profit/(loss) after tax 26.3 (11.7)

number of shares m m
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue 104.8 85.3
Potentially dilutive share options 2.2 —
Weighted average number of diluted Ordinary Shares 107.0 85.3
Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share Pence Pence
Basic earnings per Ordinary Share 25.1 (13.7)
Diluted earnings per Ordinary Share 24.6 (13.7)

Pre-exceptional earnings per share are as follows:
Year ended

31 December
2015

m

Year ended
31 December

2014
(restated)

m

Number of shares
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue 104.8 85.3
Potentially dilutive share options 2.2 1.6
Weighted average number of diluted Ordinary Shares 107.0 86.9

Pence Pence
Basic earnings per Ordinary Share 25.1 (17.5)
Diluted earnings per Ordinary Share 24.6 (17.1)

As at 31 December there were 2,940,822 nil cost option share awards that have been granted as share awards under the 2012 Long-Term 
Incentive Plan. The dilutive impact of potential employee share awards is calculated, in accordance with IAS 33 Earnings per share, as the 
number of Ordinary Shares that would theoretically vest if all performance periods had ended on 31 December 2015. On that basis 2,174,562 
shares would potentially vest and this would cause a dilution to Basic EPS of 0.5 pence.

14. Intangible assets

Group

Intellectual 
property 

£m

Software 
costs 

£m

Development 
costs 

£m

Assets under 
construction 

£m
Total 

£m
Cost
At 1 January 2014 41.3 1.1 0.7 0.8 43.9
Exchange* (6.1) (0.1) — (0.1) (6.3)
Additions — 0.2 — 1.7 1.9
At 31 December 2014* 35.2 1.2 0.7 2.4 39.5
Exchange 6.0 — — — 6.0
Additions — 0.5 — 0.7 1.2
At 31 December 2015 41.2 1.7 0.7 3.1 46.7

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2014 36.8 1.1 0.7 — 38.6
Exchange* (5.9) (0.1) — — (6.0)
Amortisation charge 0.8 — — — 0.8
At 31 December 2014* 31.7 1.0 0.7 — 33.4
Exchange 5.9 — — — 5.9
Amortisation charge 0.8 0.1 — — 0.9
At 31 December 2015 38.4 1.1 0.7 — 40.2

Net book value
At 31 December 2015 2.8 0.6 — 3.1 6.5
At 31 December 2014 3.5 0.2 — 2.4 6.1

* Restatement for the classification of exchange on intellectual property between cost and accumulated amortisation in 2014.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

14. Intangible assets continued
As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, all intellectual property with a material net book value is being used in launched products and 
is being amortised over the life of the relevant patent.

Assets under construction relate to development costs capitalised in accordance with the criteria in IAS 38 of £3.1 million (2014: £2.4 million). In 
2015, costs capitalised amounted to £0.7 million (2014: £1.7 million) relating to further development of the manufacturing process for flutiform®. 
Amortisation will begin once the development work is completed and the asset is ready for use.

Intangible assets with a net book value of £1.9 million (2014: £2.3 million) relate to Solaraze® and are being amortised over a 20-year period on 
a straight-line basis to 2021. Intangible assets with a net book value of £0.8 million (2014: £0.8 million) support flutiform® and the basis for their 
amortisation is licence expiry.

15. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Land and 
buildings 

£m

Laboratory and 
manufacturing 

£m

Office 
and other 

equipment 
£m

Assets under 
construction 

£m
Total 

£m
Cost
At 1 January 2014 39.9 63.2 2.2 — 105.3
Exchange (2.2) (3.0) (0.1) — (5.3)
Additions 0.2 0.8 0.1 — 1.1
Transfer to assets held for sale (7.4) (0.4) — — (7.8)
At 31 December 2014 30.5 60.6 2.2 — 93.3
Exchange (0.7) 1.2 0.1 0.1 0.7
Additions 0.1 0.2 0.1 4.1 4.5
Disposals — (0.1) — — (0.1)
At 31 December 2015 29.9 61.9 2.4 4.2 98.4

Depreciation
At 1 January 2014 25.0 49.8 2.0 — 76.8
Exchange (1.4) (2.4) (0.1) — (3.9)
Depreciation charge 0.7 1.8 0.1 — 2.6
Transfer to assets held for sale (3.7) (0.2) — — (3.9)
Disposals — 0.1 — — 0.1
At 31 December 2014 20.6 49.1 2.0 — 71.7
Exchange (0.8) 0.8 (0.1) — (0.1) 

Depreciation charge 0.7 1.1 0.1 — 1.9
Disposals — (0.1) — — (0.1)
Write-off — 0.1 — — 0.1
At 31 December 2015 20.5 51.0 2.0 — 73.5

Net book value
At 31 December 2015 9.4 10.9 0.4 4.2 24.9
At 31 December 2014 9.9 11.5 0.2 — 21.6

Included in land and buildings is an amount of £5.7 million (2014: £5.3 million) in respect of land which is not depreciated.

Included in the gross book value of laboratory and manufacturing equipment is £15.1 million (2014: £14.1 million) of assets related to the 
flutiform® supply chain. The difference is largely due to the strengthening of the Swiss Franc. As at 31 December 2015, the net book value of 
assets related to the flutiform® supply chain is £8.7 million (2014: £9.2 million).

Assets under construction relate to a project to add equipment to the flutiform® production line to increase capacity. Further information on 
contractual commitments are detailed in Note 30: Contingent liabilities and commitments.

At 31 December 2015, the net book value of the property, plant and equipment pledged as collateral in respect of mortgage borrowings 
(disclosed in Note 22: Borrowings) was £11.1 million (2014: £10.9 million). As at 31 December 2015, the net book value of property, plant and 
equipment did not include any material assets which were temporarily idle as at the balance sheet date.

The Company had total assets of £0.2m (2014: £0.2m) representing the net book value of leasehold improvement and office equipment at its 
registered office.
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16. Shares in and loans to Group undertakings (Company)

company

Shares 
in Group 

undertakings 
£m

Loans to 
Group 

undertakings 
£m

Total 
£m

At 1 January 2014 130.8 126.0 256.8
Exchange — 0.9 0.9
Additions 0.1 2.8 2.9
Payments — (4.5) (4.5)
At 31 December 2014 130.9 125.2 256.1
Exchange — 0.7 0.7
Additions (0.4) 6.3 5.9
Payments — (4.4) (4.4)
At 31 December 2015 130.5 127.8 258.3

Principal subsidiaries are detailed in Note 32. As at 31 December 2015, the net book value of loans from the Company to subsidiary undertakings 
include permanent and temporary loans repayable on demand. As at 31 December 2015, intercompany loans to the value of £17.7 million were 
interest-bearing (2014: £15.1 million). During the year, the Company recorded £2.4 million of interest income on such loans to Group undertakings 
(2014: £2.4 million).

17. Inventories

Group

as at
31 December

2015
£m

As at
31 December

2014
£m

Raw materials and consumables 6.1 4.0
Goods in transit 0.4 —
Work in progress 1.6 6.0
Finished goods 1.6 0.5
Less inventory provision (0.4) (0.1)
Total inventories 9.3 10.4

Finished goods at year-end include £0.5 million of products manufactured at the Lyon Facility. All other inventory relates to the flutiform®  
supply chain.

During 2015, certain inventory was written down to net realisable value resulting in a charge of £0.4 million (2014: £0.1 million) to cost of sales. 
A total of £37.7 million (2014: £23.7 million) was included in cost of sales with respect to inventory during the year.

18. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally due within 30 days. There is no material difference between the below amounts for 
trade and other receivables and their fair value.

 

Group
as at

31 December
2015

£m

Group
As at

31 December
2014

£m

company
as at

31 December
2015

£m

Company
As at

31 December
2014

£m
Trade receivables 7.6 6.2 — —
Less provision for impairment of receivables (0.5) — — —
Trade receivables — net 7.1 6.2 — —
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings — — 0.4 0.7
Other receivables 0.7 1.4 0.1 0.1
Prepayments and accrued income 7.1 7.0 0.1 0.2
Total trade and other receivables 14.9 14.6 0.6 1.0
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

18. Trade and other receivables continued
Whilst all trade receivables are considered fully recoverable, an impairment of £0.5m has been recognised in respect of one disputed balance that 
arose during the year (2014: nil). As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the aged analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Past due but not impaired Past due 
and

impaired
£mGroup

Total
 £m

net
 £m

not yet due 
£m

<30 days 
£m

30–60 days 
£m

60-90 days
 £m

90-120 days 
£m

>120 days 
£m

2015 7.6 7.1 6.4 0.7 — — — — 0.5
2014 6.2 6.2 4.7 1.2 0.2 — — 0.1 —

19. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the functional currency of the Company and Group subsidiaries or other currencies as shown 
below:

Group
as at

31 December
2015

£m

Group
As at

31 December
2014

£m

company
as at

31 December
2015

£m

Company
As at

31 December
2014

£m
Functional currency 19.4 13.4 7.9 7.4
Euro 8.8 9.5 0.2 0.9
US dollar 2.9 7.6 1.7 4.5
UK sterling 10.0 1.9 — —
Cash at bank and in hand 41.1 32.4 9.8 12.8

Cash and cash equivalents earn variable interest on daily bank deposits, liquidity funds and money market funds.

20. Non-current assets classified as held for sale
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had assets with a net book value of £4.1 million (2014: £3.9 million) classified as held for sale. This represents 
the same assets (a building and associated land, £3.9 million) and laboratory equipment (£0.2 million) which were put up for sale in January 
2011 and classified as held for sale at the end of 2014. During the course of 2015, a potential purchaser was found, and, as per Note 34: Post 
balance sheet events, an agreement for the sale of the assets was signed on 11 March 2016. Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion the 
assets should remain classified as held for sale. The change in fair value at 31 December 2015 is due to revaluing the Swiss Franc value of the 
assets to sterling.

21. Trade and other payables
Group

as at
31 December

2015
£m

Group
As at

31 December
2014

£m

company
as at

31 December
2015

£m

Company
As at

31 December
2014

£m
Trade payables 20.3 16.3 0.2 0.3
Other taxation and social security costs 1.7 1.5 0.1 0.2
Accruals 8.0 10.7 1.4 1.6
Total trade and other payables 30.0 28.5 1.7 2.1

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled in accordance with the terms and conditions agreed with suppliers, subject to 
satisfactory performance of the contracts. All trade payables are due within one year and therefore, there is no material difference between the 
above amounts for trade and other payables and their fair value.
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22. Borrowings
Total debt has decreased by £11.0 million (2014: £83.3 million decrease). This was due to the early repayment of the U.S. Dollar portion of the CRC finance 
facility and bank borrowings.

Interest 
rate 

%
Currency of 

denomination

as at
31 December

2015
£m

As at
31 December

2014
£m

Current
 Bank borrowings 6.5 Swiss Franc — 1.1
 Property mortgages (a) Swiss Franc 1.6 1.8
 CRC finance facility LIBOR + 9.93 U.S. Dollar — 2.7
Total current borrowings 1.6 5.6
Non-current
 Property mortgages (a) Swiss Franc 4.8 4.8
 CRC finance facility LIBOR + 9.93 U.S. Dollar — 7.0
Total non-current borrowings 4.8 11.8
Total borrowings 6.4 17.4

(a) Refer to the property mortgages section below for details on interest rates.

Bank borrowings
On 30 June 2015, the amortising loan with the Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank (“BLKB”) of CHF1.8 million (£1.3 million) was fully repaid ahead of the 
scheduled termination date of 30 June 2018.

Property mortgages
Property mortgages relate to two Swiss properties and are short-term roll-over three-year mortgages which are common place in Switzerland. The first 
mortgage of CHF 2.2 million (£1.5 million) is on the property that is not used by the Group and is currently disclosed as an asset held for sale with a carrying 
value of £4.1m. This mortgage had a floating interest rate (currently 4 percent) and will be fully repaid after completion of the sale on 11 March 2016. Refer to 
Note 34: Post balance sheet events.

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying value of the mortgage relating to the buildings which are in use by the business was £4.9m which bears interest which 
during the year was fixed at 3.6 percent per annum, of which £4.8 million is classified as non-current. On 29 February 2016, the mortgage was renewed on 
more favourable terms at a fixed interest rate of 2.6 percent with an expiry of 28 February 2019 and, therefore, the mortgage has been presented as a non-
current liability.

CRC finance facility
The facility was terminated in February 2015, following the repayment that month of the outstanding U.S. Dollar loan at a cost of £10.5 million, including 
accrued interest and make-whole payments. The Euro portion of the loan was repaid in October 2014 at a cost of £10.6 million. The key terms of the CRC 
finance facility are set out within the 2014 Annual Report and Accounts.

Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”)
In April 2015, Skyepharma signed a £25 million five-year unsecured multi-currency RCF with Barclays Bank PLC. There is an option to extend the facility up 
to £35 million during the five-year term which ends in March 2020. No funds have yet been drawn down from the facility. Debt issue costs of £0.7 million in 
2015 relating to the RCF have been capitalised as other financial assets. These are being amortised evenly to the income statement over the five-year term 
of the facility. A portion of these costs may be allocated to future draw downs in accordance with IAS 39 Financial instruments. As at 31 December 2015, the 
unamortised debt issue costs amounted to £0.5 million with £0.1 million classified as current.

The cost of borrowing under the RCF is 1.30 percent above the relevant LIBOR/EURIBOR reference rate. There are two financial covenants which will be 
tested at each reporting period if drawings are made in the previous six months against the facility.

Bonds
In April 2014, Skyepharma concluded the capital raise and bond repayment. As a result, the Group used the proceeds of the capital raise to repay its bond 
debt in full at a cost of £95.6 million. The accounting for the bond repayment resulted in the de-recognition of £60.8 million outstanding bonds. The bond 
repayment transaction costs of £0.4 million and the charge arising from the bond repayment of £25.1 million were recorded under Exceptional Items within 
the 2014 Income Statement as follows:

Exceptional financing cost

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Carrying amount of outstanding bonds as at 30 April 2014 70.5
Repayment of face value of outstanding 2024 Bonds (60.8)
Repayment of premium and accrued interest (34.8)
Total repayment 95.6
Exceptional non-cash finance cost (25.1)
Cash transaction costs of Bond repayment (0.4)
Total exceptional financing cost (25.5)

www.skyepharma.com

o
u

r Fin
a

n
cia

ls

107

Skyepharma AR 2015 - Financials PFP.indd   107 07/04/2016   08:28:36



24466.04 – 31 March 2016 11:14 AM – Proof 10

notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

23. Provisions

Restructuring
Employee 

benefits Property Total
As at 1 January 2014 — — 0.1 0.1
Provisions charged during the year 1.1 — 0.1 1.2
As at 31 December 2014 1.1 — 0.2 1.3

Amounts transferred from other liabilities — 0.4 — 0.4
Provisions charged during the year — 0.7 — 0.7
Provisions utilised during the year (0.5) — — (0.5)
Provisions released during the year (0.1) — (0.1) (0.2)
Foreign exchange movements (0.1) — — (0.1)
As at 31 December 2015 0.4 1.1 0.1 1.6

Current 0.4 1.0 — 1.4
Non-current — 0.1 0.1 0.2

Details of the costs provided for under the restructuring provision are set out in Note 9: Exceptional costs and are all presented as current as they 
are expected to be settled in the first half of 2016.

The employee benefits provision includes a liability to pay compensated absences following the end of the lease of the Lyon Facility and is 
presented as current as it is expected to be settled in August 2016. A provision for social security amounts payable on exercise of shares 
awarded under the 2012 LTIP scheme is also presented within employee benefit provisions. UK employers National Insurance and Swiss social 
charges are payable by the Group when a scheme participant exercises their share awards. This can occur at any point 7 years following the 
vesting date at the discretion of the participant. To the extent that a participant is able to exercise their awards within 12 months of the balance 
sheet date, then the social security provision is presented as a current liability.

Property provisions relate to property dilapidations at the Company’s registered office. The dilapidation provision is expected to crystalise in 2020 
when the associated property lease is scheduled to terminate.

The Company had provisions of £0.7m (2014: £0.1m) relating to national insurance on employee share schemes and property dilapidations of 
which £0.5m (2014: £nil) is presented within current liabilities and £0.2m (2014: £0.1m) in non-current liabilities.

24. Financial instruments
The Group’s financial assets are all classed as loans and receivables at 31 December 2015 and 2014. The Group’s financial liabilities are classed 
as measured at amortised cost at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

Except for the CRC financial liability at 31 December 2014, the carrying value of financial assets and liabilities approximate to their fair value. The 
CRC finance liability, with a carrying value of £9.7 million at 31 December 2014, was settled in the year with a £10.0 million repayment. The CRC 
finance liability was categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS13 during 2014. The fair value of the CRC finance liability 
at 31 December 2014 was £10.4m calculated using a discounted cash flow forecast. The interest rate used in the calculation was an estimate of 
the prevailing rate payable on an instrument with substantially the same terms and conditions as at 31 December 2014.

(a) Capital management
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, as disclosed in Note 22: Borrowings, Note 19: cash and cash equivalents and equity. Equity 
comprises issued share capital (Note 26), reserves and retained earnings. The Group seeks to manage its capital through an appropriate mix of 
these items. Subsidiary companies are funded by share capital, retained earnings and intra-Group lending.

Certain subsidiaries have capital maintenance obligations under local law and under their financing agreements. These are reviewed for 
compliance on a regular basis. The Directors believe that all requirements have been complied with during the years covered by these financial 
statements and to the date of finalising these financial statements.

(b) Financial risk management
The primary risks the Group is exposed to through its use of financial instruments are liquidity risk, market risk (foreign currency risk and interest 
rate risk) and credit risk.

Group treasury matters are controlled centrally under a treasury policy approved by the Board. Board authorisation is required for all significant 
agreements that may affect the Group risk structure. It is the Group’s policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due. The Group’s policy 
is to maintain continuity of funding through a mixture of long-term debt and bank loans, raised to cover specific requirements, and through the 
issue of shares where appropriate, to support the development of the Group’s business. Flexibility is provided through the use of overdrafts and 
an unsecured multi-currency revolving credit facility.
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24. Financial instruments continued
Responsibility for liquidity risk management ultimately lies with the Board. The Board aims to ensure that its liabilities will be covered by expected 
cash balances and cash inflows. The Board manages liquidity risk by maintaining cash balances on short term deposits to enable flexibility 
and monitoring of cash flow projections. Management reviews cash flow projections for the next 12-months on a monthly basis. Cash flow 
projections for a 24-month period are formally reviewed at least three times a year – during the annual budget process and when preparing the 
annual and half year accounts.

(d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates or interest rates, will affect the Group’s income or value of 
its investments.

Currency risk
The Group is subject to exposure on the translation of the net assets of foreign currency subsidiaries into its reporting currency. The Group’s 
primary balance sheet translation exposures are to the Swiss Franc, Euro and US Dollar. The Group aims to minimise balance sheet translation 
exposures, where it is practical to do so, by funding subsidiaries with long-term loans whereby the exchange differences are taken to reserves.

The Group faces currency exposures arising from the translation of profits earned in foreign currency. These exposures are not hedged.

Exposures also arise from foreign currency denominated trading transactions undertaken by subsidiaries. The Group’s policy is to manage this 
exposure through natural hedges in the form of offsetting inflows and outflows in the same foreign currency and maintaining borrowings and 
cash balances in the currency of forecast cash inflows and outflows. Where it has not been possible to use natural hedges, currency options and 
forward currency contracts may be used. No options or forward contracts have been entered into in 2015 (2014: none).

A 10 percent strengthening of the Euro, Sterling, US Dollar and Swiss Franc functional currencies within the Group against non-functional 
currencies would result in pre-tax profit being £0.2 million higher (2014: £0.5 million higher) and items recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income being £14.5 million higher (2014: £14.1 million higher). A 10 percent weakening would have an equal but opposite effect on pre-tax profit 
and other comprehensive income.

Interest rate risk
The Group borrows at fixed and floating rates of interest as deemed appropriate for its circumstances. As some borrowings and all deposits 
are at floating rates, the Group is exposed to interest rate risk. At 31 December 2015, 100 percent of the Group borrowings are at a fixed rate of 
interest or at a variable rate not based on fluctuations in underlying indices (2014: 44 percent).

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities is detailed in Note 22: Borrowings.

A 100 basis point increase in interest rates would result in pre-tax profit being £0.3 million higher (2014: £0.1 million lower). A 100 basis point 
decrease in interest rates, or less where applicable, would result in an equal but opposite effect. The effect of these interest rate changes on 
items recognised directly in other comprehensive income is immaterial in either year. This currently excludes the impact of  the Revolving Credit 
Facility as it is currently unutilised.

(e) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. 
The Group is exposed to credit risks primarily from its operating activities, including trade receivables and from its investing activities, including 
bank deposits.

The creditworthiness of customers is assessed by reference to publicly available information, or information provided by those customers. In 
view of the nature of the business, most customers are either large, profitable, pharmaceutical companies or relatively small, in some cases, 
special purpose vehicles, set up to develop defined products. Where such companies are not yet profitable, the creditworthiness depends on 
their liquid resources and availability of future finance. Such finance may not be readily available to those companies when required, but the 
Directors do not believe that this is a concern for current trade receivables.

Trade receivables are spread across a number of customers and the balances are monitored on a regular basis with a view to minimising the 
exposure to bad debts. The maximum exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in Note 18: Trade and other receivables.

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets in the Group, the maximum exposure is equal to the carrying value of the instrument. 
Funds are invested in institutions meeting the minimum criteria of a long term rating of at least single A by any of the two of the three rating 
agencies (Moodys, S&P and Fitch) and a short term rating of at least A1/P1/F1 by any two of the three rating agencies. Significant investments 
require Board approval before being authorised.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

25. Retirement benefit obligations
The liabilities in the Group balance sheet in respect of pensions and other retirement obligations are as follows:

as at
31 December

2015
£m

As at
31 December

2014
£m

Balance sheet obligations for:
Swiss pension defined benefits 5.3 4.9
French long-term employee benefits 1.1 1.0
Total retirement obligation 6.4 5.9

Defined contribution plans
The Group operates various defined contribution plans for its employees in the UK. The Group’s contributions to these plans are charged to the 
income statement in the year to which they relate, and the assets are held in separate trustee-administered funds. The income statement charge 
related to the defined contribution plans is disclosed in Note 8.

French retirement obligation
The Group provides for long-term employee benefits in respect of its former employees in France as they will transfer back to the Group on expiry 
of the lease arrangements with Aenova in 2016.

Effective from 1 July 2011, the Group entered into an alliance with Aenova (the “Alliance”), whereby Aenova agreed to lease the entire 
pharmaceutical manufacturing business and the premises in Lyon (the “Facility”) for an initial period of two years, extendible for a further three 
years. The leasing arrangements expire on 30 June 2016 and the operations are expected to transfer back to the Group on 1 July 2016.

During the lease period, Aenova is responsible for lump-sum payment obligations arising from the retirement of employees. Upon termination 
of the lease arrangements, the Facility would transfer back to the Group and the Group would resume responsibility for lump-sum payment 
obligations arising from the retirement of employees.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of these long-term employee benefits is accounted for as a one-off long-term service 
award payable upon retirement. The long-term employee benefit payable upon retirement is calculated annually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method. The present value of the long-term employee benefit is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid. Service 
costs are included in staff costs.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, an amount of £0.1m (2014: nil) has been charged to the Group’s income statement in respect of 
long-term employee benefits for the Facility. This is predominately because certain current service charges and actuarial losses were cancelled 
by curtailments associated with the French restructuring. The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income since the date of transition to IFRS is £0.6 million (2014: £0.5 million). The liability as at 31 December 2015 is £1.1 million 
(2014: £1.0 million).

Swiss defined benefit pension plan
The Group operates a pension scheme in respect of its employees in Switzerland. This scheme operates such that the employer and employee 
contribute on a monthly basis. This is designed to build a pension fund which will be used to determine a pension on retirement based on the 
conversion rate set by the pension regulator. As explained below, this pension scheme is accounted for as a defined benefit pension scheme as 
it meets the definition within IAS19 (revised).

The Group and employees also make additional contributions in respect of death or disability benefits. The pension scheme is regulated to 
require that the funds achieve a minimum investment return, established by the government on a yearly basis. The return is set each year by the 
Swiss government based on market conditions and taking into account the relatively conservative investment criteria which must be followed 
by the pension investment company. The primary obligation to ensure that each pension fund achieves at least the minimum return lies with the 
pension investment company: a company controlled by its member-employers and member-employees, which pools the funds across many 
employers and is able to smooth out any under-performance over a number of years. If the investment target is not met, the effect is usually 
assessed over a number of years.

If the deficit persists over this period or is substantial, it will first be met from past reserves (from years when the investment return has exceeded 
the minimum required). If a deficit remains, or is significant, members may agree (or be required by the regulator) to make a higher rate of future 
contribution in order to restore the investment funds to a fully funded level over a number of years. These additional contributions would be 
shared equally between the employer and the employee.

The employer and employee members are, therefore, exposed to the following risks:

i.  the risk that the minimum investment return is not met, and is not made up from past excess returns or future returns; and 

ii. the risks that the assets held by the pension fund are not sufficient to cover payments to pensioners, disability benefit and death-in-service 
benefit.
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25. Retirement benefit obligations continued
As these risks match the criteria for accounting for a scheme as a defined benefit scheme, the Swiss pension plan is accounted for in accordance 
with IAS 19 (Revised). The liability included in the balance sheet in respect of the Swiss pension plan is, therefore, the present value of the defined 
benefit obligations less the fair value of plan assets. Defined benefit obligations for the schemes are calculated annually by independent actuaries 
using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligations is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and 
that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability. Service costs are included in staff costs and charged to 
the income statement over the remaining average expected service lives of employees. They are set at a level designed to give a charge through 
the profit and loss account which is a level percentage of salaries. The average conversion rate will decrease over the next four years (until 2019) 
from 6.4 percent to 6.0 percent.

The Swiss Federal Law on Occupational Retirement, Survivors’ and Disability Pension Plans provides for minimum pension benefits and also 
a minimum amount for the savings contributions. The amount of contributions to be paid by the employer and employee is determined by the 
Board of Trustees or the pension fund commission. These can exceed the statutory minimum. The employer contribution must be at least as high 
as the employee contributions. These contributions are age dependent and based on the pensionable salary.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet for the Swiss scheme are as follows:

as at
31 December

2015
£m

As at
31 December

2014
£m

Present value of funded obligations 16.7 14.5
Fair value of plan assets (11.4) (9.6)
Balance sheet liability 5.3 4.9

The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

as at
31 December

2015
£m

As at
31 December

2014
£m

Beginning of the year 14.5 11.8
Exchange 0.6 (0.6)
Current service cost 0.9 0.6
Past service cost (plan modification) (0.6) —
Benefits paid and withdrawals 0.1 0.2
Interest on pension scheme liabilities 0.2 0.2
Actuarial loss/(gain) arising from plan experience — 0.4
Actuarial loss/(gain) arising from financial assumptions 0.5 1.6
Employee contributions 0.5 0.3
End of the year 16.7 14.5

The movement in the fair value of the plan assets over the year is as follows:

as at
31 December

2015
£m

As at
31 December

2014
£m

Beginning of the year 9.6 8.8
Exchange 0.4 (0.5)
Benefits paid and withdrawals 0.1 0.2
Actuarial gains recognised on plan assets 0.1 0.1
Employer contributions 0.6 0.5
Employee contributions 0.5 0.3
Interest on plan assets 0.1 0.2
End of the year 11.4 9.6
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

25. Retirement benefit obligations continued
Plan assets comprise:

£m

as at
31 December

2015 
% £m

As at
31 December

2014 
%

Equity 3.3 29% 3.0 31%
Bonds 5.2 46% 4.5 47%
Property 2.1 18% 1.8 19%
Other 0.8 7% 0.3 3%
Total plan assets 11.4 100% 9.6 100%

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m

Current service costs 0.8 0.6
Past service costs (plan modifications) (0.6) —
Net Interest 0.1 —
Total included in staff costs 0.3 0.6

A credit of £0.6 million was booked as a past service cost as the average conversion rate set by the Swiss pension regulator will decrease over 
the next four years to 2019 from 6.4 percent to 6.0 percent

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

Year ended
31 December

2015
£m

Year ended
31 December

2014
£m 

Actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income (0.5) (2.0)
Cumulative actuarial losses recognised within retained losses (6.8) (5.6)

At 31 December 2015 and 2014, actuarial valuations were performed by professionally qualified actuaries on the present value of the accrued 
liabilities calculated under the projected unit credit method. The principal assumptions made by the actuaries were:

2015 
% per annum

2014
 % per annum 

Inflation rate Nil Nil 
Rate of increase in salaries 2.0 2.0
Discount rate 0.9 1.0
Future pension increases 0.2 0.2

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice in accordance with published statistics and experience in Switzerland.

life expectancy at assumed retirement age
2015 
Years

2014 
Years 

Male 21.5 21.4
Female 25.0 24.9
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25. Retirement benefit obligations continued
Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 December 2016 are £1.1 million (2015: £0.8 million). The 
sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:

Change in 
assumption

Increase in 
assumption 

£m

Decrease in 
assumption 

£m
Discount rate +/– 0.25% (0.5) 0.5
Salary growth +/– 0.25% 0.1 (0.1)
Pension growth rate +/– 0.25% 0.3 (0.2)
Life expectancy +/– 1 year (0.2) 0.5

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in one assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is 
unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation 
to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit 
method at the end of the reporting year) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the balance sheet. The 
methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the previous year.

26. Share capital
ordinary shares Deferred ‘B’ shares Deferred ‘c’ shares

issued and fully paid number

nominal 
value 

£m number

nominal 
value 

£m number

nominal 
value 

£m

Total nominal 
value 

£m
As at 31 December 2015 104,812,259 104.8 12,000,000 1.2 7,334,899,200 73.3 179.4
As at 31 December 2014 104,812,259 104.8 12,000,000 1.2 7,334,899,200 73.3 179.4

Holdings by Trustees
The Skyepharma PLC Share Purchase Plan Trust supports the purchase of shares for the UK element of the Skyepharma PLC International Share 
Purchase Plan. The holding at 31 December 2015 was 59,983 shares (2014: 54,983 shares).

The General Employee Benefit Trust supports purchases of shares to satisfy the Company’s obligations to provide shares under any of its other 
share plans. The holding as at 31 December 2015 was 42,613 shares (2014: 33,385 shares).

Issue of Shares
On 29 April 2014, a total of 58,684,614 Ordinary Shares of £1 each were allotted under the Company’s Capital Raising, comprising a Firm Placing 
and Placing and Open Offer at an issue price of 191 pence per Ordinary Share, which raised a total of £104.2 million net of expenses.

Deferred ‘B’ Shares
In July 2000, 12 million Deferred ‘B’ Shares were issued to Dr. Gonella, the vendor of Jago, under a settlement agreement that established the 
full and final settlement of the deferred consideration payable on the acquisition of Jago. The holders of Deferred ‘B’ Shares have no rights to 
participate in the profits of the Company, no voting rights and, on a winding up or other return of capital, only receive the nominal value of their 
shares if the holders of Ordinary Shares in the Company have received the sum of £100 million per Ordinary Share.

The Deferred ‘B’ shares were transferred to the Company Secretary in 2006 for no consideration for him to hold as custodian and have no value.

Deferred ‘C’ Shares
In September 2008, 7,334,899,200 Deferred ‘C’ Shares were issued as part of a share capital reorganisation. The Deferred ‘C’ Shares created 
have no voting or dividend rights and on a return of capital, the right only to receive the amount paid up thereon after the holders of Ordinary 
Shares have received £1 million per Ordinary Share held. Subject to the terms of the following paragraph, the Deferred ‘C’ Shares are not 
transferable. The Deferred ‘C’ Shares are, therefore, of no value and all of the value that was attributed to the existing Ordinary Shares prior to 
the share capital reorganisation was attributed to the Ordinary Shares in issue following the implementation of the share capital reorganisation. 
The Company may repurchase all of the Deferred ‘C’ Shares without making any payment to the holders thereof. No application has been made 
for the Deferred ‘C’ Shares to be listed.

The rights of the Deferred ‘C’ Shares allow a reduction of capital which cancels the Deferred ‘C’ Shares for no consideration or a transfer of 
all the Deferred ‘C’ Shares to be executed by a person nominated by the Directors on behalf of the beneficial owners. The purpose of this is 
either to have the Deferred ‘C’ Shares owned by a single person who will assist the Company as necessary or to facilitate the purchase of such 
deferred shares by the Company. Accordingly, the Directors may nominate the Company Secretary as the person to execute a transfer of all of 
the Deferred ‘C’ Shares in due course.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

27. Reserves
Company
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies’ Act 2006, the income statement of the Company is not presented. The loss of the Company for 
the year ended 31 December 2015 was £1.1 million (2014: £29.5 million loss). The Directors do not propose a dividend (2014: nil) for the year.

Group
As set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the own share reserve represents shares held in trust to satisfy employee share 
schemes. In accordance with IFRS 10, the Group consolidates the Employee share trusts as it is deemed to control them despite not legally 
owning the Employee share trusts, this is because they could not operate without the funding that the Group provides.

Company and Group
The share based payment reserve represents cumulative charges to the income statement for share based payments from the grant date of 
awards to their vesting date. This reserve shows the grant date fair value of outstanding awards. Once an award vests it is transferred to equity.

Other Reserves
Other reserves in the Group and Company relate to the merger reserve that arose on the acquisition of Krypton in 1996. During the year, this 
reserve was released to retained earnings following a review of the balance sheet in light that the balances in Krypton were previously impaired. 
Given the previous impairment, the reserve is no longer required to be retained by the Companies Act. Accordingly, the balance of other reserves 
as at 31 December 2015 is £nil (2014: £9.0 million).

28. Share-based payments and share trusts
The Group operates various share-based compensation plans and further information is provided in the Remuneration Report. Share-based 
payments are solely made for the purposes of employee share compensation and are all settled for equity in Skyepharma PLC.

Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2012 LTIP”)
In accordance with IFRS 2, the annual charge based on grant date fair value recognised in the Group’s income statement during the year ended 
31 December 2015 for the LTIP 2012 plan is £0.9 million (2014: £0.5 million).

Transactions on the share plan for executives and senior management during the year were as follows:

Year ended
31 December

2015 
number of 

awards

Year ended
31 December

2014 
Number of 

awards 
Beginning of the year 2,456,532 1,758,592
Granted 484,290 697,940
End of the year 2,940,822 2,456,532

Awards were made during the year for legacy participants of the scheme on 31 March 2015 and for new joiners to the scheme on 27 August 
2015, 14 September 2015 and 12 October 2015 (when the participants joined the Company). The comparative share awards presented have 
been uplifted to reflect the theoretical ex-rights price adjustment that was made to the exiting 2012 LTIP scheme awards as as result of the 2014 
exceptional capital raise and bond repayment.

For those tranches of awards with a market based vesting performance criteria being Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) or Share Price, the grant 
date fair value is initially calculated using a bi-nominal stochastic valuation model and is then, in accordance with IFRS, not subsequently re-
measured for the value or number of shares that will potentially vest. Subsequent adjustment is only made if it becomes clear that a participant 
will not meet their service condition and will hence forfeit their awards.

For awards with a non-market based vesting performance criteria such as EBITDA or earnings per share (“EPS”) the grant date fair value is 
always assumed to be the share price on the grant date. At each reporting date adjustment is made for the expectation of how many shares will 
potentially vest with reference to the performance criteria. Subsequent adjustment is also made if it becomes clear that a participant will not meet 
their service condition and will hence forfeit their awards.
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28. Share-based payments and share trusts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the calculation of the grant date fair value of each market based award using a bi-nominal stochastic 
valuation techniques was as follows:

Year ended
31 December

2015

Year ended
31 December

2014
Number of shares granted 484,290 697,940
Average share price at grant date 322p 246p
Expected life (years) 3 years 3 years

Risk-free rate 0.54% 1.12%
Volatility 49.66% 68.75%
Dividend yield 0% 0%

The average share price at the grant date is the mid-market closing price as quoted on the London Stock Exchange. The expected life of 3 years 
is made with reference to the service condition associated to the performance period.

Risk free rate: Awards of nil cost options are not generally affected by the risk-free rate input, as no investment is required by participants 
and therefore no interest could be earned elsewhere. However, the risk-free rate is relevant for calculating the impact of share-price related 
performance conditions (i.e. the 50 percent of the awards subject to a TSR or share price performance condition). We have used the rate of 
interest obtainable on Government Securities (UK Gilts) as at the grant date with a maturity commensurate with the expected term of the award.

Volatility: Expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which a share price is expected to fluctuate during a period. Volatility is measured 
by calculating the standard deviation of the natural logarithm of share price movements. This is a standard approach to calculating volatility (for 
information, it is the methodology adopted by Bloomberg). Volatility has no impact on the core value of a nil cost option, as participants receive 
the full value of the share, which is not at risk of being out of the money, as the share price cannot fall below the exercise price. However, volatility 
is relevant in determining the discount factor in respect of the TSR or share price performance condition applying to 50 percent of the awards. 
This is because, the more volatile the share price the greater the chance of meeting the performance conditions in full, and therefore the greater 
the value.

Dividend yield: As dividends have not previously been paid by the Company and there is currently no intention to start doing so, the dividend 
yield at grant date is currently 0 percent.

For equity settled shares any difference to grant date fair value upon vesting is included in retained earnings. Any forfeiture of awards previously 
charged to the income statement are credited back to the income statement.

Summary of share scheme interests

As at 31 December 2015, the Directors held the following interests in share awards:

Grant date Award Performance period
Share price 

at grant

Face value 
of awards 

at grant 
date

At 31 
December 

2014

Awards 
exercised / 
released in 

the year

Awards 
granted in 

the year

At 31 
December 

2015
Peter Grant 21.12.12 LTIP 1.1.13 — 31.12.15 £0.70 £291,500 469,104 — — 469,104

8.11.13 LTIP 8.11.13 — 7.11.16 £1.08 £118,125 123,210 — — 123,210
31.3.14 LTIP 31.3.14 — 30.3.17 £1.91 £393,750 206,152 — — 206,152
25.3.15 LTIP 1.1.15 — 31.12.17 £3.2125 £339,998 — — 105,836 105,836
Monthly Share 

Purchase 
Plan 

Matching 
Awards

3 years from date 
of grant

Between 
£2.635 

and £4.00

3,913 2,617 — 1,879

Andrew 
Derodra

25.11.13 LTIP 1.1.13 – 31.12.15 
for EBITDA tranche

25.11.13—24.11.16 
for TSR tranche

£1.195 £239,000 225,299 — — 225,299

31.3.14 LTIP 31.3.14 — 31.3.17 £1.91 £199,750 104,581 — — 104,581
25.3.15 LTIP 1.1.15 — 31.12.17 £3.2125 £239,999 — — 74,708 74,708
Monthly 

(from 
31.9.14)

Share 
Purchase 

Plan 
Matching 

Awards

3 years from date 
of grant

Between 
£2.635 

and £4.00

178 — — 1,522

All LTIP options have been granted as ‘nil cost’ options with an expiry date on the 10th anniversary of grant.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Continued

28. Share-based payments and share trusts continued
Share incentive plan (“SIP”)
All employees are eligible to participate in the SIP whereby employees buy shares in the Company. These shares are called Partnership Shares 
and are held in trust on behalf of the employee. For every Partnership Share bought by the employee, the Group will give the employee one share 
free of charge (Matching Shares). The employees have to take their shares out of the plan on leaving the Company and will not be entitled to the 
Matching Shares if they leave within three years of buying the Partnership Shares.

For the purposes of IFRS 2, the fair value of these Matching Shares is determined as the grant date share price. The total IFRS 2 charge for 
the matching scheme was under £20,000 in both 2015 and 2014 and rounds down to zero in the accounts which are presented rounded to the 
nearest £0.1 million.

Share trusts
Skyepharma operates two share trusts. The own share reserve represents the weighted average cost of shares in Skyepharma PLC that are 
held by the employee share trusts for the purposes of fulfilling obligations in respect of the employee share plans. As of 31 December 2015, the 
employee share trusts held 102,596 shares in the Company at a weighted average cost of £0.1m and a market value of £0.4m. There is currently 
a shortfall in the share trust of 25,623 matching shares which will be settled on the later of 16 March 2016 or the Group being in an open period 
for allotting shares.

29. Operating leases
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group
as at

31 December
2015

£m

Group
As at

31 December
2014

£m

company
as at

31 December
2015

£m

Company
As at

31 December
2014

£m
Operating leases on land and buildings:
 Within one year 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2
 In two to five years inclusive 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7
 Greater than five years — 0.2 — 0.2
Total commitments 0.9 1.1 0.9 1.1

Operating leases primarily relate to property leases for the Company’s registered office expiring in 2020. During the year ended 31 December 
2015, the Group and the Company recognised an operating lease expense of £0.2 million (2014: £0.2 million) in its respective income statement.

30. Contingent liabilities and commitments
The Group has committed to fund or partially fund certain clinical trials on behalf of its partners under development and licensing agreements. 
The Group has committed to make certain payments to a development partner contingent upon future events such as sales milestones and 
royalties received and reimbursed from amounts receivable from the partner. 

The Group is contractually committed to capital expenditure of £7.3 million, of which £4.2 million has been incurred to 31 December 2015 to 
increase manufacturing capacity for flutiform®.

Skyepharma PLC provides multiple parent Company guarantees to the partners of Jagotec AG the Group’s main trading subsidiary. Typically, these 
guarantees indemnify the partner against losses were Jagotec AG to fail in satisfying its obligations to them. As at 31 December 2015 £nil (2014: £nil) 
was provided in the financial statements with respect of these parent Company guarantees as the potential liability is considered remote.

The Group is involved in various ongoing legal proceedings surrounding challenges to its patents and intellectual property which are likely to 
incur costs. If significant activity is required, the costs of such action may be substantial. Where the Group is able to reliably estimate the financial 
effect that will be incurred on such proceedings a provision will be made in accordance with the accounting policy for provisions.

31. Related party transactions
Group
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation. In 2014, a 
significant intercompany balance between the parent company and one of its subsidiaries was eliminated through the bond repayment in April 2014.

Refer to Note 8: Staff costs and Directors’ emoluments for disclosures in respect of key management personnel of the Company.

Company
The Company has issued share options to employees of subsidiary undertakings and in accordance with IFRS 2 made a charge of £0.9 million 
(2014: £0.3 million).

The Company has charged £2.4 million (2014: £1.8 million) to its subsidiary undertakings and the Company was charged £0.1 million (2014: 
£0.1 million) for IT services by a subsidiary.

The Company has intercompany loans and accounts with its subsidiary undertakings; details can be found in Note 16: Shares in and loans to 
Group undertakings, Note 18: Trade and other receivables and Note 21: Trade and other payables. Current intercompany balances are normally 
settled on a monthly basis, including any interest on non-current intercompany loans.
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32. Principal subsidiaries

Company
Country of 

incorporation

Per cent held of 
nominal value 

and voting rights Principal activities
Jagotec AG Switzerland 100% Exploitation of intellectual property
Skyepharma AG Switzerland 100% Research and development
Skyepharma Production SAS1 France 100% Rental of pharmaceuticals manufacturing business and 

facility
Skyepharma (Jersey) Limited1 Jersey 100% Non—trading company
Skyepharma US Inc United States 100% Non—trading company
Jago Holding AG Switzerland 100% Holding company
Skyepharma Holding AG1 Switzerland 100% Holding company
Skyepharma Holding Inc1 United States 100% Holding company and receipt of proceeds from Pacira

1 Directly held by the Company

33. Dormant subsidiaries

Company
Country of 

incorporation

Per cent held of
 nominal value 

and voting rights Principal activities
Krypton Limited1 Gibraltar 100% Dormant
Bolag nr 16 i Malmö AB Sweden 100% Dormant
Skyepharma Management AG Switzerland 100% Dormant
Sun Wharf (Stratford) Limited1 United Kingdom 100% Dormant
Vine (Building Maintenance) Limited1 United Kingdom 100% Dormant
Vine Industries Limited1 United Kingdom 100% Dormant
Vinestand Limited1 United Kingdom 100% Dormant
Genta Jago Technologies B.V. Netherlands 50% Dormant
Big Ben Scaffolding Limited1 United Kingdom 100% Dormant
Vine Exhibition Limited1 United Kingdom 100% Dormant
Vine Northern Limited1 United Kingdom 100% Dormant
Playscheme Limited1 United Kingdom 100% Dormant

1 Directly held by the Company

34. Post balance sheet events
Mortgage renewal
On 29 February 2016, the mortgage for the Group’s Research and Development facility was renewed on more favourable terms at a fixed interest 
rate of 2.6 percent with an expiry of 28 February 2019.

Sale of surplus facility
On 11 March 2016, an agreement was signed to sell the surplus facility in Muttenz, Switzerland, for CHF 9.8 million (£6.9 million) of which CHF 
3.3 million (£2.3 million) is pending removal of historic Swiss Land Registry charges expected to be achieved in the third quarter of 2016. Net 
proceeds will be CHF 6.9 million (£4.8 million) after repayment of the associated mortgage and selling costs amounting to CHF 2.9 million (£2.1 
million). 

As a condition of the sale, the Group has leased a floor in the facility for a period of 9 years, with a right to sub-lease.  As the Group has no 
intention to use the facility, a provision has been made for the cost of this lease.   After allowing for this provision, the Group will record an 
exceptional profit on sale of CHF 1.3 million (£0.9 million) in 2016. The associated mortgage on this property will be repaid 5 days after the initial 
sale proceeds are received.
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shareholder information

Annual General Meeting
To be held at 10:30 on 18 May 2016 at: 

FTI Consulting 
200 Aldersgate 
Aldersgate Street
London
EC1A 4HD

Shareholder enquiries
If you have any questions about your shareholding or wish to notify any 
change in your details please contact the Share Registrar, Capita Asset 
Services (see contact details on following page). Whenever you contact 
the Registrar please quote the full names in which your shares are held. 
Please advise the Registrar promptly of any change of address.

Secretary and registered office
J Murphy
Skyepharma PLC
46-48 Grosvenor Gardens
London
SW1W 0EB

Telephone: 020 7881 0524
Facsimile: 020 7881 1199
Email: ir@skyepharma.com
Website: www.skyepharma.com
Registered in England and Wales. Registered No. 107582

Electronic communications
Shareholders can elect to obtain shareholder documents such as 
Annual and Half-Yearly Reports and Notice of Meetings electronically 
from Skyepharma’s website rather than by post. To take advantage of 
this free service, connect to Capita Asset Services’ secure Share Portal 
website and follow the on-screen instructions to register. Shareholders 
can also send in votes for general meetings electronically via Capita’s 
Share Portal website by following the instructions for eProxy Voting to 
submit your vote online.

Beware of share fraud
Fraudsters use persuasive and high-pressure tactics to lure investors into scams.

They may offer to sell shares that turn out to be worthless or non-existent, or to buy shares at an inflated price in return for an upfront payment.

While high profits are promised, if you buy or sell shares in this way you will probably lose your money.

How to avoid share fraud
1. Keep in mind that firms authorised by the FCA are unlikely to contact you out of the blue with an offer to buy or sell shares.

2. Do not get into a conversation, note the name of the person and firm contacting you and then end the call.

3. Check the Financial Services Register from www.fca.org.uk to see if the person and firm contacting you is authorised by the FCA.

4. Beware of fraudsters claiming to be from an authorised firm, copying its website or giving you false contact details.

5. Use the firm’s contact details listed on the Register if you want to call it back.

6. Call the FCA on 0800 111 6768 if the firm does not have contact details on the Register or you are told they are out of date.

7. Search the list of unauthorised firms to avoid at www.fca.org.uk/scams.

8. Consider that if you buy or sell shares from an unauthorised firm you will not have access to the Financial Ombudsman Service or Financial 
Services Compensation Scheme.

9. Think about getting independent financial and professional advice before you hand over any money.

10. Remember: if it sounds too good to be true, it probably is!

5,000 people contact the Financial Conduct Authority about share fraud each year, with victims losing an average of £20,000

Report a scam 
If you are approached by fraudsters, please tell the FCA using the share fraud reporting form at www.fca.org.uk/scams, where you can find 
out more about investment scams.

You can also call the FCA Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 6768.

If you have already paid money to share fraudsters, you should contact Action Fraud on 0300 123 2040.
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advisers

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
Apex Plaza
Reading
RG1 1YE

Solicitors
Clifford Chance LLP
10 Upper Bank Street
London
E14 5JJ

Pinsent Masons LLP
30 Crown Place
Earl Street
London
EC2A 4ES

Corporate broker
N+1 Singer Advisory LLP
One Bartholomew Lane
London
EC2N 2AX

Financial advisers
N+1 Singer Advisory LLP
One Bartholomew Lane
London
EC2N 2AX

Bankers
HSBC Bank PLC
10 Pall Mall
London
SW1 5EZ

ADR depository
Bank of New York Mellon
101 Barclay Street 22W
New York NY 10286
USA

Registrars
Capita Asset Services
The Registry
Beckenham Road
Beckenham
Kent
BR3 4TU

Telephone: 0871 664 0300
(Calls cost 12 pence per minute plus your phone company’s access charge)
(from outside the UK: +44 (0) 20 8639 3399. Calls outside the United Kingdom 
will be charged at the applicable international rate)

Lines are open Monday – Friday 8:30 am – 5:30 pm
Facsimile: +44 (0) 20 8639 2220
ssd@capita.co.uk
Website: www.capitaassetservices.com
Capita Share Portal: www.capitashareportal.com
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